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Project Administration Manual Purpose and Process 
 

1. The project administration manual (PAM) describes the essential administrative and 
management requirements to implement the project on time, within budget, and in accordance 
with the policies and procedures of the government and Asian Development Bank (ADB). The 
PAM should include references to all available templates and instructions either through linkages 
to relevant URLs or directly incorporated in the PAM. 
 

2. The Ministries of Health in Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu are wholly responsible for the 
implementation of the ADB-financed project, as agreed jointly between the executing agencies 
(Ministries of Finance) and ADB, and in accordance with the policies and procedures of the 
government and ADB. ADB staff are responsible for supporting implementation including 
compliance by the Ministries of Health in Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu of their obligations 
and responsibilities for project implementation in accordance with ADB’s policies and 
procedures. 
 

3. At grant/ loan negotiations, the executing agencies and ADB shall agree to the PAM and ensure 
consistency with the grant/loan agreements. Such agreement shall be reflected in the minutes 
of the grant/loan negotiations. In the event of any discrepancy or contradiction between the PAM 
and the gran/loan agreements, the provisions of the grant/loan agreements shall prevail. 
 

4. After ADB Board approval of the project's report and recommendations of the President (RRP), 
changes in implementation arrangements are subject to agreement and approval pursuant to 
relevant government and ADB administrative procedures (including the Project Administration 
Instructions) and upon such approval, they will be subsequently incorporated in the PAM. 

 



 

 

I.  PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

A. Summary of Project Rationale, Location, and Beneficiaries 
 
1. Global context. Global Health 2035: The Grand Convergence in Public Health aims to 
eliminate global disparities in infectious, child and maternal mortality rates.1 Vaccines remain one 
of the most cost-effective means to improve public health and a number of infectious diseases 
causing the greatest socio-economic burden to developing countries are vaccine preventable. 
The World Health Organization (WHO) has recommended vaccines to prevent cervical cancer 
caused by human papillomavirus (HPV) with HPV vaccine, pneumonia caused by the 
pneumococcal bacteria with the Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccine (PCV), and diarrhea caused 
by rotavirus (RV) with the RV vaccine. Not all recommended vaccines have been introduced 
across the Pacific region due to (i) a lack of epidemiological evidence to support introduction, (ii) 
competing national or regional priorities, (iii) limited national and sub-national implementation 
capacity, including health system concerns such as lack of cold chain infrastructure and trained 
vaccinators, and (iv) limited financial resources or external support for new vaccine introduction.2 
Strong immunization programs can serve as an entry point to deliver other essential health care 
interventions through integrated public health services, and align development investments 
towards universal health coverage and the Sustainable Development Goal 3.3 Across the Pacific 
region, immunization is regarded as a regional public health good and therefore low immunization 
coverages poses a potential regional health security threat.4  
 
2. Health burden. Globally, pneumonia and diarrhea are among the top three causes for 
mortality in children under five years of age, and about one-third of all pneumonia deaths are due 
to the pneumococcus bacteria, which is usually transmitted through contact with infected 
children.5 Effective prevention and treatment interventions include vaccines, antibiotics and oral 
rehydration solution.6 Between 21% to 58% of all global hospitalized diarrhea in children is due 
to RV infection.7 Cervical cancer has been identified by the Pacific Leaders as one of the top three 
regional priorities in the recent Pacific Islands Forum, due to the high burden of cervical cancer. 
Each year, there are an estimated 1,257 cervical cancer cases and up to 706 deaths across the 
Pacific region.8  Approximately 70% of all cervical cancer cases are caused by the sexually 
transmitted HPV types 16 and 18, both of which can be prevented by HPV vaccines.9  

 

                                                
1  Jamison DT, Summers LH, Alleyne G, Arrow KJ, Berkley S, Binagwaho A, et al. Global Health 2035: A World 

Converging Within a Generation. The Lancet 2013;382(9908):1898–955. 
2  Australian Department of Foreign Affiairs and Trade and the World Bank. 2017. Building Strong, Sustainable 

Immunization Programs in East Asia and the Pacific. http://dfat.gov.au/about-us/publications/Documents/building-
strong-sustainable-immunization-programs-east-asia-pacific.pdf.  

3   UHC is about progressively reducing both the ill-health burden and some of the economic burden of disease people 
face at the time of seeking care.  

4   S. Tyson and J. Clements. 2016. Strengthening Development Partner Support to Immunization Programs in the 
Pacific: Strategic Review. 

5   I. Rudan et al. 2008. Epidemiology and Etiology of Childhood Pneumonia. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 

86, no. 5: 408–16; Institute for Health Metrics. 2015. Global Burden of Disease Country estimates. Seattle.   
6   World Health Organization/United Nations Children’s Fund (UNICEF). 2013. End Preventable Deaths: Global Action 

Plan for Prevention and Control of Pneumonia and Diarrhoea. 
7   A. Jenney et al. 2009. The Burden of Hospitalised Rotavirus Infections in Fiji. Vaccine 27, no. SUPPL.: 108–11 

and World Health Organization. 2013. Child Rotavirus Deaths by Country 2000-2013. 
http://www.who.int/entity/immunization/monitoring_surveillance/rotavirus_deaths_by_country_2000-2013.xlsx 

8   L. Bruni et al. 2017. Human Papillomavirus and Related Diseases Report: World. Barcelona.  
9   World Health Organization. 2007. World Health Organization Review of Human papillomavirus and HPV vaccines. 

 

http://dfat.gov.au/about-us/publications/Documents/building-strong-sustainable-immunisation-programs-east-asia-pacific.pdf
http://dfat.gov.au/about-us/publications/Documents/building-strong-sustainable-immunisation-programs-east-asia-pacific.pdf
http://www.who.int/entity/immunization/monitoring_surveillance/rotavirus_deaths_by_country_2000-2013.xlsx
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3. Immunization systems. Routine immunization coverage across selected Pacific 
countries including Cook Islands, Fiji, Samoa, Solomon Islands and Tonga is reported by 
governments to be relatively high with coverage rates of 90-95%. 10  The weighted regional 
average for the third dose of Diphtheria Tetanus Pertussis containing vaccine (DTP3) is around 
87%, which is slightly higher than the global coverage of 86% (2016 data).11  Coverage estimates 
however are highly variable due to issues related to completeness of data and lack of certainty 
regarding the target population. Attaining high immunization coverage relies on access to health 
services, effective program management, regular outreach activities, and high vaccine 
acceptance from communities. Maintaining and upgrading cold chain systems with appropriate 
capacity, improved technology against freezing and power outages, and adequate maintenance 
and repair is important to ensure an effective supply chain to provide quality vaccination services. 
Community mobilization and the provision of outreach services are challenging due to (i) lack of 
awareness and demand, (ii) vaccine safety concerns, (iii) human resource constraints, and (iv) 
lack of transport in remote and outer island populations.12 Insufficient microplanning at the facility 
levels may also hinder outreach immunization activities. Low immunization coverage, combined 
with high inequities, poses a region risk of outbreaks for vaccine preventable diseases.  
 
4. New vaccines. WHO and the United Nations Children’s Fund (UNICEF) recommend that 
the introduction of PCV and RV vaccine should be incorporated with a broader package of 
promotion, prevention and treatment of pneumonia and diarrhea as per the Global Action Plan to 
Prevent Pneumonia and Diarrhea.13 Cervical cancer screening and treatment is recommended to 
be introduced in the context of HPV vaccine introduction. HPV vaccine, PCV and RV vaccine are 
referred to as ‘new’ vaccines due to their relative recent pre-qualification status and global 
introduction to routine immunization schedules. Other new vaccines include the pentavalent 
vaccine DTP-Hib-Heb (Penta), inactivated polio vaccine (IPV), and Japanese encephalitis 
vaccine (JE). HPV vaccine, PCV and RV vaccine are substantially more expensive than other 
traditional vaccines, such as measles, Bacillus Calmette–Guérin (against tuberculosis), oral 
poliovirus, diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis, hepatitis B and Haemophilus influenzae type b (Hib) 
vaccines. 
 
5. Tightening fiscal space for health. With rising health care costs due to the increasing 
burden of non-communicable diseases and associated requirement for chronic disease 
management (including obesity, diabetes, and heart disease) across Pacific countries, health care 
budgets are restricted in their ability to introduce new technologies including vaccines. Additional 
factors contributing to increased health sector costs include an over reliance on tertiary health 
care (instead of primary and preventative health care) which consumes an increasingly 
unsustainable portion of national health budgets. With small population sizes, Pacific countries 
are unable to provide the full range of treatment services available in larger countries and lack 
medical specialists,  sometimes resulting in costly overseas medical treatment. These can lead 
to high out-of-pocket health expenditures for families putting them at greater risk of poverty (see 
Appendix 1 for more details on health systems in Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu).  
 

                                                
10  World Health Organization. 2018. WHO Vaccine-Preventable Diseases: Monitoring System. 2017 Global Summary. 

Available at: http://apps.who.int/immunization_monitoring/globalsummary 
11  World Health Organization. 2018. WHO Vaccine-Preventable Diseases: Monitoring System. 2017 Global Summary. 

Available at: http://apps.who.int/immunization_monitoring/globalsummary 
12  Heads of Heath Meeting. 2017. Rarotonga, Cook Islands. 
13  World Health Organization/United Nations Children’s Fund (UNICEF). 2013. End Preventable Deaths: Global Action 

Plan for Prevention and Control of Pneumonia and Diarrhoea. 
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6. Regional new vaccines project. The project adopts a regional approach in strengthening 
the health systems and immunization programs of four Pacific countries: Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu 
and Vanuatu (the countries) to support them introduce three new vaccines. As the countries are 
middle-income countries, they are unable to access global vaccine support through agencies such 
as Gavi.14 Without additional financial support, the introduction of PCV, RV and HPV vaccines 
would be challenging due to (i) the additional cost associated with vaccine introduction, (ii) the 
relatively high price of vaccines, and (iii) the capacity upgrades required of the health system to 
introduce the vaccines and achieve adequate coverage. The project beneficiaries will be all 
children under the age of five years old, and adolescent girls between 9 – 14 years old. Details of 
the four country health sector assessments are found in the list of Linked Documents, Appendix 
2 of the Report and Recommendation of the President to the Board of Directors (RRP). 

 
7. Project design features. Vaccine introduction requires a longer-term engagement, 
strong system strengthening, skills transfer, support for health sector public financial 
management, and system integration to ensure sustainability of the program. The project is 
designed based on: i) the existing epidemiological and health economic evidence justifying the 
need for new vaccine introduction, ii) the evidence of impact of Pacific new vaccine 
implementation models from Fiji and Kiribati, iii) the harmonization and integration of new 
vaccines into routine immunization schedules with other child and adolescent health activities with 
existing development partners and iv) to support capacity building, health systems strengthening, 
and other activities to ensure sustainability beyond the life of the project. This will include 
strengthening existing immunization systems, updating national immunization and cold-chain 
policies, upgrading the cold chain equipment and supply chain, improving the management of the 
immunization reporting system; and integrating other essential health system strengthening 
activities to reduce pneumococcal, RV and HPV infections. The introduction of new vaccines will 
support the move towards universal health coverage, reducing both national and regional disease 
burden, building resilience in the health system in a high risk and disaster-prone region, and 
leverage one of public health ‘best buys’ for the health security in the region.  
 
8. The project will be financed by the Asian Development Fund (ADF) and the ADF regional 
health security (RHS) grant. It supports the midterm review of Strategy 2020 of the ADB which 
recommends expanding operations in the health sector to 3-5% of ADB’s annual approvals.15 The 
project will leverage ADB’s experience in health systems strengthening in the Pacific gained 
through the rural health service delivery project in Papua New Guinea and more recently, ADB 
support in Tonga, Samoa  and Vanuatu to strengthen digital health information systems.16 The 
objective of the RHS grant is to support ADB developing member countries to strengthen their 
health sector budgets, sustain and improve programs related to health security such as on 
vaccine-preventable and other infectious diseases. A core component for public health security 
as outlined by the Asia Pacific Strategy for Emerging Diseases (APSED III) includes strengthened 
immunization programs.  
 
9. Regional health security and vaccines. Pacific countries support a broader approach 
to regionalism as identified in the Pacific Plan, which aims to strengthen regional cooperation and 
integration to stimulate economic growth, sustainable development, good governance and 

                                                
14   Gavi eligible countries are those with a Gross National Income per capita below or equal to $1,580 
15  ADB. 2014. Midterm Review of Strategy 2020: Meeting the Challenges of a Transforming Asia and Pacific. Manila. 
16  ADB. 2015. Report and Recommendation of the President. Samoa Submarine Cable Project. Manila. ADB. 2016. 

TA 8540-REG: Pacific Information and Communication Technology (ICT) Investment Planning and Capacity 
Development Facility. Manila. 
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security for the region.17 The project will support Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu overcome 
limited individual purchasing power, due to their relatively small population sizes and constrained 
procurement capacity by supporting pooled procurement through the established UNICEF 
vaccine independence initiative (VII) and investing in building national procurement capacity. VII 
facilitates countries to finance their own vaccines and associated immunization supplies by 
offering purchasing power, flexible financing, regional buffer stocks, and quality assured products. 
Key features include (i) operational and financial planning of procurement through annual 
forecasting processes; (ii) pooled procurement though UNICEF’s Supply Division; (iii) bridge-
financing through a credit line provided through UNICEF which requires payment within 90 days 
after the receipt of final invoice. The VII buffer stock is considered best practice and demonstrates 
Pacific regionalism, country cooperation and emergency resilience principles and ownership by 
countries. Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu are four of the 13 Pacific countries procuring 
vaccines through VII and this mechanism plays a key role for vaccine and health security in the 
region. Proposed ADB support to countries to procure through VII is outlined in Figure 1. 
 

Figure 1: Project Support to countries through VII 

 
ADB= Asian Development Bank; VII = Vaccines independence initiative; UNICEF = United Nations Children’s Fund 
Source: ADB 
 

10. UNICEF and WHO are supporting immunization systems strengthening programs across 
the Pacific region. Other development partners supporting the health sector in the Pacific region 
include the Australian Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT), the United Nations 
Population Fund (UNFPA), the Government of United States, the Chinese Government, and the 
Global Fund against HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria and the World Bank (WB). Gavi, 
supports Papua New Guinea and Solomon Islands in the Pacific with the introduction of measles 
vaccine, PCV and RV vaccines. DFAT supported Fiji to introduce HPV vaccine, PCV and RV 
vaccine using a co-financing model from 2012 to 2015. UNICEF and WHO have supported RV 
vaccine and PCV introductions in Kiribati. In Solomon Islands, Program for Appropriate 

                                                
17  Pacific Islands Forum Secretariat. 2007. The Pacific Plan: For Strengthening Regional Cooperation and Integration. 

http://www.forumsec.org/pages.cfm/about-us/the-pacific-plan/ 
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Technology in Health (PATH) is supporting the introduction of JE vaccines. Through UNICEF a 
long-term immunization expert has been based  in the Vanuatu and  supported the Department 
of Health to increase DPT3 coverage from 55% in 2012 to 81% in 2016. 18  Details of the 
development partner investments in Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu can be found in the 
Linked Documents, Appendix 2 of the RRP.  
 
B. Impact and Outcome 
 
11. The project impacts will be to (i) contribute to the Sustainable Development Goal 3, to 
ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages and (ii) reduce the incidence and 
prevalence of cervical cancer in the Pacific region.19 The project will also contribute to Sustainable 
Development Goal 5 on gender equality and women’s empowerment through improving sexual 
and reproductive health in both males and females. The outcomes will be the effective coverage 
of the new vaccines (HPV, PCV and RV) to a 90% coverage – aligning with the WHO Global 
Vaccine Action Plan.20  
 
12. Expected benefits include decreased incidence of pneumococcal disease and severe 
diarrhoea caused by rotavirus amongst children, decreased incidence of human papillomavirus 
infections and improved protection against cervical cancer amongst women and girls.  The project 
is expected to contribute to increased efficiency and productivity from (i) reduced incidence and 
severity of illnesses resulting in fewer lost days of work or school days, (ii) reduced morbidity and 
mortality, particularly in children and economically productive women, (iii) fewer work days lost to 
caring for sick relatives, (iv) household savings arising from reduced hospital admissions and (v) 
reduced requirement for referrals for overseas treatment. Further project benefits are establishing 
herd immunity resulting from increased immunization rates among communities. Unquantified 
benefits include consumption and utility gains derived by individuals from feeling healthier, 
psychological benefits of not having a sick family member to care for, and government resource 
savings with reduced burden of vaccine preventable disease, allowing improved resource 
allocation for more efficient and effective delivery of health care services.  
 
C. Outputs    
 
13. The project has three outputs. 
 
14. Output 1: Regional vaccine procurement strengthened. This output will support 
Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu to procure HPV vaccine, PCV and RV vaccine through the 
VII. Across the project duration of five years, a phased counterpart financing approach starting in 
year two will be implemented with the governments to ensure sustainability beyond the project. 
The project will finance the countries VII credit-line in year one where required. In Tonga the 
project will also finance from year two the measles, mumps and rubella vaccine using a phased 
counterpart financing, replacing the current measles and rubella vaccine.21 The output will also 
support the procurement of WHO and UNICEF Performance, Quality and Safety certified cold 
chain equipment and associated supplies through VII. The output will support microplanning and 
procurement forecasting for all vaccines including emergency preparedness planning to ensure 
a buffer stock is maintained at both regional and national levels. This will enable rapid 

                                                
18  Government of Vanuatu, Ministry of Health. 2014. Vanuatu Demographic and Health Survey 2013; World Health 

Organization. 2016. Regional Office for the Western Pacific Mission Report: Expanded Program on Immunization.  
19  Healthy Islands Monitoring Framework. (Draft). 2016. Heads of Health Meeting. Suva, Fiji. 
20 WHO. 2013. Global Vaccine Action Plan 2011-2020. Geneva.  
21   A request from Tonga in May 2018 following a mumps outbreak in 2017. This represents less than 4% of Tonga’s 

vaccine expenditure under the project.  
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responsiveness to outbreaks and will also compensate for wastages during new vaccine 
introduction. Procurement capacity building will contribute to the overall procurement planning 
and process for health commodities. 
 
15. Output 2: Health systems strengthened. This output will use the introduction of 
vaccines to strengthen primary health care and address inequities in access to health services. It 
will support i) updating immunization and cold chain policies, guidelines, and training materials 
and reporting; (ii) training health workers through workshops and on-the-job training in vaccine 
administration, routine and adverse event reporting, cold chain and waste management, 
preventative maintenance and supportive supervision and, where opportunities exist, better align 
cold chain within supply chains for primary health care commodities; (iii) building the capacity of 
health system in evidence-based planning, bottom-up budgeting for routine integrated outreach 
with an equity focus; (iv) sex-disaggregated immunization reporting and integrated within the 
broader health information system; and (v) evidence generation through nationwide immunization 
coverage surveys and other surveys to assess the quality and equity of the vaccine management. 

 
16. Output 3: Community awareness improved. This output will support the Ministries of 
Health, to leverage existing community structures through partnerships with other Ministries (for 
example education and women), non-government and civil society organizations (CSO), 
community and church leaders and other local community groups to improve public health 
knowledge, attitude and practice for better overall health seeking behaviour, sexual reproductive 
health and vaccine acceptance. A community engagement grant will support the proposed 
mobilization activities. The output will enhance community mobilization supported by context 
specific education and communication strategies on the importance of vaccination in addition to 
other essential health promotion messages. 
 
D. Sustainability 
 
17. Health system transformation will be sustained by strong skills development for integrated 
immunization systems management and financial sustainability through improved forecasting and 
more efficient procurement. A WHO developed checklist for the introduction of new vaccines will 
be closely monitored to ensure systems are strengthened before new vaccines arrive (see 
Appendix 2 for WHO checklist readiness of the four countries). 
 
18. The financial sustainability of the project has been assessed, and on-going funding needs 
to sustain vaccine procurement and delivery are a small proportion of government health 
expenditures in each country. Projections show that Tonga and Vanuatu would have the highest 
counterpart funding requirements under the project (as % of government health expenditure) 
among countries covered, but improving fiscal conditions in these countries should help free up 
additional resources to support the project’s full implementation. Although the fiscal positions of 
Samoa and Tuvalu are projected to worsen, these countries also have relatively more 
manageable counterpart funding requirements.  Phased scale-up of vaccine procurement co-
financing funding under the project will further ensure that sufficient resources will be available 
for annual vaccine procurement and associated running costs. The Financial Analysis is in the list 
of Linked Documents in RRP Appendix 2.  

 
19. Health system and management sustainability is addressed by ensuring that all inputs 
operate within government systems and processes; by building capacity in immunization program 
and cold chain management under Output 2; and by the transfer of technical skills over the life of 
the project. Sustainability will also be supported by the effective use of information becoming an 
integral part of how the health sector is governed, managed, planned, funded, and monitored. 
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II. IMPLEMENTATION PLANS 

A. Project Readiness Activities 

Table 1: Project Readiness Activities 

 2018 Responsible 
Agency/Government Indicative Activities Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Establish project 
implementation arrangements X     MOH 

Loan/grant negotiations  X    MOF, MOH 
Development of TORs for 
implementation  X     MOH 

Development of country 
contracts with UNICEF  X    MOH 
ADB Board approval     X  ADB 

Grant/Loan signing*    X  MOF, MOH 
Government legal opinion 
provided     X   MOF 

Grant/Loan effectiveness**      X  ADB 

ADB = Asian Development Bank; MOF = Ministry of Finance (Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu), 
MOH = Ministry of Health (Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu). 

*   Vanuatu is likely to sign loan and grant documents in Q1 2019 only to align with Government budget 
process. 

** Q1 2019 for Vanuatu. 

 
20. Project readiness activities began following the ADB Staff Review Meeting held in August 
2018. ADB Board approval is scheduled for November 2018 and signing of the grant and loan 
agreement for November 2018, with project effective in December 2018. In readiness for project 
commencement the government will be required to obtain a legal opinion, incorporate the project 
costs in the budget for 2019–2020 and fulfil any conditions for grant and loan effectiveness 
included in the grant and loan agreements.  

B. Overall Project Implementation Plan  
 
21. The project will be implemented over five years from December 2018 to November 2023.
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Table 2: Implementation Schedule 
 

  2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

  
Output 1: Regional vaccines procurement 
strengthened Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 

1.1 Vaccines and cold chain procurement through 
VII 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

      

1.2  VII capacity building in MOH including stock/ 
CCE inventory management and maintenance                            

  Output 2: Health aystems strengthened 
                     

  Governance   
              

  
   

2.1 Update immunization and cold chain policies        
                 

2.2 Participate in country-level health sector 
coordination mechanism 

                                        
Service delivery 

                     
2.3 Update standard operating procedures and 

guidelines                          
2.4 Microplan and deliver mass HPV and PCV 

campaigns  

 

       
  

        
  

    
2.5 Deliver mass HPV and PCV campaigns 

 
 

           
       

 
     

Medical equipment 
 

 
      

 
       

 
    

2.6 Conduct Effective Vaccine Management 
assessments 

 

   

  

                   
2.7 Refurbish cold chain stores           

                
Financial management support   

              
  

   
2.8 Capacity building in planning, budgeting, 

accounting and financial reports 
                    

    
   

2.9 Incorporate new vaccines into the annual 
health planning and budgeting process. 

      

                         
Health information systems 

 
 

      
 

       
 

    
2.10 Review, update, and integrate EPI reporting 

forms and indicators into health information 
systems 

       
                   

2.11 Conduct National Immunization Coverage 
Surveys 

  

                      

  
Health workforce    

                  
2.12 Immunization and public health training for 

health workers including vaccine delivery, 
routine reporting, adverse event notification, 
supply chain management and supportive 
supervision  
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  2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

  
Output 3: Community awareness improved 

                      

Demand generation 
                     

3.1 Engage in community partnerships with 
existing structures                         

3.2 Develop integrated public health and gender 
sensitive communication material and 
implementation plan to generate demand  

 

                        
3.3 Partnership to implement community strategy 

and key interventions and activities, including 
testing communication materials in TV and 
radio spots, print media, job aids, and social 
media tools 

 

  

  

                                
3.4 

Implement and monitor Gender Action Plan  

  
                                  

  
Project management  

                     
4.1 Recruit implementation firm                          
4.2 Extend country partnership agreements with 

UNICEF                         
4.3 

Direct contract UNICEF for associated services                                        
4.4 Support governments on annual procurement 

contracts with UNICEF for vaccines                                        
4.5 

Prepare annual work plans                           
4.6 

Prepare annual audits and project reports                          
4.7 

Conduct gender awareness of project staff                                       
4.8 

Mid-term review                                         
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III. PROJECT MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS 
 
A. Project Implementation Organizations: Roles and Responsibilities 
 
22. The Ministry of Finance in Samoa, Ministry of Finance and National Planning in Tonga, 
Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning in Tuvalu and Ministry of Finance and Economic 
Management in Vanuatu (all referred to as ‘MOF’) will be the Executing Agencies (EA) and the 
respective Ministry of Health (MOH) the Implementing Agencies (IA). The IAs are responsible for 
overall project administration and financial management of the project supported by an integrated 
project management team (IPM) integrated in each country within the MOH composed of 
counterpart staff and consultants. The IPM team will consist of national and international 
consultants to be contracted through a single firm, who work with counterpart staff at the 
respective MOHs and in close coordination with UNICEF, WHO, ADB and other partners, 
ensuring alignment of the project within the broader health sector development. Existing health 
sector coordination mechanisms will be used in each country with participation of MOH, MOF, 
other relevant government departments, development partners and civil society to oversee project 
implementation and report to the EAs and ADB.  

23. The project will require national and international consultants particularly in the initial 
phases of the project to strengthen existing systems for the introduction of new vaccines. Skills 
transfer will be coordinated in all activities. Social inclusion and gender equity principles will both 
underpin the implementation of all project activities, systems and processes, including monitoring 
and evaluation. Consultants will be recruited through the IPM, UNICEF and MOH directly. 

24. Integrated project management. The IPM team will support MOH counterpart staff to 
deliver the project and will consist of national consultants embedded in each MOH and a regional 
pool of international consultants working across the four countries. The IPM approach allows the 
use of regional experts, strengthening alignment with ADB implementation processes and 
supporting regionalism. Each country EA or IA (as relevant) will negotiate and sign a separate 
contract with the consulting firm covering the activities of their country.  ADB has been delegated 
responsibility by each of the four EAs for the selection of the consulting firm.22  The IPM firm will 
make consultants available with the requisite skills throughout the five-year program to manage 
project activities, procure goods and services, prepare reports, overall monitoring and evaluation 
and coordinate with the EA and IA. Levels of consultants’ support will be monitored and reported 
semi-annually to the ADB and the Project Directors by the IPM firm. The international experts 
under the IPM firm will build capacity of MOH counterpart staff in ADB procedures supported by 
additional ADB Technical Assistance where possible in financial management. The IPM will also 
support the MOHs to develop a monitoring and evaluation framework, including establishing a 
baseline for the project, midline, and end-line evaluation. The IPM will support MOH together with 
other development partners to implement a national wide immunization coverage survey in year 
5 to inform whether the project has achieved its target outcome and outputs including equity of 
coverage and engage civil society/churches where necessary for community mobilization, 
additional consultant support can be procured by MOH for these activities. The IPM firm is 

                                                
22 Consulting firm means any private or public entity with the capacity to provide consulting services. Such entities 
include international and national consulting firms, engineering firms, construction firms, management firms, 
procurement agents, inspection agents, auditors, United Nations (UN) agencies and other multilateral organizations, 
universities, research institutions, Government agencies, civil society organizations (CSO) and non-governmental 
organizations (NGOs), when such entities provide consulting services.  
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expected to build sufficient capacity in the government to sustain program implementation post-
project. Draft terms of reference for the IPM and other consultants are in Appendix 3. 

25. The IPM firm will include the following international expertise: (i) Project manager to 
oversee and coordinate all consultants under the IPM firm (national and international) and report 
to the Project Directors, the EAs and ADB; (ii) Project finance/procurement specialist to support 
all project procurement and financial transactions and reporting to ensure they are according to 
ADB guidelines, the specialist will also oversee the national project finance/procurement officers 
in the IPM teams; (iii) Gender specialist to support the mapping of community structures, gender 
mainstreaming across the project and report against the Gender Action Plan; and (iv) Monitoring 
and Evaluation expert to support formative research on community awareness and prepare the 
project monitoring framework and support IAs to report against it. The experts will work 
intermittently across the four countries. In addition, the IPM firm will include a pool of undefined 
expertise based on each countries requirements which could include: immunization specialist to 
provide selected immunization support where required particularly on developing expanded 
program on immunization (EPI) policies; supply chain specialist to provide support to supply 
chains and cold chains; curriculum development specialist to support the development of adult 
learning training materials and delivery; communications specialist to develop communications 
material and support effective dissemination of information; health public finical management 
specialist to provide capacity building in integrating vaccines into annual planning, budgeting, 
reporting and accounting in the health sector and information systems specialist to provide 
support to integrate EPI reporting into the health information system, particularly where 
opportunities exist for digital health information systems. The IPM will also recruit a national public 
health office and a national finance/procurement officer to be embedded in each MOH throughout 
the project duration.  

26. UNICEF. The UNICEF sub-regional office in Fiji has established relationships with Samoa, 
Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu, and leverages UNICEF’s global experience in vaccine procurement 
and supply chain management. Under the project, UNICEF will have a dual role to: (i) provide the 
pooled procurement platform for vaccines and cold chain equipment through the VII and (ii) 
provide technical expertise to country immunization programs. Existing agreements between 
countries and UNICEF VII will be expanded to include HPV vaccine, PCV and RV vaccine 
procurement and new agreements will be signed to include cold chain equipment procurement 
and related services and the required cold chain equipment to upgrade the cold chain (including 
waste management). The associated services also include additional technical support for in-
country vaccines procurement planning, supply chain management and delivery of safe and 
quality vaccination programs, these services will be contracted through a direct agreement 
between MOH and UNICEF. UNICEF will support the project through a combination of existing 
expertise in country, sub-regional and regional UNICEF offices across the Asia Pacific region and 
field additional experts when required to meet the deliverables. At the regional level, the IPM 
Project manager will ensure close coordination and communication with the UNICEF sub-regional 
office in Fiji and UNICEF country offices (see Figure 2 for more details). To institutionalize this 
close coordination, an MOU between ADB and UNICEF is expected to be signed by 2019, which 
emphasizes leveraging each agency’s strength and capacity to support countries in achieving 
child and maternal health related  sustainable development goals.  

27. Other consultants will be recruited directly by the MOH and include an international health 
demographer and statistician (in Tonga, Tuvalu and  Vanuatu only) to support the MOH to design 
and implement a national immunization coverage survey  in close collaboration with the National 
Statistics Office.  And other national consultants to support community mobilization  as required. 
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Figure 2: Overall Project Implementation Arrangements 

 
CEO= Chief Executive Officer; EPI = Expanded Immunization Program; IEVM= effective vaccine management; PM= 
integrated project management; M&E = monitoring and evaluation; MOH = Ministry of Health; MOF= Ministry of 
Finance; SOP= standard operating procedures; VII = vaccines independence initiative 
*Nomenclature of government entities varies between countries, please refer to below paragraphs for specific details. 
Source: ADB 

 
28. In Samoa the EA will be represented by the CEO, MOF. The MOH will be the IA and the 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) Health will be the Project Director. The IPM at the MOH under the 
Health Sector Coordination Resources and Monitoring Division will be staffed by a (i) public health 
officer and a (ii) project finance/procurement officer, (both national consultants). The IPM will be 
part of MOH, and will report to CEO through the ACEO for the Health Sector Coordination 
Resources and Monitoring Division, and work across relevant divisions of the MOH and at the 
sector level. The IPM will report quarterly to the Health Program Advisory Committee, the existing 
health sector governance structure in Samoa who will approve the bi-annual reports on project 
implementation and safeguards to ADB. The IPM will prepare annual workplans with milestones 
to ensure timely skills upgrading is accessed through the pool of regional international experts 
and supported by the IPM. UNICEF will be engaged by MOH to procure vaccines, cold chain 
equipment, update national immunization and cold chain policies policies/standards, capacity 
building of staff, update child health books and perform an effective vaccine management survey. 
Under Output 1, the IPM and UNICEF will support the MOH plan and procure vaccines and cold 
chain equipment through VII including forecasting, delivery and storage, this will include working 
across the pharmacy and medical supplies, EPI and public health teams. Under Output 2, the 
IPM and UNICEF will support divisions across the MOH including financing, procurement, 
information systems, pharmacy and other relevant divisions to strengthen the health system 
drawing down on selected expertise from the regional IPM firm as required through the Project 
Manager. Under Output 3, the IPM will identify existing community structures and the project will 
support MOH to partner with a local NGO/CSO to develop and deliver communication material. 
Project activities will be fully integrated into MOH systems by the time the project concludes, the 
government will provide necessary resources to sustain, manage, and enhance project 

Firm (regional and national) – Recruited by MOH to support MOH 
meet project deliverables

1. Project Manager (int)

2. Gender Expert (int)

3. Finance/Procurement Expert (int)

4. Finance/Procurement Officer (nat)

5. Public Health Officer (nat)

6. M&E experts (int)

7. Resource person (int)

MINISTRY OF HEALTH UNICEF

Output 1 Vaccine and Cold Chain Procurement

Procurement of vaccines and cold chain equipment, and 

installation

Capacity built in micro-planning and forecasting across all 

health facilities

Output 2 (Immunization) System Strengthened

EPI and cold chain policies updated with SOPs

Capacity built in vaccine administration, routine and adverse 

event reporting, cold chain and vaccine management, 

preventative maintenance and supportive supervision. 

Including selected refresher training

Comprehensive EVM assessment

Child health books updated/developed

Annual reports on vaccination coverage by Province (sex-

disaggregated)

Output 3 Community mobilization

Develop social mobilization and community engagement 

strategy materials and implementation plan

Counterpart staff

• CEOl

• EPI coordinator

• Budget officer

• Data manager

• Technician

• Provincial finance officers

• Director of Public Health

• Director of corporate services

• Chief pharmacist

• Chief statistician

• etc…..

A
D

B

Through VII 

& output 

agreements 

Support MOH to implement project including manage 

contracts, M&E, procurement and  project reporting.
IPM = MOH counterpart 
staff and consultants

Project Advance Account: Managed by 
MOH/MOF to finance: outreach, 
campaign, workshops, surveys, small 
procurement and administration
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achievements in line with the MOH immunization strategy and broader health system 
strengthening.  

29. In Tonga the EA will be represented by the CEO, MOF. The MOH will be the IA and the 
CEO Health will be the Project Director. The IPM at the MOH will be staffed by a (i) public health 
officer and a (ii) project finance/procurement officer, (both national consultants ). The IPM will be 
part of MOH, directly report to the CEO for Health, and work across relevant departments at the 
MOH and at the sub-national level. The IPM will report quarterly to the National Health 
Development Committee, the existing health sector governance structure in Tonga who will 
approve the bi-annual reports on project implementation and safeguards to ADB.23 The IPM will 
prepare annual workplans with milestones to ensure timely skills upgrading is accessed through 
the pool of regional international experts and supported by the IPM. UNICEF will be engaged by 
MOH to procure vaccines, cold chain equipment, installation, and maintenance and repair 
capacity building, update national immunization and cold chain policies policies/standards, 
capacity build staff, update child health books and perform an effective vaccine management 
survey. Under Output 1, the IPM and UNICEF will support the MOH plan and procure vaccines 
and cold chain equipment through VII including forecasting, distribution and storage, this will 
include working across the pharmacy and medical supplies, EPI and public health teams. Under 
Output 2, the IPM and UNICEF will support departments across the MOH including financing, 
procurement, information systems, pharmacy and other relevant departments to strengthen the 
health system drawing down on selected expertise from the regional firm as required through the 
Project manager. A health demographer and statistician will support MOH and the National 
Statistics Office to design and implement an immunization coverage survey. Under Output 3, the 
IPM and UNICEF will support the MOH to identify existing community structures and partner with 
local NGO/CSOs to develop and deliver communication material. Project activities will be fully 
integrated into MOH systems by the time the project concludes, the government will provide 
necessary resources to sustain, manage, and enhance project achievements in line with the MOH 
immunization strategy and broader health system strengthening.  

30. In Tuvalu the EA will be represented by the CEO, MOF. The MOH will be the IA and the 
CEO Health will be the Project Director. The IPM at the MOH will be staffed by a (i) public health 
officer and a (ii) project finance/procurement officer, (both national consultants). The IPM will be 
part of MOH, directly report to the CEO Health, and work across relevant departments at the MOH 
and at the sub-national level. The IPM will report quarterly to the a MOH HIV/ Tuberculosis 
steering committee, the existing health sector governance structure in Tuvalu who will approve 
the bi-annual reports on project implementation and safeguards to ADB. The IPM will prepare 
annual workplans with milestones to ensure timely skills upgrading is accessed through the pool 
of regional international experts and supported by the IPM. UNICEF will be engaged by MOH to 
procure vaccines, cold chain equipment, installation, and maintenance and repair capacity 
building, update national immunization and cold chain policies policies/standards, capacity build 
staff, update child health books and perform an effective vaccine management survey. Under 
Output 1, the IPM and UNICEF will support the MOH plan and procure vaccines and cold chain 
equipment through VII including forecasting, distribution and storage, this will include working 
across the pharmacy and medical supplies, EPI and public health teams. Under Output 2, the 
IPM and UNICEF will support departments across the MOH including financing, procurement, 
information systems, pharmacy and other relevant departments to strengthen the health system 

                                                
23  National Health Development Committee is chaired by the Minister of Health. Members include the CEO for Health, 

Medical Superintendent, Chief Medical Officer of Public Health, Chief Nursing Officer, Chief Dental Officer, Chief 
Medical Officer of Clinical Services, Principal Health Planning Officer and Principal Health Administrator (PHA). At 
the moment, Tonga do not have any PHA so they co-opt two people to cover for that position - Principal Accountant 
and the Senior Health Administrator. 
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drawing down on selected expertise from the regional firm as required through the Project 
manager. A health demographer and statistician will support MOH and the National Statistics 
Office to design and implement an immunization coverage survey. Under Output 3, the IPM and 
UNICEF will support the MOH to identify existing community structures and partner with local 
NGO/CSOs to develop and deliver communication material. Project activities will be fully 
integrated into MOH systems by the time the project concludes, the government will provide 
necessary resources to sustain, manage, and enhance project achievements in line with the MOH 
immunization strategy and broader health system strengthening.  

31. In Vanuatu the EA will be represented by the Director General, MOF. The MOH will be 
the IA and the Director General will be the Project Director. The IPM at the MOH will be staffed 
by a (i) public health officer and a (ii) project finance/procurement officer, (both national 
consultants). The IPM will be part of MOH, directly report to the Director General for Health, and 
work across relevant departments at the MOH and at the sub-national level. The IPM will report 
quarterly to the Ministry of Health Executive Committee, the existing health sector governance 
structure in Vanuatu who will approve the bi-annual reports on project implementation and 
safeguards to ADB. The IPM will prepare annual workplans with milestones to ensure timely skills 
upgrading is accessed through the pool of regional international experts and supported by the 
IPM. UNICEF will be engaged by MOH to procure vaccines, cold chain equipment, installation, 
and maintenance and repair capacity building, update national immunization and cold chain 
policies policies/standards, capacity build staff, update child health books and perform an effective 
vaccine management survey. Under Output 1, the IPM and UNICEF will support the MOH plan 
and procure vaccines and cold chain equipment through VII including forecasting, distribution and 
storage, this will include working across the pharmacy and medical supplies, EPI and public health 
teams. Under Output 2, the IPM and UNICEF will support departments across the MOH including 
financing, procurement, information systems, pharmacy and other relevant departments to 
strengthen the health system drawing down on selected expertise from the regional firm as 
required through the Project manager. A health demographer and statistician will support MOH 
and the National Statistics Office to design and implement an immunization coverage survey. 
Under Output 3, the IPM and UNICEF will support the MOH to identify existing community 
structures and partner with local NGO/CSOs to develop and deliver communication material. 
Project activities will be fully integrated into MOH systems by the time the project concludes, the 
government will provide necessary resources to sustain, manage, and enhance project 
achievements in line with the MOH immunization strategy and broader health system 
strengthening.  

32. Table 3 outlines the key roles and responsibilities across the various project stakeholders.  

 
Table 3: Project Implementation Roles and Responsibilities 

Project Implementation 
Organizations Management Roles and Responsibilities 

Health Program Advisory 
Committee (SAM); 
National Health Development 
Committee (TON); 
MOH Executive Committee 
(VAN) 
National Communicable 
Diseases Steering Committee 
(TUV) 

• Oversee project impact on public health and health systems 
and ensure any risks are identified early and discussed; 

• ensure alignment with other development partner related 
support; 

• organize quarterly meetings to review project implementation 
and performance; 

• ensure alignment with country health systems and strategies 
and 

• provide overall strategic guidance on the project implementation 
and advise on any needs for adjustment of scope. 
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Project Implementation 
Organizations Management Roles and Responsibilities 

EA: 
MOF (SAM, TON, TUV, VAN) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IA: 

MOH (SAM, TON, TUV, VAN) 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

• Representative of the grant and loan recipients; 

• sign loan/grant agreements;  

• endorse to ADB the authorized staff with approved signatures 
for withdrawal allocation processing; 

• budget, allocate, and release counterpart funds for the 
sustainability of the VII credit line; 

• ensure timely provision of agreed counterpart resources for 
project activities; 

• monitor project implementation and provide coordination and 
facilitation; 

• arrange required cross-department/inter-ministerial policy 
dialogue; 

• include project accounts to be audited by Office of Auditor 
General; 

• undertake internal audit for the project accounts on a semi-
annual basis or as needed; 

• coordinate with subnational governments/ authorities in the 
preparation and implementation of the project and 

• supervise project procurement and ensure the project 
procurement plan is aligned to government processes. 

 
 

• Appoint Project Director; 

• include the project in the oversight responsibilities of the 
existing sector governance structure and chair the steering 
Group for monitoring and oversight of the project; 

• expand VII agreements with UNICEF to include HPV vaccine, 
PCV and RV vaccine and enter into new agreements where 
required for the project duration; 

• delegate IPM firm recruitment to ADB and participate in 
recruitment decisions as per ADB delegation matrix; 

• coordinate implementing partners (IPM firm and UNICEF) to 
ensure timely outputs as per project plans; 

• include vaccine procurement forecast in medium term 
expenditure frameworks;  

• establish and manage the  project advance accounts; 

• sign withdrawal applications and related supporting documents, 
ensure supporting documents are retained, and monitor the 
advance account disbursements; 

• review and endorse project quarterly, semi-annual and annual 
reports including (i) annual forecast of contract awards and 
disbursements, (ii) annual project financial statements for 
annual audit of project financial statements,(iii) project-financed 
cold chain asset registry, (iv) loan and grant covenants (v) 
gender action plan and (vi) compliance monitoring against 
safeguards for submission to the EAs and ADB; 

• stakeholder engagement including with other Ministries, private 
sector, civil society, non-government organizations and 
churches; 

• community mobilization and engagement strategy, including 
developing and disseminating community awareness materials; 
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Project Implementation 
Organizations Management Roles and Responsibilities 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
IPM 

• recruit consultant required to support national immunization 
coverage surveys and mobilize resources to conduct survey; 

• endorse national immunization and cold-chain policies; 

• preparation of the draft project completion report; 

• engage with local suppliers and vendors for the supply for 
assets and logistical support, e.g. car/ on-board motor rentals, 
electrical engineer/ mechanic for installation and preventative 
maintenance, meeting venue and catering and 

• Identify special technical support needs through the recruitment 
of a resource person as necessary. 
 

 

• Manage the day-to-day implementation of the project at the 
national and sub-national level; 

• manage the human resource associated with the project to 
ensure consultant support is provided in a timely fashion; 

• closely collaborate with EAs and IAs on project implementation 
as required including with UNICEF; 

• establish strong relationship with in-country development 
partners coordination groups and community partners; 

• support the MOH to include vaccine procurement forecast in 
medium term expenditure frameworks;  

• support MOH to establish and manage the  project advance 
accounts; 

• mobilize advance account for administrative and operational 
costs, including printing of materials; 

• prepare withdrawal applications in accordance with government 
and ADB procedures and be responsible for the overall financial 
management and administration of the project including 
submission of monthly financial statements including 
reconciliation of cost categories against ADB’s records to MOH 
and ADB; 

• be responsible for preparation of supporting documents for 
replenishment of advance accounts, financial statements and 
arrangements of the annual audit report in close consultations 
with MOF officials; 

• involve internal audit unit at MOH/MOF in project planning and 
develop financial and procurement management capacity of 
MOH staff; 

• manage specific project implementation activities including the 
entire procurement  process (except for vaccines and cold 
chain equipment), recruiting of consulting services, developing  
of project performance monitoring framework and systems and 
preparing an project exit strategy; 

• carry out baseline, midline and end line evaluations; 

• support progress towards gender action plan and monitor 
project activities to include gender equity; 

• conduct mapping of community structures and formative 
evaluation of community attitudes towards vaccines; 

• conduct biannual reconciliation between financial system MOH 
asset register system; 

• prepare project quarterly, semi-annual and annual reports 
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Project Implementation 
Organizations Management Roles and Responsibilities 

including (i) annual work plans, procurement plans and 
budgets, (ii) annual forecast of contract awards and 
disbursements, (iii) annual project financial statements for 
annual audit of project financial statements,(iv) project-financed 
cold chain asset registry monitoring, (v) reporting on loan and 
grant covenants (vi) gender action plan reporting and (vii) 
compliance monitoring against safeguards for submission to the 
Project Directors (copy to ADB).  

• support the MOH on stakeholder engagement including with 
other Ministries, private sector, civil society, non-government 
organizations and churches; 

• recruit resource specialist based on recommendation from 
MOH as necessary and support MOH to recruit additional 
consultants required to support national immunization coverage 
surveys and mobilize resources to conduct survey; 

• support the MOH on implementation of mass catch-up 
campaign and capacity development activities (delivered by 
UNICEF); 

• address challenges with policy, legal, financial, economic, 
environmental, social, safeguards, and other covenants 
contained in the project legal agreements;  

• participate in inception mission, mid-term review, project 
completion mission, review missions, and special administration 
review if necessary;  

• participate in evaluations process and workshops;  

• host annual regional meetings as required and 

• prepare and report on project exit strategy.  

UNICEF 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Expand existing VII agreements to include new vaccines and 
revised credit line; 

• negotiate extension of UNICEF VII country agreements beyond 
2020; 

• enter into new agreements for cold chain and associated 
services where required; 

• procure vaccines, cold chain and immunization devices and 
equipment through VII; 

• install cold chain equipment, maintenance and waste 
management; 

• provide guidance and technical coordination on VII and 
vaccines introduction and management; 

• support the MOH on implementing catch-up campaigns, 
particularly for HPV vaccine in school settings; 

• provision of capacity building at MOH (i.e. trainings, workshops, 
capacity building of national staff) on new vaccine introduction, 
vaccine and cold chain management, waste management, cold 
chain maintenance, adverse event reporting, immunization 
supply chain management and reporting; 

• update child health books to include new vaccines, and support 
other immunization reporting systems to report sex 
disaggregated immunization data; 

• conduct data quality assessment; 

• update national immunization policies and standard operating 
procedures (including cold chain management, adverse event 
reporting and waste management); 
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Project Implementation 
Organizations Management Roles and Responsibilities 

• support comprehensive effective vaccine management 
assessments;  

• develop immunization communication strategy for community 
mobilization, and support the MOH on community engagement 
activities based on the recommendations; 

• provide technical input to immunization campaign material 
development; 

• provide quarterly progress reports and annual comprehensive 
immunization reports by sex and geographical spread to Project 
Directors; 

• include project technical experts and government counterparts 
in relevant regional vaccine meetings;  

• maintain a gender balance in technical positions and provide 
gender equity and social inclusion training to all staff as part of 
their induction and 

• facilitating collaboration and knowledge exchange between the 
countries. 

ADB: 
 

• Initiate advanced actions to recruit IPM firm; 

• conduct inception workshop with IPM firm, UNICEF and 
government counterparts and include training on financial 
management, disbursement and procurement; 

• review project implementation twice a year; 

• disburse loan and grant proceeds to the contractors and 
replenishment of the advance accounts; 

• lead project review missions including inception, mid-term 
review, and project completion, and special administration 
review if necessary; provide support to the IA, IPMs and 
UNICEF as required; 

• monitor project implementation arrangements, disbursements, 
procurement, consultant selections; 

• monitor schedule of activities; 

• review compliance with grant and loan covenants; 

• analyze the performance of the project against the monitoring 
and evaluation framework;  

• monitor conformity with ADB anti-corruption policy and 

• reprogram allocations during mid-term review if necessary. 
ADB = Asian Development Bank, EA= executing agency, IA= implementing agency; IPM = integrated project 
management; MOF = Ministry of Finance, MOH = Ministry of Health, SAM = Samoa TON = Tonga, TUV = Tuvalu, VAN 
= Vanuatu, UNICEF = United Nations Children’s Fund; VII = UNICEF vaccine independence initiative. 

 
B. Key Persons Involved in Implementation 
 

1. SAMOA 
 
Executing agency: 
Ministry of Finance 

 
 
Lavea Tupa’imatuna Iulai Lavea 
Chief Executive Officer 
Ministry of Finance 
Telephone: +685 34333 
Fax: +685 21312 
Email: Iulai.lavea@mof.gov.ws  
 

Implementing Agency: 
Ministry of Health 

Dr. Take Naseri 
Chief Executive Officer 

mailto:Iulai.lavea@mof.gov.ws
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Ministry of Health 
Telephone: +685 68100 
Email: ceo@health.gov.ws  
 

2. TONGA  
 
Executing agency: 
Ministry of Finance and National Planning 
 

 
 
Mrs. Pilimilose Balwyn Fa’otusia 
Chief Executive Officer  
Ministry of Finance and National Planning 
Nuku’alofa, Tonga 
Telephone: +676 23066 
Fax: +676 26011 
Email: ceo@finance.gov.to 
 

Implementing agency: 
Ministry of Health 

Dr. Siale Akauola 
Chief Executive Officer 
Ministry of Health 
Nuku’alofa, Tonga 
Telephone: +676 28233 
Fax: +676 24291 
Email: sakauola@health.gov.to  

3. TUVALU 
Executing agency: 
Ministry of Finance and Economic Development 
Funafuti, Tuvalu 
 

 
Mr. Talavai Iona 
Chief Executive Officer 
Ministry of Finance and Economic Development 
Telephone: +688 20202 
Fax: +688 2020 
 

Implementing agency: 
Ministry of Health  

Dr. Karlos Lee Moresi 
Chief Executive Officer 
Ministry of Health 
Telephone: +688 20416 
Email: moresi.k.l@gmx.com  

4. VANUATU 
Executing agency: 
Ministry of Finance and Economic Management 
 

 
Mr. Letlet August 
Director General 
Ministry of Finance and Economic Management 
Email: laugust@vanuatu.gov.vu 
 

Implementing agency: 
Ministry of Health  

Mr. George Taleo 
Director General 
Ministry of Health 
Email: gtaleo@vanuatu.gov.vu  

5. UNICEF Sheldon Yett 
UNICEF Pacific Representative 
Telephone: +679 992 5427 
Email: syett@unicef.org  
 
Vathinee Jitjaturunt 
UNICEF Pacific Representative 
Telephone: +679 992 5613 
Email: vjitjaturunt@unicef.org  

6. ADB Emma Veve 
Director 

mailto:ceo@health.gov.ws
mailto:ceo@finance.gov.to
mailto:sakauola@health.gov.to
mailto:moresi.k.l@gmx.com
mailto:laugust@vanuatu.gov.vu
mailto:gtaleo@vanuatu.gov.vu
mailto:syett@unicef.org
mailto:vjitjaturunt@unicef.org
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Urban, Social Development and Public Management 
Division  
Pacific Department  
+63 2 632 4444 
Email: eveve@adb.org  
 
Inez Mikkelsen Lopez 
Health specialist 
Urban, Social Development and Public Management 
Division  
Pacific Department  
+63 2 632 6847 
Email: imikkelsenlopez@adb.org  
 

mailto:eveve@adb.org
mailto:imikkelsenlopez@adb.org
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C. Project Organization Structure  
 
33. The Governments of Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu will be overall in charge of the 
project through the MOF (EA) and MOH (IA). The project will report to existing governance 
structures with project management provided by the  IPM (see Figure 3 for more details). 

 
Figure 3: Project Organization Structure 

 

 
 
 
34. There are two key project design features which strengthen regionalism: (i) the pooled 
procurement platform for vaccines using the UNICEF VII and regional buffer stock, and (ii) the 
sharing of international expertise both through the IPM and UNICEF, which will help to transfer 
lessons learnt across the countries. The project through the IPM firm will host an annual regional 
workshop for IAs, ADB and UNICEF, to discuss project implementation, progress and challenges. 
This will be an opportunity for continuous knowledge transfer and sharing of experience as well 
as alignment of consultant deliverables. 
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IV. COSTS AND FINANCING 
 
35. The overall project cost is $29.66 million, comprising (i) $15 million in ADF RHS grant, (ii) 
$10.1 million in ADB country allocation and (iii) $4.36 million in country co-financing (see Table 
4). The project will include an ADF loan of $2.25 million to Vanuatu and four ADF grants (i) $7.5 
million to Samoa; (ii) $3.85 million to Tonga; (iii) $2.50 million to Tuvalu; and (iv) 9.0 million to 
Vanuatu. The project loan will have a 32-year loan term with an 8-year grace period and interest 
at 1% during the grace period and 1.5% thereafter.  

Table 4: Financing Plan 

Source 
  Amount ($ million)   

Share 
of Total  

Samoa Tonga Tuvalu Vanuatu Total (%) 

Asian Development Bank  7.50 3.85 2.50 11.25 25.10  

-Special Funds resources (ADF 
grant) 

3.00 1.60 1.00 2.25 7.85 26.5 

-Special Funds resources (ADF RHS 
grant)  

4.50 2.25 1.50 6.75 15.00 50.6 

-Ordinary capital resources 
(concessional loan) 

   2.25 2.25 7.6 

Government contributiona 1.48 0.72 0.17 2.19 4.56 15.4 
Total 8.98 4.57 2.67 13.44 29.66 100.0 

ADF= Asian Development Fund; RHS = Regional Health Security  
a   The Government of Samoa, the Government of Tonga, the Government of Tuvalu and the Government of Vanuatu 

will contribute in the form of taxes and duties, counterpart staff and phased counterpart financing of vaccine 
procurement. 

Source: ADB estimates 

 
36. ADB financing will be used for: (i) goods, including vaccines, infrastructure, transport, cold 
chain equipment and other supplies and consumables, (ii) VII credit line, (iii) consultants, trainings 
and workshops, (iv) project management and administration, (v) engaging civil society/local 
community groups and (vi) monitoring and evaluation. Counterpart financing will be vaccine co-
financing and   in-kind support will include staff, IPM office space, supplies and utilities, taxes and 
duties and maintenance. The government will exempt local taxes and duties for transport 
vehicles, supplies, and equipment. 
 
A. Cost Estimates Preparation and Revisions  
 
37. The cost estimates tables were designed and discussed with the EAs and IAs during 
project processing. The determination of the type of equipment, their quantities and training 
required were derived from discussions with MOH in each country and UNICEF. The costs 
associated with vaccine campaigns were derived from MOH and UNICEF. Costs for training and 
workshops were also derived from discussions with MOH, national cost for norms for per diems. 
Costs for community mobilization strategy development and implementation were derived from 
discussions with MOH and other CSOs and development partners. During Project 
implementation, the responsibility of updating the cost estimates will rest with the Project 
directors, and as advised by the IPM. 

B. Key Assumptions 
 
38. The following key assumptions underpin the cost estimates and financing plan: 
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(i) Exchange rate: All cost estimates are expressed in US dollars including 
government counterpart contribution.  

 
(ii) Price contingencies based on expected cumulative inflation over the 

implementation period are as follows: 
 

Table 5: Escalation Rates for Price Contingency Calculation 
Item 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Average 

Foreign rate of price 
inflation 

1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.6% -%  -% 

Domestic rate of price 
inflation (Samoa) 

2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.00% 

Domestic rate of price 
inflation (Tonga) 

2.5% 2.5% 2.4% 2.3% 2.3% 2.3% 2.38% 

Domestic rate of price 
inflation (Tuvalu) 

2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.6% 2.6% 2.6% 2.55% 

Domestic rate of price 
inflation (Vanuatu) 

3.3% 3.2% 3.0% 2.9% 2.9% 2.9% 3.03% 

Source: Escalation factors for 2017–2018 are based on inflation projections from Asian Development Outlook 2017. 
Update. Average projections are made for 2019–2021 based on 2017–2018 data. 

 
(iii) In-kind contributions were calculated using salary estimates of government staff 

and best estimates discussed with EAs during Project design.  
 
39. The overall project investment plan is in Table 6. 

Table 6: Project Investment Plan  
($ million) 

Item Amounta 

A.  Base Costb   
 1.  Output 1: Regional vaccine procurement is strengthened 15.72 
 2.  Output 2: Health systems strengthened 7.96 
 3.  Output 3: Community awareness improved 1.06 
 4. Project monitoring and managementc 3.08 
  Subtotal (A) 27.80 
B.  Contingenciesd 1.79 
C.  Financial Charges During Implementatione 0.07 
   Total (A+B+C) 29.66 
a  Includes taxes and duties of $2.43 million. Such amount does not represent an excessive share of the project 

cost. The governments will finance taxes and duties of vaccines and goods through exemption, ADB will finance 
local taxes and duties for administrative related costs. 

b Base costs and prices estimated as of June 2018 
c  Includes project managing consultants, travel costs, regional and local administrative costs, auditing costs 
d Physical contingencies computed at 10% for civil works and consulting services. Price contingencies computed at 

average of 2.0 -3.3% and includes provision for potential exchange rate fluctuation under the assumption of a 
purchasing power parity exchange rate. 

e Includes interest computed at 1% during grace period and 1.5% thereafter for the loan taken by Vanuatu. 
Source: ADB estimates 

 
 

40.  The various project cost tables are below in Tables 7–11.
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24 
 

 
A. Detailed Cost Estimates by Expenditure Category 

   
Table 7: Detailed Cost Estimates by Expenditure Category, by Country 

($ million) 
7a.  Samoa 

    Total Project Cost 

Expenditure categories Amount % Base Cost 

A. Investment Cost   

1. Vaccines   

1a. Vaccines (Y2) 2.32 27.5% 

1b. Vaccines (Y3) 0.70 8.2% 

1c. Vaccines (Y4) 0.70 8.2% 

1d. Vaccines (Y5) 0.70 8.2% 

2. Credit line, medical equipment, assets and supplies 1.02 12.1% 

3. Printing & communication materials, and surveys 0.03 0.4% 

4. Community engagement grants 0.10 1.2% 

5. Regional implementation and monitoring services 1.17 13.8% 

6. UNICEF services 1.30 15.3% 

B. Recurrent costs 

  

7. Administration and operationsa 0.43 5.0% 

 Subtotal (A + B) 8.45 100.0% 

C. Contingencies 0.28 
 

D. Unallocated 0.25  

  Total Project Costs 8.98  

a Administration and operation costs include $14,375 for audits over the life of the project, as well as printing, 

communication, and office operational costs 
UNICEF= United Nations Children’s Fund 
Notes: Numbers may not sum precisely because of rounding. Inclusive of local taxes and duties.  
Source: ADB estimates 
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7b. Tonga 

    Total Project Cost 

Expenditure categories Amount % Base Cost 

A. Investment Cost   

1. Vaccines   

1a. Vaccines (Y2) 0.89 20.4% 

1b. Vaccines (Y3) 0.34 7.7% 

1c. Vaccines (Y4) 0.34 7.7% 

1d. Vaccines (Y5) 0.34 7.7% 

2. Credit line, medical equipment, assets and supplies 0.72 16.4% 

3. Printing & communication materials, and surveys 0.21 4.7% 

4. Community engagement grants 0.02 0.5% 

5. Regional implementation and monitoring services 0.85 19.3% 

6. UNICEF services 0.49 11.1% 

B. Recurrent costs 

  

7. Administration and operationsa 0.21 4.7% 

 Subtotal (A + B) 4.39 100.0% 

C. Contingencies 0.18 
 

D. Unallocated 0.00 
 

  Total Project Costs 4.57 
 

a Administration and operation costs include $11,500 for audits over the life of the project, as well as printing, 

communication, and office operational costs 
Notes: Numbers may not sum precisely because of rounding. Inclusive of local taxes and duties. 
UNICEF= United Nations Children’s Fund 
Source: ADB estimates 
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7c. Tuvalu 

    Total Project Cost 

Expenditure categories Amount % Base Cost 

A. Investment Cost   

1. Vaccines   

1a. Vaccines (Y2) 0.14 6.6% 

1b. Vaccines (Y3) 0.04 1.7% 

1c. Vaccines (Y4) 0.04 1.7% 

1d. Vaccines (Y5) 0.04 1.7% 

2. Credit line, medical equipment, assets and supplies 0.15 7.3% 

3. Printing & communication materials, and surveys 0.20 9.5% 

4. Community engagement grants 0.05 2.4% 

5. Regional implementation and monitoring services 0.73 34.7% 

6. UNICEF services 0.50 23.8% 

B. Recurrent costs 

  

7. Administration and operationsa 0.22 10.6% 

 Subtotal (A + B) 2.11 100.0% 

C. Contingencies 0.12 
 

D. Unallocated 0.44 
 

  Total Project Costs 2.67 
 

a Administration and operation costs include $14,375 for audits over the life of the project, as well as printing, 

communication, and office operational costs 
Notes: Numbers may not sum precisely because of rounding. Inclusive of local taxes and duties. 
UNICEF= United Nations Children’s Fund 
Source: ADB estimates 
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7d.  Vanuatu 

    Total Project Cost 

Expenditure categories Amount % Base Cost 

A. Investment Cost   

1. Vaccines   

1a. Vaccines (Y2) 2.47 19.3% 

1b. Vaccines (Y3) 0.98 7.6% 

1c. Vaccines (Y4) 0.98 7.6% 

1d. Vaccines (Y5) 0.98 7.6% 

2. Credit line, medical equipment, assets and supplies 3.90 30.4% 

3. Printing & communication materials, and surveys 0.30 2.4% 

4. Community engagement grants 0.20 1.6% 

5. Regional implementation and monitoring services 1.49 11.6% 

6. UNICEF services 1.00 7.8% 

B. Recurrent costs 

  

7. Administration and operationsa 0.55 4.3% 

 Subtotal (A + B) 12.85 100.0% 

C. Contingencies 0.51 
 

D. Financing charges 0.07 
 

E. Unallocated 0.00 
 

  Total Project Costs 13.44 
 

a Administration and operation costs include $14,375 for audits over the life of the project, as well as printing, 

communication, and office operational costs 
Notes: Numbers may not sum precisely because of rounding. Inclusive of local taxes and duties. 
UNICEF= United Nations Children’s Fund 
Source: ADB estimates 
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B. Allocation and Withdrawal of Loan/Grant Proceeds  
 

Table 8: Allocation and Withdrawal of Grant Proceeds, by Country  
 

($) 
8a. Samoa 

ALLOCATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF GRANT PROCEEDS 

Number Item 

Total Amount Allocated 
for ADF Financing ($) 

Basis for Withdrawal from the Grant 
Account Category Subcategory 

1. Vaccines* 3,100,000   

1a. Year 2  2,020,000 100 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

1b. Year 3  480,000 80 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

1c. Year 4  360,000 60 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

1d. Year 5  240,000 40 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

2. 

Increase to VII 
Credit Line, 
other Goods, 
and Consulting 
Services* 

2,210,000  100 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

3. 

Communication 
Materials, 
Community 
engagement 
grants, and 
implementation 
& monitoring 
services 

1,235,000  100 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

4. 
Administration 
and Operations 

430,000  100 percent of total expenditures claimed 

5. Unallocated 525,000   

 Total 7,500,000   

 

*subject to the following condition for withdrawals- Notwithstanding any other provision of this Grant 
Agreement, no withdrawals shall be made from the Grant Account to fund the procurement of 
vaccines, the Increase to VII Credit Line, and Goods and Consulting Services associated with 
vaccines until (a) the VII Agreement has been amended, if necessary, to permit procurement of the 
vaccines under the Project; and (b) the Additional Agreement has become effective. 
**exclusive of taxes and duties imposed within the territory of the Recipient 
ADB= Asian Development Bank; ADF= Asian Development Fund; UNICEF= United Nations Children’s 
Fund 
Source: ADB estimates 
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8b. Tonga 

ALLOCATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF GRANT PROCEEDS 

Number Item 

Total Amount Allocated 
for ADF Financing ($) 

Basis for Withdrawal from the Grant 
Account Category Subcategory 

1. Vaccines* 1,310,000   

1a. Year 2  780,000 100 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

1b. Year 3  230,000 80 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

1c. Year 4  180,000 60 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

1d. Year 5  120,000 40 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

2. 

Increase to VII 
Credit Line, 
other Goods, 
and Consulting 
Services* 

1,140,000  100 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

3. 

Communication 
Materials, 
Community 
engagement 
grants, and 
implementation 
& monitoring 
services 

1,010,000  100 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

4. 
Administration 
and Operations 

210,000  100 percent of total expenditures claimed 

5. Unallocated 180,000   

 Total 3,850,000   

 

*subject to the following condition for withdrawals- Notwithstanding any other provision of this Grant 
Agreement, no withdrawals shall be made from the Grant Account to fund the procurement of 
vaccines, the Increase to VII Credit Line, and Goods and Consulting Services associated with 
vaccines until (a) the VII Agreement has been amended, if necessary, to permit procurement of the 
vaccines under the Project; and (b) the Additional Agreement has become effective. 
**exclusive of taxes and duties imposed within the territory of the Recipient 
ADB= Asian Development Bank; ADF= Asian Development Fund; UNICEF= United Nations Children’s 
Fund 
Source: ADB estimates 
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8c. Tuvalu 

ALLOCATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF GRANT PROCEEDS 

Number Item 

Total Amount Allocated 
for ADF Financing ($) 

Basis for Withdrawal from the Grant 
Account Category Subcategory 

1. Vaccines* 178,000   

1a. Year 2  121,000 100 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

1b. Year 3  25,000 80 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

1c. Year 4  19,000 60 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

1d. Year 5  13,000 40 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

2. 

Increase to VII 
Credit Line, 
other Goods, 
and Consulting 
Services* 

621,000  100 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

3. 

Communication 
Materials, 
Community 
engagement 
grants, and 
implementation 
& monitoring 
services 

921,000  100 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

4. 
Administration 
and Operations 

224,000  100 percent of total expenditures claimed 

5. Unallocated 556,000   

 Total 2,500,000   

 

*subject to the following condition for withdrawals- Notwithstanding any other provision of this Grant 
Agreement, no withdrawals shall be made from the Grant Account to fund the procurement of 
vaccines, the Increase to VII Credit Line, and Goods and Consulting Services associated with 
vaccines until (a) the VII Agreement has been amended, if necessary, to permit procurement of the 
vaccines under the Project; and (b) the Additional Agreement has become effective. 
**exclusive of taxes and duties imposed within the territory of the Recipient 
ADB= Asian Development Bank; ADF= Asian Development Fund; UNICEF= United Nations Children’s 
Fund 
Source: ADB estimates 
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8d. Vanuatu 

ALLOCATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF GRANT PROCEEDS 

Number Item 

Total Amount Allocated 
for ADF Financing ($) 

Basis for Withdrawal from the Grant 
Account Category Subcategory 

1. Vaccines* 1,430,000   

1a. Year 3  580,000 68.2 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

1b. Year 4  510,000 60 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

1c. Year 5  340,000 40 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

2. 

Increase to VII 
Creditline, other 
Goods, and 
Consulting 
Services* 

4,500,000  100 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

3. 

Communication 
Materials, 
community 
engagement 
grants, and 
implementation 
& monitoring 
services 

1,930,000  100 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

4. 
Administration 
and Operations 

550,000  100 percent of total expenditures claimed 

5. 
Financing 
charges 

70,000  100 percent of amount due 

6. Unallocated 520,000   

 Total 9,000,000   

 

*subject to the following condition for withdrawals- Notwithstanding any other provision of this Grant 
Agreement, no withdrawals shall be made from the Grant Account to fund the procurement of 
vaccines, the Increase to VII Credit Line, and Goods and Consulting Services associated with 
vaccines until (a) the VII Agreement has been amended, if necessary, to permit procurement of the 
vaccines under the Project; and (b) the Additional Agreement has become effective. 
**exclusive of taxes and duties imposed within the territory of the Recipient 
ADB= Asian Development Bank; ADF= Asian Development Fund; UNICEF= United Nations Children’s 
Fund 
Source: ADB estimates 
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8e. Vanuatu 

ALLOCATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF LOAN PROCEEDS 

Number Item 

Total Amount Allocated 
for ADF Financing 

(USD) 
Basis for Withdrawal from the Loan 

Account Category Subcategory 

1. Vaccines* 2,250,000   

1a. Year 2  2,150,000 100 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

1b. Year 3  100,000 11.8 percent of total expenditures claimed** 

 Total 2,250,000   

 

*subject to the following condition for withdrawals- Notwithstanding any other provision of this Grant 
Agreement, no withdrawals shall be made from the Grant Account to fund the procurement of 
vaccines, the Increase to VII Credit Line, and Goods and Consulting Services associated with 
vaccines until (a) the VII Agreement has been amended, if necessary, to permit procurement of the 
vaccines under the Project; and (b) the Additional Agreement has become effective. 
**exclusive of taxes and duties imposed within the territory of the Recipient 
ADB= Asian Development Bank; ADF= Asian Development Fund; UNICEF= United Nations Children’s 
Fund 
Source: ADB estimates 
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C. Detailed Cost Estimates by Financier 
 

Table 9: Detailed Cost Estimates by Financier, by Country 
($ million) 

9a. Samoa 

    ADB Governmenta   

Expenditure categories Amount 
% Cost 

Category Amount Taxes Total 
% Cost 

Category Total 

A. Investment Cost    
  

  

1. Vaccines    
  

  

1a. Vaccines (Y2) 2.02 86.9% 0.00 0.30 0.30 13.0% 2.32 

1b. Vaccines (Y3) 0.48 69.5% 0.12 0.09 0.21 30.4% 0.70 

1c. Vaccines (Y4) 0.36 52.2% 0.24 0.09 0.33 47.8% 0.70 

1d. Vaccines (Y5) 0.24 34.8% 0.36 0.09 0.45 65.2% 0.70 

2. 
Credit line, medical equipment, assets and 
supplies 

1.01 98.5% 0.00 0.02 0.02 1.5% 1.02 

3. Printing & communication materials, and surveys 0.03 100.0% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.03 

4. Community engagement grants 0.10 100.0% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.10 

5. Regional implementation and monitoring services 1.10 94.5% 0.00 0.06 0.06 5.5% 1.17 

6. UNICEF services 1.19 92.2% 0.00 0.10 0.10 7.8% 1.30 

B. Recurrent costs 

   
  

  

7. Administration and operations^ 0.43 100.0% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.43 

 Subtotal (A + B) 6.97 
 

0.73 0.76 1.48 
 

8.45 

C. Contingencies 0.28 100.0% 0.00  0.00 
 

0.28 

D. Unallocated 0.25 100.0% 0.00  0.00 
 

0.25 

  Total Project Costs 7.50 83.5% 0.73 0.76 1.48 16.5% 8.98 

ADB= Asian Development Bank; UNICEF = United Nations Children’s Fund, Y= year 
Note: Numbers may not sum precisely because of rounding. Inclusive of local taxes and duties. In allocation Table 8a, “Increase to VII credit line, other goods, and 
consulting service” corresponds to the summation of categories 2 & 6 in this table. 
a In addition to $0.73 million provided by the Government of Samoa, and the exemption of taxes and duties under the project of $0.76 million, there will be also be 

in-kind contribution from the government including serviced office space the Integrated Project Management team, which includes all utilities, rates, security and 
associated maintenance costs.  
^Administration and operation costs include $14,375 for audits over the life of the project, as well as printing, communication, and office operational costs 
Source: ADB estimates 
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9b. Tonga 

    ADB Governmenta   

Expenditure categories Amount 
% Cost 

Category Amount Taxes Total 
% Cost 

Category Total 

A. Investment Cost    
  

  

1. Vaccines    
  

  

1a. Vaccines (Y2) 0.78 86.9% 0.00 0.12 0.12 13.0% 0.89 

1b. Vaccines (Y3) 0.23 69.4% 0.06 0.04 0.10 30.5% 0.34 

1c. Vaccines (Y4) 0.18 52.2% 0.12 0.04 0.16 47.8% 0.34 

1d. Vaccines (Y5) 0.12 34.7% 0.18 0.04 0.22 65.3% 0.34 

2. 
Credit line, medical equipment, assets and 
supplies 

0.68 94.5% 0.00 0.04 0.04 5.5% 0.72 

3. Printing & communication materials, and surveys 0.21 100.0% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.21 

4. Community engagement grants 0.02 100.0% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.02 

5. Regional implementation and monitoring services 0.78 92.4% 0.00 0.06 0.06 7.6% 0.85 

6. UNICEF services 0.46 95.0% 0.00 0.02 0.02 5.0% 0.49 

B. Recurrent costs 

   
  

  

7. Administration and operations^ 0.21 100.0% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.21 

 Subtotal (A + B) 3.67 
 

0.35 0.38 0.72 
 

4.39 

C. Contingencies 0.18 100.0% 0.00  0.00 
 

0.18 

D. Unallocated 0.00 100.0% 0.00  0.00 
 

0.00 

  Total Project Costs 3.85 84.1% 0.35 0.38 0.72 15.9% 4.57 

ADB= Asian Development Bank; UNICEF = United Nations Children’s Fund; Y= year 
Note: Numbers may not sum precisely because of rounding. Inclusive of local taxes and duties. In allocation Table 8b, “Increase to VII credit line, other goods, and 
consulting service” corresponds to the summation of categories 2 & 6 in this table. 
a In addition to $0.35 million provided by the Government of Tonga, and the exemption of taxes and duties under the project of $0.38 million, there will be also be in-

kind contribution from the government including serviced office space the Integrated Project Management team, which includes all utilities, rates, security and 
associated maintenance costs.  
^Administration and operation costs include $11,500 for audits over the life of the project, as well as printing, communication, and office operational costs 
Source: ADB estimates 
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9c. Tuvalu 

    ADB Governmenta   

Expenditure categories Amount 
% Cost 

Category Amount Taxes Total 
% Cost 

Category Total 

A. Investment Cost    
  

  

1. Vaccines    
  

  

1a. Vaccines (Y2) 0.12 86.4% 0.00 0.02 0.02 13.0% 0.14 

1b. Vaccines (Y3) 0.03 68.4% 0.01 0.00 0.01 31.1% 0.04 

1c. Vaccines (Y4) 0.02 51.4% 0.01 0.00 0.02 48.1% 0.04 

1d. Vaccines (Y5) 0.01 35.1% 0.02 0.00 0.02 64.3% 0.04 

2. Credit line, medical equipment, assets and supplies 0.14 91.0% 0.00 0.01 0.01 9.0% 0.15 

3. Printing & communication materials, and surveys 0.20 100.0% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.20 

4. Community engagement grants 0.05 100.0% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.05 

5. Regional implementation and monitoring services 0.67 91.2% 0.00 0.06 0.06 8.8% 0.73 

6. UNICEF services 0.48 95.8% 0.00 0.02 0.02 4.2% 0.50 

B. Recurrent costs 

   
  

  

7. Administration and operations^ 0.22 100.0% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.22 

 Subtotal (A + B) 1.94 
 

0.04 0.13 0.17 
 

2.12 

C. Contingencies 0.12 100.0% 0.00  0.00 
 

0.12 

D. Unallocated 0.44 100.0% 0.00  0.00 
 

0.44 

  Total Project Costs 2.50 93.6% 0.04 0.13 0.17 6.4% 2.67 

ADB= Asian Development Bank; UNICEF = United Nations Children’s Fund; Y= year 
Note: Numbers may not sum precisely because of rounding. Inclusive of local taxes and duties. In allocation Table 8c, “Increase to VII credit line, other goods, and 
consulting service” corresponds to the summation of categories 2 & 6 in this table. 
a In addition to $0.04 million provided by the Government of Tuvalu, and the exemption of taxes and duties under the project of $0.13 million, there will be also be 

in-kind contribution from the government including serviced office space the Integrated Project Management team, which includes all utilities, rates, security and 
associated maintenance costs.  
^Administration and operation costs include $14,375 for audits over the life of the project, as well as printing, communication, and office operational costs 
Source: ADB estimates 
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9d. Vanuatu 

    ADB Government   

Expenditure categories ADF 
% Cost  

Category COL 
% Cost  

Category Amount Taxes Total 

% Cost  
Categor

y Total 

A. Investment Cost       
 

  

1. Vaccines       
 

  

1a. Vaccines (Y2) 0.00 0.0% 2.15 86.9% 0.00 0.32 0.32 13.0% 2.47 

1b. Vaccines (Y3) 0.58 59.3% 0.10 10.2% 0.17 0.13 0.30 30.4% 0.98 

1c. Vaccines (Y4) 0.51 52.1% 0.00 0.0% 0.34 0.13 0.47 47.8% 0.98 

1d. Vaccines (Y5) 0.34 34.7% 0.00 0.0% 0.51 0.13 0.64 65.2% 0.98 

2. 
Creditline, medical equipment, assets and 
supplies 3.56 91.2% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.34 0.34 8.8% 3.90 

3. 
Printing & communication materials, and 
surveys 0.31 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.31 

4. Community engagement grants 0.20 100.0% 0.00 100.0% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.20 

5. 
Regional implementation and monitoring 
services 1.42 95.6% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.06 0.06 4.3% 1.49 

6. UNICEF services 0.94 94.3% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.06 0.06 5.6% 1.00 

B. Recurrent costs          

7. Administration and operations^ 0.55 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.55 

 Subtotal (A + B) 8.41  2.25  1.02 1.17 2.19  12.85 

C. Contingencies 0.52 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00  0.00  0.51 

D. Financing charges 0.07 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00  0.00  0.07 

E. Unallocated 0.00 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00  0.00  0.00 

  Total Project Costs 9.00 66.9% 2.25 16.8% 1.02 1.17 2.19 16.3% 13.44 

 
 
 
ADB= Asian Development Bank; UNICEF = United Nations Children’s Fund; Y=year 
Note: Numbers may not sum precisely because of rounding. Inclusive of local taxes and duties. In allocation Table 8e, “Increase to VII credit line and other goods” 
corresponds to category 2 (COL portion only), & 4 in this table. 
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a In addition to $1.02 million provided by the Government of Vanuatu, and the exemption of taxes and duties under the project of $0.97 million, there will be also be 

in-kind contribution from the government including serviced office space the Integrated Project Management team, which includes all utilities, rates, security and 
associated maintenance costs.  
^Administration and operation costs include $14,375 for audits over the life of the project, as well as printing, communication, and office operational costs 
Source: ADB estimates 
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D. Detailed Cost Estimates by Outputs 
 

Table 10: Detailed Cost Estimates by Outputs, by Country 
($ million) 

10a. Samoa 

      Output 1 Output 2 Output 3 

Expenditure categories 
Total 
Cost Amount 

% Cost 
Category Amount 

% Cost 
Category Amount 

% Cost 
Category 

A. Investment Cost        

1. Vaccines        

1a. Vaccines (Y2) 2.32 2.32 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

1b. Vaccines (Y3) 0.70 0.70 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

1c. Vaccines (Y4) 0.70 0.70 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

1d. Vaccines (Y5) 0.70 0.70 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

2. 
Credit line, medical equipment, assets and 
supplies 

1.02 1.02 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

3. 
Printing & communication materials, and 
surveys 

0.03 0.00 0.0% 0.00 .0% 0.03 100.0% 

4. Community engagement grants 0.10 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.10 100.0% 

5. 
Regional implementation and monitoring 
services 

1.17 0.17 14.2% 0.71 60.6% 0.29 25.2% 

6. UNICEF services 1.30 0.02 1.2% 1.28 98.8% 0.00 0.0% 

B. Recurrent costs 

       

7. Administration and operations^ 0.43 0.14 33.3% 0.14 33.3% 0.14 33.3% 

 Subtotal (A + B) 8.45 5.75 67.0% 2.13 26.4% 0.57 6.6% 

C. Contingencies 0.28 0.09 33.3% 0.09 33.3% 0.09 33.3% 

D. Unallocated 0.25 0.08 33.3% 0.08 33.3% 0.08 33.3% 

  Total Project Costs 8.98 5.93 66.0% 2.31 25.7% 0.75 8.3% 

UNICEF= United Nations Children’s Fund, Y=year 
Note: Numbering may not sum precisely because of rounding. Inclusive of local taxes and duties. 
^Administration and operation costs include $14,375 for audits over the life of the project, as well as printing, communication, and office operational costs 
Source: ADB estimates  
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10b. Tonga 

      Output 1 Output 2 Output 3 

Expenditure categories 
Total 
Cost Amount 

% Cost 
Category Amount 

% Cost 
Category Amount 

% Cost 
Category 

A. Investment Cost        

1. Vaccines        

1a. Vaccines (Y2) 0.89 0.89 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

1b. Vaccines (Y3) 0.34 0.34 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

1c. Vaccines (Y4) 0.34 0.34 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

1d. Vaccines (Y5) 0.34 0.34 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

2. 
Credit line, medical equipment, assets and 
supplies 

0.72 0.72 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

3. 
Printing & communication materials, and 
surveys 

0.21 0.00 0.0% 0.15 72.2% 0.06 27.8% 

4. Community engagement grants 0.02 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.02 100.0% 

5. 
Regional implementation and monitoring 
services 

0.85 0.09 10.1% 0.61 72.2% 0.15 17.7% 

6. UNICEF services 0.49 0.04 8.4% 0.45 91.6% 0.00 0.0% 

B. Recurrent costs 

       

7. Administration and operations^ 0.21 0.07 33.3% 0.07 33.3% 0.07 33.3% 

 Subtotal (A + B) 4.39 2.82 64.2% 1.27 29.0% 0.30 6.7% 

C. Contingencies 0.18 0.06 33.3% 0.06 33.3% 0.06 33.3% 

D. Unallocated 0.00 0.00 33.3% 0.00 33.3% 0.00 33.3% 

  Total Project Costs 4.57 2.88 63.0% 1.34 29.2% 0.36 7.8% 

UNICEF= United Nations Children’s Fund, Y=year 
Note: Numbering may not sum precisely because of rounding. Inclusive of local taxes and duties. 
^Administration and operation costs include $11,500 for audits over the life of the project, as well as printing, communication, and office operational costs 
Source: ADB estimates   
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10c. Tuvalu 

      Output 1 Output 2 Output 3 

Expenditure categories 
Total 
Cost Amount 

% Cost 
Category Amount 

% Cost 
Category Amount 

% Cost 
Category 

A. Investment Cost        

1. Vaccines        

1a. Vaccines (Y2) 0.14 0.14 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

1b. Vaccines (Y3) 0.04 0.04 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

1c. Vaccines (Y4) 0.04 0.04 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

1d. Vaccines (Y5) 0.04 0.04 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

2. 
Credit line, medical equipment, assets and 
supplies 

0.15 0.13 83.1% 0.03 16.9% 0.00 0.0% 

3. 
Printing & communication materials, and 
surveys 

0.20 0.00 0.0% 0.10 51.4% 0.10 48.6% 

4. Community engagement grants 0.05 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.05 100.0% 

5. 
Regional implementation and monitoring 
services 

0.73 0.06 8.0% 0.57 77.4% 0.11 14.6% 

6. UNICEF services 0.50 0.03 5.0% 0.48 95.0% 0.00 0.0% 

B. Recurrent costs 

       

7. Administration and operations^ 0.22 0.07 33.3% 0.07 33.3% 0.07 33.3% 

 Subtotal (A + B) 2.11 0.54 25.3% 1.25 59.1% 0.33 15.6% 

C. Contingencies 0.12 0.04 33.3% 0.04 33.3% 0.04 33.3% 

D. Unallocated 0.44 0.15 33.3% 0.15 33.3% 0.15 33.3% 

  Total Project Costs 2.67 0.72 27.0% 1.43 53.7% 0.51 19.3% 

UNICEF= United Nations Children’s Fund, Y=year 
Note: Numbering may not sum precisely because of rounding. Inclusive of local taxes and duties. 
^Administration and operation costs include $14,375 for audits over the life of the project, as well as printing, communication, and office operational costs 
Source: ADB estimates   
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10d. Vanuatu 

      Output 1 Output 2 Output 3 

Expenditure categories 
Total 
Cost Amount 

% Cost 
Category Amount 

% Cost 
Category Amount 

% Cost 
Category 

A. Investment Cost        

1. Vaccines        

1a. Vaccines (Y2) 2.47 2.47 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

1b. Vaccines (Y3) 0.98 0.98 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

1c. Vaccines (Y4) 0.98 0.98 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

1d. Vaccines (Y5) 0.98 0.98 100.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

2. 
Credit line, medical equipment, assets and 
supplies 

3.90 1.71 43.8% 2.19 56.2% 0.00 0.0% 

3. 
Printing & communication materials, and 
surveys 

0.30 0.00 0.0% 0.22 73.6% 0.08 26.4% 

4. Community engagement grants 0.20 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.20 100.0% 

5. 
Regional implementation and monitoring 
services 

1.49 0.25 16.5% 0.82 55.0% 0.42 28.4% 

6. UNICEF services 1.00 0.09 8.8% 0.91 91.2% 0.00 0.0% 

B. Recurrent costs 

       

7. Administration and operations^ 0.55 0.18 33.3% 0.18 33.3% 0.18 33.3% 

 Subtotal (A + B) 12.85 7.63 59.4% 4.33 33.7% 0.89 6.9% 

C. Contingencies 0.51 0.17 33.3% 0.17 33.3% 0.17 33.3% 

D. Financing charges 0.07 0.02 33.3% 0.02 33.3% 0.02 33.3% 

E. Unallocated 0.00 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 0.00 0.0% 

  Total Project Costs 13.44 7.83 58.3% 4.53 33.7% 1.08 8.1% 

UNICEF= United Nations Children’s Fund,Y=year 
Note: Numbering may not sum precisely because of rounding. Inclusive of local taxes and duties. 
^Administration and operation costs include $14,375 for audits over the life of the project, as well as printing, communication, and office operational costs 
Source: ADB estimates
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E. Detailed Cost Estimates by Year 
 

Table 11: Detailed Cost Estimates by Year, by Country 
($ million) 

 
11a. Samoa 

Expenditure categories Total Cost Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

A. Investment Cost       

1. Vaccines       

1a. Vaccines (Y2) 2.32 0.00 2.32 0.00 0.00 0.00 

1b. Vaccines (Y3) 0.70 0.00 0.00 0.70 0.00 0.00 

1c. Vaccines (Y4) 0.70 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.70 0.00 

1d. Vaccines (Y5) 0.70 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.70 

2. 
Credit line, medical equipment, assets and 
supplies 

1.02 1.02 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

3. 
Printing & communication materials, and 
surveys 

0.03 0.03 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

4. Community engagement grants 0.10 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 

5. 
Regional implementation and monitoring 
services 

1.17 0.23 0.23 0.23 0.23 0.23 

6. UNICEF services 1.30 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.26 

B. Recurrent costs 

      

7. Administration and operations^ 0.43 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.09 

 Subtotal (A + B) 8.45 1.65 2.92 1.29 1.29 1.29 

C. Contingencies 0.28 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06 

D. Unallocated 0.25 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 

  Total Project Costs 8.98 1.76 3.02 1.40 1.40 1.40 

UNICEF= United Nations Children’s Fund 
Note: Numbering may not sum precisely because of rounding. Inclusive of local taxes and duties. 
^Administration and operation costs include $14,375 for audits over the life of the project, as well as printing, communication, and office operational costs 
Source: ADB estimates
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11b. Tonga 

Expenditure categories Total Cost Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

A. Investment Cost       

1. Vaccines       

1a. Vaccines (Y2) 0.89 0.00 0.89 0.00 0.00 0.00 

1b. Vaccines (Y3) 0.34 0.00 0.00 0.34 0.00 0.00 

1c. Vaccines (Y4) 0.34 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.34 0.00 

1d. Vaccines (Y5) 0.34 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.34 

2. 
Credit line, medical equipment, 
assets and supplies 

0.72 0.72 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

3. 
Printing & communication 
materials, and surveys 

0.21 0.21 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

4. Community engagement grants 0.02 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

5. 
Regional implementation and 
monitoring services 

0.85 0.17 0.17 0.17 0.17 0.17 

6. UNICEF services 0.49 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 

B. Recurrent costs 

      

7. Administration and operations^ 0.21 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 

 Subtotal (A + B) 4.39 1.24 1.21 0.65 0.65 0.65 

C. Contingencies 0.18 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 

D. Unallocated 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

  Total Project Costs 4.57 1.28 1.24 0.68 0.68 0.68 

UNICEF= United Nations Children’s Fund 
Note: Numbering may not sum precisely because of rounding. Inclusive of local taxes and duties. 
^Administration and operation costs include $11,500 for audits over the life of the project, as well as printing, communication, and office operational costs 
Source: ADB estimates
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11c. Tuvalu 

Expenditure categories Total Cost Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

A. Investment Cost       

1. Vaccines       

1a. Vaccines (Y2) 0.14 0.00 0.14 0.00 0.00 0.00 

1b. Vaccines (Y3) 0.04 0.00 0.00 0.04 0.00 0.00 

1c. Vaccines (Y4) 0.04 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.04 0.00 

1d. Vaccines (Y5) 0.04 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.04 

2. 
Credit line, medical equipment, 
assets and supplies 

0.15 0.15 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

3. 
Printing & communication 
materials, and surveys 

0.20 0.20 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

4. Community engagement grants 0.05 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 

5. 
Regional implementation and 
monitoring services 

0.73 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 

6. UNICEF services 0.50 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 

B. Recurrent costs 

      

7. Administration and operations^ 0.22 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 

 Subtotal (A + B) 2.11 0.66 0.44 0.34 0.34 0.34 

C. Contingencies 0.12 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 

D. Unallocated 0.44 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.09 

  Total Project Costs 2.67 0.77 0.55 0.45 0.45 0.45 

UNICEF= United Nations Children’s Fund 
Note: Numbering may not sum precisely because of rounding. Inclusive of local taxes and duties. 
^Administration and operation costs include $14,375 for audits over the life of the project, as well as printing, communication, and office operational costs 
Source: ADB estimates
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11d. Vanuatu 

Expenditure categories Total Cost Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

A. Investment Cost       

1. Vaccines       

1a. Vaccines (Y2) 2.47 0.00 2.47 0.00 0.00 0.00 

1b. Vaccines (Y3) 0.98 0.00 0.00 0.98 0.00 0.00 

1c. Vaccines (Y4) 0.98 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.98 0.00 

1d. Vaccines (Y5) 0.98 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.98 

2. 
Credit line, medical equipment, assets and 
supplies 

3.90 2.09 0.00 1.81 0.00 0.00 

3. 
Printing & communication materials, and 
surveys 

0.30 0.30 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

4. Community engagement grants 0.20 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 

5. 
Regional implementation and monitoring 
services 

1.49 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 

6. UNICEF services 1.00 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 

B. Recurrent costs 

      

7. Administration and operations^ 0.55 0.11 0.11 0.11 0.11 0.11 

 Subtotal (A + B) 12.85 3.04 3.12 3.44 1.62 1.62 

C. Contingencies 0.51 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 

D. Financing charges 0.07 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 

E. Unallocated 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

 Total Project Costs 13.44 3.16 3.24 3.55 1.74 1.74 

UNICEF= United Nations Children’s Fund 
Note: Numbering may not sum precisely because of rounding. Inclusive of local taxes and duties. 
^Administration and operation costs include $14,375 for audits over the life of the project, as well as printing, communication, and office operational costs 
Source: ADB estimates
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F. Contract and Disbursement S-Curve  
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G. Fund Flow Diagram 
 
41. The various fund flow diagrams are in Figure 4. 

Figure 4: Fund Flow Diagrams, by Country 
 

4a. Samoa  

 
AP= advance account payment; DP= direct payment; INV= invoice; REP= replenishment; WA= withdrawal 
application 
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4b. Tonga 

 

AP= advance account payment; DP= direct payment; INV= invoice; REP= replenishment; WA= withdrawal 

application 
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4c. Tuvalu 

 

 
 
AP= advance account payment; DP= direct payment; INV= invoice; REP= replenishment; WA= withdrawal 
application 
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National Bank of Tuvalu 
 

   

          

   

Ministry of Finance and Economic Development (MFED) 
Tuvalu Development Fund 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Ministry of Health (MoH) 

 

  

         
     

 
 

    

   
 
 
 

Vaccines, Equipment, Consulting Service 
 
 

   

 

Account for 
Government 

Funds 

Advance Account 

for Grant  

(vii) 

(iv) 

(iv) (vi) 

(iii) 

(v) (i) 

Funds Flow 
 
Document Flow 

(ii) 

(ix) 

INV INV 

DP 

REP 

REP WA 

WA 

AP 

AP 
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4d. Vanuatu 

 

 
 
AP= advance account payment; DP= direct payment; INV= invoice; REP= replenishment; WA= withdrawal 
application  

 

 

 
   

 

Asian Development Bank 
 
 

   

 
 
 

        

   
 

Reserve Bank of Vanuatu 
 

   

          

   
Ministry of Finance and Economic Management (MFEM) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ministry of Health (MoH) 
 

  

         
     

 
 

    

   
 
 
 

Vaccines, Equipment, Consulting Service 
 
 

   

 

Account for 
Government 

Funds 

Advance Accounts 
for Loan and Grant  

(vii) 

(iv) 

(iv) (vi) 

(iii) 

(v) (i) 

Funds Flow 
 
Document Flow 

(ii) 

(ix) 

INV INV 

DP 

REP 

REP WA 

WA 

AP 

AP 



 
 

52 
 

V. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
A. Financial Management Assessment  
 
42. The Financial Management Assessment (FMA) for the project was prepared in 
accordance with ADB Technical Guidance Note for financial management. The FMA includes a 
review of accounting and reporting systems, internal and external auditing arrangements, 
fund disbursement procedures, and information systems. The ADB financial management 
assessment questionnaire was used to structure interviews. The FMAs considered the capacity 
of executing and implementing agencies, including funds-flow arrangements, staffing, 
accounting and financial reporting systems, financial information systems, and internal and 
external auditing arrangements. 

 
Samoa  
 
4 3 .  The FMA was conducted in November 2017. Preparation activities included reviewing 
documents, interviewing and discussing issues with counterparts from MOH, M O F  and 
development partners. The assessment also made extensive use of the Public Financial 
Management Performance Report for Samoa in 2014, ADB and WB project completion reports, 
the 2016 International Monetary Fund (IMF) Article IV consultation as well as FMAs for the Samoa 
Agribusiness Support Project and Samoa: Samoa Submarine Cable Project. 
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Table 12: Samoa Summary of Major Risks and Mitigating Measures 

    

Reporting and Monitoring - There 
is some experience at MOH in 
ADB procedures, however 
financial management and staff 
capacity are limited. The World 
Bank 2nd health reform project 
completion report noted capacity 
constraint with individuals 
performing activities beyond their 
areas of expertise, leading to cost 
overruns, poorly synchronized 
inputs, delays in the disbursement 
of funds, and ultimately, 
postponements of project closing.  
There are risks with the integration 
of the NHS with the MOH. This 
could result in additional capacity 
in the case duplicate positions 
need to be consolidated following 
the merger, or the merger may 
entail large disruptions to 
accounting department operations. 

The IPM will set up 
accounting systems, 
practices and 
procedures for the 
project at MOH at the 
start of project 
implementation. The 
IPM will include both a 
finance/procurement 
specialist (international) 
and 
finance/procurement 
officer (national) to 
support MOH  staff on  
project accounting, and 
financial reporting. 
Intensive training of  IPM 
and MOH staff on ADB 
procedures to include 
but not limited to 
financial management, 
disbursement and 
procurement. 
 

ADB 
MOH  
IPM 

Within six months of grant 
effectiveness. 
 
 

MOF currently uses Finance One 
accounting software which was 
noted in the ADB submarine cable 
project FMA as sound.  

Project accounts will be 
maintained separately.  
The project 
finance/procurement 
specialist and 
finance/procurement 
officer will reconcile all 
project records against 
MOF’s records as part 
of monthly reporting 
conforming with 
International Accounting 
Standards. Potential 
currency fluctuations 
also need to be 
monitored through the 
budget. 
 

MOF, MOH, 
IPM 

 
Monthly after 10 months of 
effectiveness. 

Internal control - limited internal 
audit capacity with one staff 
member for the whole of MOH.   

As part of the 
Government’s internal 
control systems, there is 
a pre-audit review by 
the Samoa Audit Office, 
of project transactions.  
The IPM will  involve 
internal audit unit in 
project planning, with 
activities outlined in 
monthly reporting to 
MOH and ADB  

MOH, MOF, 
ADB, IPM 

 Annually 
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ADB = Asian Development Bank, FMA = Financial Management Assessment, IPM= integrated project management, 
MOF = Ministry of Finance, MOH = Ministry of Health, NHS = National Health Service, OAG = Office of the Auditor 
General, PEFA = Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability (self-assessment). 
Source: Consultant’s Assessment 

 

Safeguards over assets The project will procure 
cold chain assets and 
the cost chain registry of 
the MOH will be 
updated . The IPM will 
support the audit of cold 
chain inventory. 
UNICEF will build 
capacity in cold chain 
management and 
maintenance which will 
include regular 
maintenance and repair, 
depreciation, and 
inventory control. 

MOH, IPM, 
UNICEF 

The MOH will perform a cold chain 
asset audit every year to ensure that 
all assets are at their respective 
locations and in working condition. 

Delays in external audit. The 
scope, nature and follow-up of 
external audit received a low rating 
during the 2013 PEFA.  

The project should be 
included in the OAG 
audit schedule and this 
is included as a 
covenant.  The IPM 
together with ADB will 
support the audit 
process to ensure the 
timely preparation of 
financial statements and 
completion of external 
audit to allow the OAG 
sufficient time for review 
and sign off.  
Contingency will be 
provided in the project 
so external audit can be 
undertaken by a private 
firm, if needed. 

MOF, OAG, IPM, 
ADB 

Annually  

The sector coordination group at 
MOH was considered to have 
sufficient capacity to manage the 
project. This capacity could be 
disrupted during the NHS merger. 
There is limited reporting and 
monitoring in MOH with ADB 
projects and capacity to handle 
donor assistance could be 
disrupted during NHS merger 

The IPM public health 
officer  will be embedded 
in the sector coordination 
group at MOH and assist 
with the facilitation of 
coordination meetings 
and monitoring of project 
implementation.  The 
IPM Project manager will 
conduct annual planning 
workshop to assess 
previous year’s 
performance and to set 
targets for annual plans 
with MOH and 
stakeholders. The IPM 
will produce quarterly 
performance reports for 
ADB.  

MOH, IPM Annual planning workshop for the 
project.  
Project will also produce quarterly 
performance reports including monthly 
financial statements reports. 
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44. Project completion projects for ADB projects have generally been positive. The project 
completion report for the Economic Recovery Support Program Subprograms 1 and 224 found the 
program to be successful overall. The loan proceeds were disbursed according to ADB’s 
simplified disbursement procedures and related requirements for program loans.25 No delays or 
corrective actions were taken by the borrower or ADB. Performance was hindered due to with 
fiscal difficulties leading to debt distress and slowdown in the Statement of Expenditures reform 
program. The assessment of MOF’s capabilities at appraisal were noted as reasonably accurate, 
with the exception that its capacity for fiscal and economic policy analysis and formulation was 
overestimated. As there is uncertainty about the MOF’s capacity to administer an advance 
account, a ceiling is proposed for the account. The financial management action plan is provided 
in the above table (Table 12). Overall inherent risk was assessed to be moderate and project risks 
were assessed to be moderate. The overall combined risk was also assessed to be moderate. 
 

Tonga 
 
45. The FMA was undertaken during a country visit in October 2017. Preparation activities 
included reviewing documents, a n d  interviewing and discussing issues with counterparts 
from MOH, MOF and National Planning, and development partners. The assessment also made 
use of the Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability (PEFA) self-assessment for 2015, ADB 
and other donor project completion reports, the 2016 IMF Article IV consultation as well as the 
FMA for the ADB Outer Island Renewable Energy Project. Previous ADB project FMAs have 
noted that government financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practice, which follows the International Public-Sector Accounting Standards and the 
International Financial Reporting Standards. The 2010 PEFA indicated that overall, expenditure 
controls for salaries and non-salary expenditures are operating effectively. As there is uncertainty 
about the MOF’s capacity to administer an advance account, a ceiling is proposed for the account. 
Internal audit is operational and has a strengthened framework since the Public Audit Act 2007 
was introduced. Budget documentation and fiscal information are generally comprehensive and 
clear about underlying fiscal operations.  

46. Many of the projects are being executed by MFNP. This project will be similarly executed 
by this ministry but implemented by the MOH. The review of the health sector financial 
management under the first Australian Tonga Health Systems Support Program (THSSP1), noted 
the government financial Sun System can separate out government expenditure from donor 
expenditure against the same overall budget structure, so that expenditure can be analyzed for 
each sub-program and activities. Strengthening was noted in the areas of developing a Financial 
Procedures manual to supplement existing Treasury Instructions, and roll-out and training in full 
functionality of the Sun system to MOH. Based on the FMA assessment for this project, key 
financial management risks identified are: (i) MOH staff capacity for ADB reporting and financial 
management is limited, (ii) there is limited internal audit function in the MOH, (iii) external audit is 
carried out in a timely manner by the Office of the Auditor General (OAG), and (iv) the valuation, 
completeness and existence of property, plant and equipment in the government financial 
statement are not complete. The overall inherent risk was assessed to be moderate and project 
risks were assessed to be moderate. The overall combined risk was also assessed to be 
moderate (see Table 13 for more details). 

 
 

                                                
24  ADB. 2014. Samoa: Economic Recovery Support Program—Subprograms 1 and 2, Completion Report, May 2014. 
25  ADB. 1998. Simplification of Disbursement Procedures and Related Requirements for Program Loans. Manila. 
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Table 13: Tonga: Summary of Major Risks and Mitigating Measures 

Weakness Mitigating Action Responsibility Timeframe 

MOH staff capacity for 
ADB reporting and 
financial management is 
limited 

The IPM will set up 
accounting systems, 
practices and procedures 
for the project at MOH at 
the start of project 
implementation. The IPM 
will include both a 
finance/procurement 
specialist (international) 
and finance/procurement 
officer (national) to support 
MOH  staff on  project 
accounting. Intensive 
training of  IPM and MOH 
staff on ADB procedures 
to include but not limited to 
financial management, 
disbursement and 
procurement. 

ADB 
IPM 
MOH  

Within six months of grant 
effectiveness. 
 

Limited internal audit 
function in the MOH 

The IPM will  involve 
internal audit unit in project 
planning, with activities 
outlined in monthly 
reporting to MOH and ADB.  

MOH, MFNP, 
IPM, ADB 

Monthly 

External audit is carried out 
in a timely manner by the 
OAG. There was 
insufficient external audit of 
DFAT THSSP1. Funding 
for annual external audit 
was earmarked from the 
THSSP2 budget. 

The project accounts will 
be audited by the OAG . 
Funds for  audit services 
will be provided under the 
project).   Project accounts 
with detailed supporting 
documentation and 
reconciliations are to be 
produced immediately after 
the end of each fiscal year 
to enable external auditors 
to start their audit earlier 
and have it completed 
within the 6 months 
required period. 

OAG,IPM, MOH Annual project account. 

The valuation, 
completeness and 
existence of property, plant 
and equipment in the 
government financial 
statement are not 
complete. Key areas for 
improvement are outlined 
in MOH Corporate Plan 

The project will procure 
cold chain assets and the 
cost chain registry of the 
MOH will be updated . The 
IPM will support the audit of 
cold chain inventory. 
UNICEF will build capacity 
in cold chain management 
and maintenance which will 
include regular 
maintenance and repair, 
depreciation, and inventory 
control. 

MOH, IPM,  
UNICEF 

The MOH will perform a cold chain 
asset audit every year to ensure that all 
assets are at their respective locations 
and in working condition  

ADB = Asian Development Bank, DFAT = Australian Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, FMA = Financial 
Management Assessment, IPM= integrated project management, MFNP = Ministry of Finance and National Planning, 
MOF = Ministry of Finance, MOH = Ministry of Health, OAG = Office of the Auditor General, THSSP = Tonga Health 
Systems Support Program. 
Source: Consultant’s Assessment. 
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Tuvalu 
 
47. The FMA was undertaken during a country-visit in October 2017. Preparation activities 
included reviewing documents, interviewing and discussing issues with counterparts from MOH, 
MOF and Economic Development, the ADB Outer Island Maritime Infrastructure Project PMU and 
development partners. The assessment also made extensive use of the Public Financial 
Management Performance Report for Tuvalu in 2011, ADB project completion reports, the 2016 
IMF Article IV consultation as well as the FMA for the ADB Outer Island Maritime Infrastructure 
Project (RRP TUV 48484). 

48. In the previous ADB investment project26, the following weaknesses were observed. (a) 
delay in replenishing the advance account, (b) poor bookkeeping and miss-handling of supporting 
documents in association with staff movements, (c) delayed release of the government 
counterpart funds. Based on this FMA assessment, the key financial management risks identified 
are: (i) financial management and staff capacity are low. (ii) incomplete auditing of the project 
account, (iii) audit is carried out in a timely manner by the OAG Internal control (iv) unreconciled 
donors accounts aggregated under one bank account which carries all externally funded 
contributions to the government, and (v) the valuation, completeness and existence of property, 
plant and equipment in the government financial statement are not complete. The overall inherent 
risk was assessed to be substantial and project risks were assessed to be substantial. The overall 
combined risk was also assessed to be substantial (see Table 14 for more details). A separate 
bank account should be established in the National Bank of Tuvalu, separate from the Tuvalu 
Development Fund Bank Account for the receipt of ADB  project funds. As there is uncertainty 
about the MOF’s capacity to administer an advance account, a ceiling is proposed for the account. 

 
 

  

                                                
26  ADB. 2011. Completion Report: Maritime Training Project in Tuvalu. Manila. 
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Table 14: Tuvalu: Summary of Major Risks and Mitigating Measures 

Weakness Mitigating Action Responsibility Timeframe 

Financial management 
and staff capacity are 
low. In the previous ADB 
investment project, the 
following weaknesses 
were observed. (i) delay 
in replenishing the 
advance account, (ii) 
poor bookkeeping and 
miss-handling of 
supporting documents in 
association with staff 
movements, (iii) delayed 
release of the 
government counterpart 
funds, and (iv) 
incomplete auditing of 
the project account. 

The IPM will set up 
accounting systems, 
practices and procedures 
for the project at MOH at 
the start of project 
implementation. The IPM 
will include both a 
finance/procurement 
specialist (international) 
and finance/procurement 
officer (national) to 
support MOH  staff on  
project accounting. 
Intensive training of  IPM 
and MOH staff on ADB 
procedures to include but 
not limited to financial 
management, 
disbursement and 
procurement. 

 

 
MOH, IPM, ADB 

Within six months of grant 
effectiveness 
 

External Audit - audit 
is carried out in a 
timely manner by the 
OAG 

The project accounts 
will be audited by the 
OAG. The OAG, will 
include project audit in 
work plan. Annual 
project accounts with 
detailed supporting 
documentation and 
reconciliations are to be 
produced immediately 
after the end of each 
fiscal year to enable 
external auditors to 
complete audit within 
the six months required 
period. 

MOH, OAG, IPM Annually 

Internal control - 
internal audit function 
is being established 

The IPM will  involve 
internal audit unit in 
project planning, with 
activities outlined in 
monthly reporting to 
MOH and ADB 

 

MOH, IPM  Quarterly 

 

Unreconciled donors 
accounts aggregated 
under one bank account 
which carries all 
externally funded 
contributions to the 
government 

A separate advance 
account will be 
established under the 
Central Bank of Tuvalu 
for the receipt of ADB 
project funds. The 
project 
finance/procurement 
specialist and 
finance/procurement 
officer will conduct 
monthly budgeting and 

MOH, IPM Monthly 
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reconciliation activities. 
 

The valuation, 
completeness and 
existence of property, 
plant and equipment in 
the government financial 
statement are not 
complete. It has been 
reported that stocktaking 
and reconciliation is now 
taking place annually on 
property, plant and 
equipment 

MOH will ensure that 
the project cold chain 
assets will be included 
in the inventory and 
books of MOH post-
completion. The IPM 
will conduct biannual 
reconciliations between 
the financial system 
and the asset register 
system. 
 

MOH, IPM The MOH will perform a cold 
chain asset audit every year 
to ensure that all assets are 
at their respective locations 
and in working condition . 

ADB = Asian Development Bank, IPM= integrated project management, MOH = Ministry of Health, OAG = Office of 
the Auditor General. 
Source: Consultant’s Assessment. 

 
 

Vanuatu 
 
49. This FMA assessment was prepared during the country visit to Vanuatu in October 2017. 
Preparation activities included reviewing documents, interviewing and discussing issues with 
counterparts from the Prime Minister’s Office, MOF and Economic Management, MOH, ADB 
Resident Mission and development partners. FMAs have been undertaken for the Port Vila Urban 
Development Project (Loan and/or Grant Number(s): 2832-VAN, G0275-VAN, G0276-VAN), and 
Cyclone Pam Road Reconstruction Project, Additional Financing (Project Number: 49319-002) 
projects. These FMAs have been used in this assessment. The FMA also made extensive use of 
the assessment report based on the PEFA assessment developed in 2013, the IMF 2016 Article 
IV consultation and project completion reports from selected ADB projects in Vanuatu. 

50. FMAs have noted that the Vanuatu Project Management Unit (VPMU)27 has established 
financial management procedures to meet the requirements of Vanuatu’s Financial Management 
Act and donor requirements. The volume of financial transactions in current projects increased in 
2016 as implementation has moved from design to construction phases. This was noted as 
resulting in delays in processing contractor claims and delayed preparation of documentation 
required for the external audit. VPMU was noted as recruiting a second financial management 
assistant to increase its financial management capacity. It should be noted that many 
development projects have been administrated through the VPMU. The MOH on the other hand 
has no experience with ADB projects, although the entity is familiar with United Nations (UN) and 
Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria procedures. The overall inherent risk was 
assessed to be high and project risks were assessed to be high, leading to an overall combined 
risk of high (see Table 15 for more details). 

 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
27  ADB 2017 note that the Vanuatu Program Management Unit. VPMU was created as an entity within the Prime 

Minister's Portfolio; its steering committee has dual reporting responsibilities to the Prime Minister's Office and the 
Ministry of Finance and Economic Management. 
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Table 15: Vanuatu: Summary of Major Risks and Mitigating Measures 
 

Weakness Mitigating Action Responsibility Timeframe 

Financial 
management and 
staff capacity are 
low with unverified 
disbursements in 
donor supported 
projects 

The IPM will set up accounting 
systems, practices and 
procedures for the project at 
MOH at the start of project 
implementation. The IPM will 
include both a 
finance/procurement specialist 
(international) and 
finance/procurement officer 
(national) to support MOH  
staff on  project accounting. 
Intensive training of  IPM and 
MOH staff on ADB procedures 
to include but not limited to 
financial management, 
disbursement and 
procurement. 

 

ADB 

MOH 
IPM 

Within six months of loan/grant 
effectiveness. 
 

Internal control - 
Limited internal 
audit function in 
the MOH 

The IPM will  involve internal 
audit unit in project planning, 
with activities outlined in 
monthly reporting to MOH 
and ADB 
 

MOH, OAG, MOF, 
IPM, ADB 

Within ten  months of grant/loan 
effectiveness. 

Asset Register 
requires development 
for comprehensive 
inventory.  

The project will procure cold 
chain assets and the cost chain 
registry of the MOH will be 
updated. The IPM will support 
the audit of cold chain inventory. 
UNICEF will build capacity in 
cold chain management and 
maintenance which will include 
regular maintenance and repair, 
depreciation, and inventory 
control. 
 

MOH, IPM, 
UNICEF 

The MOH will perform a cold 
chain asset audit every year to 
ensure that all assets are at 
their respective locations and in 
working condition  

External Audit - Audit 
is not carried out by 
the Supreme Audit 
Institution on a timely 
basis 

OAG include project in 
annual work plan. Annual 
unaudited reports will be 
provided within 45 days of 
the close of each financial 
year and audited annual 
reports will be submitted 
within five months after the 
close of each financial year. 

OAG, IPM Annually 

Reporting and 
Monitoring not 
undertaken in timely 
fashion and in line 
with ADB 
requirements 

The IPM Project manager 
and public health officer will 
facilitate multi-year planning 
to ensure that all activities 
are effectively implemented, 
and funds made available on 
time. The IPM will 
undertake ADB reporting 
which includes 
identification of 

MOH, IPM Annual planning workshop for the 
project. The project manager  will also 
produce quarterly performance reports 
including monthly financial statements 
reports. 
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Weakness Mitigating Action Responsibility Timeframe 

problems/issues 
encountered and measures 
adopted by the project to 
address the problem/issues. 

ADB = Asian Development Bank, IPM= integrated project management, MOH = Ministry of Health, MOF= Ministry of 
Finance, OAG = Office of the Auditor General. 
Source: Consultant’s Assessment. 

 
51. A designated advance account will be opened at the Central Bank of Vanuatu for this 
project. It was noted in previous FMAs that MOF has extensive experience in the financial 
management of donor projects in Vanuatu.28 As there is uncertainty about the MOF’s capacity to 
administer an advance account, a ceiling is proposed for the account. The advance account will 
be used for relatively small disbursements related to local operations. Most disbursements will be 
made through direct payment to suppliers, contractors and consultants. 

52. Financial management across the four countries under the project will be supported by the 
regional combined finance/procurement specialist and each country will have a 
finance/procurement officer embedded in MOH as part of the IPM. Together the 
finance/procurement specialist and finance/procurement officer will support the MOH to  
(i) establishing and maintaining separate project accounts; (ii) establishing accounting systems, 
practices and procedures for the project; (iii) maintaining proper internal controls within the financial 
operations of the project, including for bank accounts and cash advances, if applicable;  (iv) 
managing and administering all financial transactions under the project; (v) obtaining approval for 
project expenditures and preparing withdrawal applications; (vi) generating project financial 
statements and other reports including but not limited to progress reports and a project completion 
report, in  a timely manner; (vii) strengthening the internal audit function by involving internal audit 
unit in project planning; (viii) having the project financial statements audited by the external auditor 
in a timely manner; (ix) support audit of cold chain inventory and other assets procured under the 
project at MOH; (x) developing the financial management capacity of counterparts, by providing 
training on ADB procedures including but not limited to withdrawal and disbursement procedures, 
and financial management and reporting best practices; (xi) include vaccine procurement to be 
incorporated in medium term expenditure frameworks and (xii) complete related project 
management activities, as necessary to implement the project successfully and comply with ADB 
policies and guidelines. The TORs for the finance/procurement specialist and finance/procurement 
officer will include activities such as the evaluation of national financial systems and operating 
procedures for asset registration and custody, accounting policies, internal financial control – 
including authorizations and transaction recording accuracy with the government internal control 
officer. This includes ensuring supporting documents and records are retained. The 
finance/procurement specialist and finance/procurement officers will have a background in 
accounting (see Appendix 3 for detailed terms of reference). 

UNICEF 
 
53. The VII is a guarantee fund to enhance the ability of countries to procure adequate 
quantities of vaccines. The current VII agreement between Pacific countries and UNICEF is valid 
until 31 December 2020. Procurement is managed through UNICEF's Supply Division which is 
mandated to provide purchasing and dispatching services under UNICEF Financial Regulations 

                                                
28 World Bank. 2015. Vanuatu Aviation Investment Project (P154149), PAD, April 2015 (Report No.: PAD1324). 
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5.2 and Financial Rules 105.5 to 105.8. WHO prequalification criteria form the basis for the quality 
assessment of the procured products.  

54. Each participating country is granted permission to make purchases against the 
Guarantee Fund up to a limit set by UNICEF based on vaccine forecasts. The MOF provides a 
Letter of Guarantee for the payment of the supplies and services. Upon subscription, an Initiative 
Plan, consisting of: supply forecast based on the UNICEF Annual Forecasting Exercise29 and 
budget for the entire duration of the Agreement, the currency of payment, the Guarantee Fund 
ceiling proposal, and the Local Currency Absorption Plan is agreed. UNICEF is responsible for 
providing necessary guidance, documentation and technical assistance to support the 
Government in the demand planning and forecasting process for the vaccines, immunization 
devices and cold chain equipment.  

55. The Government agrees to pay UNICEF for supply costs, insurance, freight and clearance 
to the regional warehouse. The final invoice includes the cost of supplies, transportation and a 
portion of all the operating and administrative costs due to operational transactions and 
management of regional warehouse. UNICEF will not process any request for procurement for 
countries with outstanding UNICEF invoices. UNICEF is liable for executing procurement services 
requests with reasonable diligence. Beyond this commitment, UNICEF does not assume liability 
associated with delivery delay, loss or damage, value, freedom from fault or infringement of supplies, 
product quality, efficiency, characteristics, suitability or usefulness, and third-party services.  

56. Accounting Policies and Procedures. United Nations system organizations, including 
UNICEF, had prepared their financial reporting in accordance with United Nations Systems 
Accounting Standards since 1993. Since January 1, 2012, UNICEF adopted International Public-
Sector Accounting Standards. Financial reporting includes the statement of financial position 
(statement I); the statement of financial performance (statement II); the statement of changes in 
net assets (statement III); the statement of cash flow (statement IV); the statement of comparison 
of budget to actual amounts (statement V); and the notes to the financial statements.  

57. Under Resolution 74 (I) of 7 December 1946, the General Assembly created the United 
Nations Board of Auditors (UNBoA) to audit the accounts of the United Nations organization and 
its funds and programs. UNICEF is subject to external audit exclusively by the UNBoA in 
accordance with the UNICEF Financial Regulations using its own risk model and audit plan. While 
the UNBoA is the independent external auditor of UNICEF, the Office of Internal Audit and 
Investigations is the internal auditor. Office of Internal Audit and Investigations operates with full 
transparency to the UNBoA. UNICEF has an established Information Disclosure Policy that 
outlines explicitly its commitment to making information about programs and operations available 
to the public. UNICEF became signatory to the International Aid Transparency Initiative in 2012 
and was ranked 3 out of 46 organizations in 2016.30 31 

  

                                                
29  Based on historical orders compared to forecasted supplies and review any difference. During the UNICEF Annual 

Forecasting Exercise, the Government shall complete and submit to UNICEF the forecast spreadsheets designated 
for vaccines, immunization devices, cold chain equipment and other supplies on timely basis as requested by 
UNICEF 

30  United Nations Children’s Fund. 2016. Transparency and Accountability: Overview. 
https://www.unicef.org/transparency/ 

31  United Nations Children’s Fund. 2012. Public Partnerships: Policies and Issues. 
https://www.unicef.org/publicpartnerships/66662_66877.html 
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B. Disbursement 
 
Disbursement Arrangements for ADB Funds 
 
58. The governments have agreed with ADB on certain covenants for the project, which are 
set forth in the grant and loan agreements. The amendments and/or the signing of the Agreements 
with UNICEF will be a condition to disbursement of grant and loan proceeds for vaccines, medical 
equipment, VII credit-line and UNICEF services. The grant and loan proceeds will be disbursed 
in accordance with ADB’s Loan Disbursement Handbook32 (2017) and detailed arrangements 
agreed upon between the respective governments and ADB. Online training for project staff on 
disbursement policies and procedures is available.33 IPM and MOH staff will be encouraged to 
avail of this training to help ensure efficient disbursement and fiduciary control.  

59. Direct payment procedures. Direct payment procedures will generally be used for 
contracts for the supply of vaccines and equipment and for consulting services. This will include 
payments to UNICEF for the procurement of vaccines, cold chain equipment, VII payments, cold 
chain surveys and trainings. Direct payment will also be used for procurement of medical 
equipment. The IPM finance/procurement specialist and finance/procurement officer will be 
responsible for undertaking disbursement projections, preparing withdrawal applications, 
requesting counterpart budgetary allocations and preparing supporting documentation. The MOF 
will be responsible for uploading the signed withdrawal applications on ADB’s Client Portal for 
Disbursements System or forwarding hardcopies to ADB, for payment.  

60. Advance account. Five advance accounts (1 for ADB grant in Samoa, 1 for ADB grant in 
Tonga, 1 for ADB grant in Tuvalu, 1 for ADB grant in Vanuatu and 1 for ADB loan in Vanuatu) will 
be established by the MOFs in Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu at respective central banks 
for incoming transfers of ADB funds. The currency of all 5 advance accounts will be US dollars. 
Advance accounts will generally be used for financing small activities including those associated 
with outreach and immunization surveys (transportation, per diems, accommodation), small-scale 
medical equipment, small scale community engagement and project administration and 
communication.  Accounting systems in each country can process replenishments and 
liquidations separately according to funding source. The advance accounts are to be used 
exclusively for ADB’s share of eligible expenditures. The ceiling of each advance account is the 
estimated expenditures to be financed through the respective advance account for the 
forthcoming 6 months of project implementation, or $200,000 for Samoa and Tonga, and 
$100,000 for Tuvalu and Vanuatu, whichever is lower. The MOF of Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and 
Vanuatu as the representative of the recipient will authorize financing into the advance accounts. 
The MOH of Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu are responsible for the administration of the 
advance accounts. Monthly financial reports will be prepared and shared with ADB including both 
the reconciliation of project cost categories with ADB systems and details of expenditures under 
the advance accounts. 

61. Before the submission of the first withdrawal application, the MOF of Samoa, Tonga, 
Tuvalu and Vanuatu will submit to ADB sufficient evidence of the authority of the person(s) who 
will sign the withdrawal applications on behalf of the Government, together with the authenticated 
specimen signatures of each authorized person. The minimum value per withdrawal application 
is set in accordance with the Loan Disbursement Handbook (2017, as amended from time to 

                                                
32  There are four types of disbursement procedures under the Loan Disbursement Handbook. These are (a) Direct 

payment procedure; (b) Commitment procedure; (c) Reimbursement procedure; and (d) advance fund procedure. 
33  Disbursement eLearning. http://wpqr4.adb.org/disbursement_elearning  

http://wpqr4.adb.org/disbursement_elearning


 
 

64 
 

time). Individual payments below this amount should be paid (i) by the executing agency and 
subsequently claimed to ADB through reimbursement, or (ii) through the advance fund procedure, 
unless otherwise accepted by ADB. The government should ensure sufficient category and contract 

balances before requesting disbursements.  Use of ADB’s Client Portal for Disbursements (CPD)34 
system is encouraged for submission of withdrawal applications to ADB.  

62. The MOH of Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu through the IPM should submit to ADB 
annual contract awards and disbursement projections at least a month before the start of each 
calendar year. MOH is responsible for (i) collecting supporting documents, (ii) preparing and 
sending withdrawal applications to ADB, and (iii) maintaining separate accounts for the project.  

63. Upon demonstration of acceptable financial management by the MOF (equivalent in each 
country) and MOH, the governments may request ADB to allow use of the statement of 
expenditures (“SOE”) procedure for reimbursement of eligible expenditures and liquidation of 
advance account expenses.  

 
C. Accounting 
 
64. The MOF will maintain, or cause to be maintained, separate books and records by funding 
source for all expenditures incurred on the project following government’s financial regulations. 
The MOF will prepare project financial statements in accordance with the government's 
accounting laws and regulations which are consistent with international accounting principles and 
practices. 

 
D.  Auditing and Public Disclosure 
 
65. The MOF will cause the detailed project financial statements to be audited in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing and Government’s regulations, by an independent 
auditor acceptable to ADB.35 The audited project financial statements together with the auditor’s 
opinion will be presented in the English language to ADB within six months from the end of the 
fiscal year by the executing agency. 

66. The audit report36 for the project financial statements will include a management letter and 
auditor’s opinions,37 which cover whether the project financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, or give a true and fair view of the project’s financial position, its financial 
performance and cash flows, and specific additional auditor’s opinions on use of loan/grant 
proceeds – to confirm whether the borrower or executing agency has utilized the proceeds of the 
loan/grant only for the purposes of the project; and compliance with financial covenants (where 

                                                
34 The CPD facilitates online submission of WA to ADB, resulting in faster disbursement. The forms to be completed 

by the Recipient are available online at https://www.adb.org/documents/client-portal-disbursements-guide.     
35  The auditor will verify that the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, International Public Sector 
Accounting Standard promulgated by the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board, or national 
equivalents 

36  ADB. 2015. Project Financial Reporting and Auditing, March 2015 
37  When forming an opinion and reporting on the project financial statements, the auditor shall apply the requirements 

of ISA 700 “Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements”15 for a clean opinion, or ISA 705 
“Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor’s Report”16 for a modified opinion 

https://www.adb.org/documents/client-portal-disbursements-guide
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applicable) – to confirm the level of compliance for each financial covenant contained in the legal 
agreements for the project. 

67. Compliance with financial reporting and auditing requirements will be monitored by review 
missions and during normal program supervision, and followed up regularly with all concerned, 
including the external auditor. The governments and EAs will be made aware of ADB’s approach 
to delayed submission, and the requirements for satisfactory and acceptable quality of the audited 
project financial statements. ADB reserves the right to require a change in the auditor (in a manner 
consistent with the constitution of the borrower), or for additional support to be provided to the 
auditor, if the audits required are not conducted in a manner satisfactory to ADB, or if the audits 
are substantially delayed. ADB reserves the right to verify the project's financial accounts to 
confirm that the share of ADB’s financing is used in accordance with ADB’s policies and 
procedures. 

68. Public disclosure of the audited project financial statements, including the auditor’s opinion 
on the project financial statements, will be guided by ADB’s Public Communications Policy 201138 
which requires posting on its website. Only the auditor’s opinion on the audited project financial 
statements, and the audited project financial statements and associated notes will be disclosed.  

 
  

VI. PROCUREMENT AND CONSULTING SERVICES 
 
 
A. Procurement of Goods, Works, and Consulting Services  
 
69. UNICEF has existing agreements in place with Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu for 
the provision of procurement services supporting the VII.  These agreements cover the provision 
of vaccines and associated goods, including cold chain equipment.  UNICEF is a leading agency 
for vaccine procurement purchasing over $1.6bn of vaccines in 2016.39  Expanding on this service 
provision to procure the vaccines, WHO pre-qualified cold chain equipment and associated 
services required under this project, via direct contracting, is the most appropriate way of 
procuring these goods and associated services.  Direct contracting of UNICEF will provide  the 
following benefits: i) use of a modality of sourcing vaccines that is already successfully operating 
in each country; ii) consolidation of orders with current country vaccine procurement thereby 
increasing the sustainability of the initiative; iii) robust quality assurance through global vaccine 
quality standards observed by UNICEF; and iv) economies of scale achieved through the bulk 
procurement of vaccines and cold chain equipment by UNICEF.  Procurement directly by UNICEF 
on ADB funded projects, using their Supply Manual and Human Resources Manual, is permitted 
by ADB.40 All procurement of goods and works which does not occur through UNICEF will be 

                                                
38  ADB. 2011. Public Communications Policy. Paragraph 97(iv) and/or 97(v). 
39 https://www.unicef.org/supply/index_immunization.html 
40 ADB. 2010. Strengthening the partnership between the Asian Development Bank and the United Nations Children’s 

Fund: Procurement Arrangements. Manila. Under this Board-approved paper, ADB agrees to the use of UNICEF’s 
Supply Manual and UNICEF’s Human Resources Manual for the procurement of associated goods, equipment, and 
services (including consulting services); and the procurement of goods, equipment, and services in a nonmember 
country or the procurement of goods, equipment, and services produced in a nonmember country. 
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undertaken in accordance with ADB’s Procurement Guidelines (2015, as amended from time to 
time). 

70. Shopping will be used for all other contracts for procurement of equipment worth less than 
$300,000. 

71. All recruitment of consultants and civil society organization (CSO) which does not occur 
through UNICEF will be undertaken according to ADB’s Guidelines on the Use of Consultants 
(2013, as amended from time to time).  The IPM firm will engage national and international 
consultants to support the implementation of the project under MOH.  In order to maximize the 
efficiencies of scale, knowledge sharing, and lessons learned across the regional project, the 
engagement of a single firm is expected.  ADB has been delegated responsibility by each of the 
four EAs for certain aspects of the selection of the IPM as further elaborated in the Matrix of 
Responsibilities for joint Consultant Recruitment with ADB. A single request for proposal based 
on a full technical proposal and using (QCBS 90:10) with be released with four individual lots - 
one per country – through ADB’s Consultant Management System (CMS). The EA’s have 
committed to accepting ADB’s selection of an IPM firm following the recruitment process.  Each 
EA will negotiate and sign a separate contract with the IPM firm covering the activities in their 
country. 

C. Procurement Plan 
 
72. An 18-month procurement plan by country indicating threshold and review procedures, 
goods and consulting service contract packages is included in Appendix 4.  
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VII. SAFEGUARDS 
 
73. Involuntary Resettlement, Indigenous Peoples and Environment. The project is 
categorized as C for involuntary resettlement, indigenous peoples and environment. There will be 
minor refurbishing of existing cold chain storage facilities in Samoa, specifically a minor insulation 
repair to the roof. The land is owned by the government. There will be no physical and economic 
displacement as a result of the refurbishments. No distinct and vulnerable group of Indigenous 
Peoples as defined by ADB SPS will be affected in all project countries. The Project will implement 
the vaccine program in accordance national laws and regulations on environment, health and 
safety with particular attention on occupational health & safety and waste management. The IPM 
will be requested to actively monitor and report all related occupational health & safety incidents. 

74. Prohibited investment activities. Pursuant to ADB’s Safeguard Policy Statement 
(2009), ADB funds may not be applied to the activities described on the ADB Prohibited 
Investment Activities List set forth at Appendix 5 of the Safeguard Policy Statement (2009).  

 
VIII.  GENDER AND SOCIAL DIMENSIONS 

 
75. The ADB gender mainstreaming classification of the project is ‘gender equity’. The project 
will introduce the HPV vaccine in the four countries to prevent the incidence of cervical cancer, 
which is one of the leading causes of cancer among women in the Pacific. Cervical cancer impacts 
poverty and gender equity and carries significant economic and social costs for the affected 
woman, her family and society. The project will also contribute to reducing the equity gaps in the 
utilization of existing childhood immunizations especially in reaching remote, rural and outer island 
children. 

76. A Gender Action Plan (GAP) has been developed for each of the four countries 
(Appendix 5) and a consolidated GAP for the project is presented in Table 16. The gender action 
plan activities support the overall project outcome of increasing HPV vaccine coverage in females 
age 9-14 years, and PCV, RV vaccines in birth cohorts of both sexes across the four countries. 
Other targets include gender responsive micro-plans and guidelines for the new vaccines; training 
of at least 60% female health providers on new vaccine introduction and management; gender-
responsive communication and community mobilization strategies; health promotion 
dissemination activities with gender equity considerations on adolescent reproductive health and 
public health with at least 50% women participation; and reporting of sex-disaggregated 
immunization data in national reports. 

Table 16: Project Gender Action Plan 
Outputs Activities and Performance Targets Timeframe 

 Output 1: 
Regional 
vaccines 
procurem
ent 
strengthe
ned  

 
 
 

• Buffer stock created and maintained for HPV vaccine, PCV 
and RV vaccine for SAM, TON, TUV and VAN each year from 
2020-2023 (equivalent to two months of doses for each 
country). (Baseline 2018: 0.) 

• Gender-responsive national microplanning and procurement 
forecasting capacity building for PCV and RV vaccine in 
SAM, TON, TUV and VAN developed (Baseline 2018: 0). 

Q3 2019–Q1 2023 
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Outputs Activities and Performance Targets Timeframe 

Output 2: 
Health 
systems 
strengthened 

• National immunization policies, guidelines and manuals 
updated with specific gender consideration and provisions 
including reporting of adverse events to both sexes in SAM, 
TON, TUV and VAN (Baseline 2018: N/A). 

• Less than 10% national stock-outs for HPV vaccine, PCV and 
RV vaccine in SAM, TON, TUV and VAN (Baseline 2018: 0). 

• 90% of the national cold chain in SAM, TON, TUV and VAN is 
strengthened and meeting the WHO/UNICEF Performance, 
Quality and Safety procurement recommendation. (Baseline 
2018: SAM: 44%, TON: 57%, TUV: 33%, and VAN: 78%). 

• At least 90% of functioning health facilities in SAM, TON, 
TUV and VAN with socially inclusive and gender-responsive 
micro-plans that includes HPV vaccine, PCV and RV vaccine 
for routine outreach by 2022. (Baseline 2018:0). 

• At least 50% health workers trained in vaccine introduction 
and management are female in SAM, TON, TUV and VAN. 
(Baseline 2018:0). 

• In-service training related to the introduction of HPV vaccine, 
PCV and RV vaccine in SAM, TON, TUV and VAN includes a 
module on (i) confidentiality and respectful care to assist in 
cultural acceptability of cervical cancer screening and (ii) 
communication skills and counselling including how to talk 
about reproductive health to women and men and how to 
encourage male involvement in family health (Baseline 2018: 
0). 

• Report of sex-disaggregated immunization data in annual 
national reports for SAM, TON, TUV and VAN (Baseline 
2018: None). 

• Updates child health cards for both male and female in SAM, 
TON, TUV and VAN include PCV and RV by 2021 (Baseline 
2018: 0). 

• Training of MOH on gender-inclusive health awareness in 
SAM, TON, TUV and VAN by 2021 (Baseline 2018: 0). 

Q3 2019–Q4 2023 

Output 3: 
Community 
mobilized 

• The communication and community mobilization strategy 
embrace a partnership model in SAM, TON, TUV and VAN 
including government agencies, faith-based organizations, 
local government, civil society and community-based 
organizations  working on gender equality, women’s 
empowerment and social inclusion, community leaders and 
the private sector (Baseline 2018: 0)  

• At least 2 health promotion dissemination activities with 
gender equity considerations on adolescent reproductive 
health and public health completed with at least 50% women 
participation and disaggregated by type (radio, print, social 
media) in SAM, TON, TUV and VAN (Baseline 2018 =0) 

• Context specific and gender and social inclusive 
communication strategies on the importance of vaccination in 
addition to other essential health promotion messages in 
SAM, TON, TUV and VAN (Baseline 2018:0) 

Q1 2019–Q4 2023 

 
77. The Project Directors in the respective MOH in each country, supported by the Gender 
Specialist and Public Health Officer from the IPM team, will implement and monitor the GAP 
including undertaking field visits. The Gender Specialist will assist in coordination with concerned 
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government agencies; sex-disaggregating target indicators; and providing inputs to the project’s 
quarterly progress report and in drafting the GAP semi-annual progress report to be submitted to 
MOH and ADB. Gender trainings and capacity building activities will be implemented to assist 
MOH and other key government agencies involved in the GAP implementation. Gender equality 
and social inclusion training will also be conducted to the members of the IPM.  

78. The IPM and UNICEF will maintain a gender balance in management and technical 
positions and provide gender equity and social inclusion training to all staff as part of their 
induction. 
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IX. PERFORMANCE MONITORING, EVALUATION, REPORTING, AND 
COMMUNICATION 

 
A. Monitoring and Reporting 
 
79. Project performance monitoring. The project will be monitored regularly against the Design 
and Monitoring Framework (DMF) (Appendix 6). Within six months of grant and loan 
effectiveness, the IPM M&E expert will support the MOH’s to design a comprehensive project 
performance monitoring and evaluation system and submit to ADB for approval this will include 
baseline, mid-term and end-line evaluation for the project . Project specific data collection will be 
used for monitoring inputs, activities and outputs, whereas outcome measures will be monitored 
using existing data collection systems when possible.  

80. Reporting. The IA’s through the IPM will report quarterly to ADB and EAs on project 
implementation and include information on financial management, project advance account 
expenditure, GAP and social dimensions in all project progress, monitoring and evaluation 
reports. All project data will be sex-disaggregated to the extent possible. National staff will 
specifically build up capacity to monitor and report on social and gender impacts. Disaggregated 
baseline data for output and outcome indicators gathered during project processing will be 
updated and reported quarterly through the IA’s quarterly progress reports and after each ADB 
review mission. These quarterly reports will provide information necessary to update ADB’s 
project performance reporting system. All program covenants will be monitored quarterly by the 
EA and discussed during the ADB review mission. An annual report will be produced including (i) 
progress as measured through the indicator’s performance targets, (ii) key implementation issues 
and solutions, (iii) detailed workplan, (iv) forecast of contract awards and disbursements, (v) 
project financial statements for annual audit of project financial statements, (vi) project-financed 
cold chain asset registry monitoring, (vii) updated budget and procurement plan, (viii) GAP 
monitoring, (ix) project compliance against loan and grant covenants and (x) project exit 
preparations.  All project reports will be in English and in a format consistent with the agreed 
project performance monitoring and evaluation system. 

81. The EAs will organize quarterly meetings of the steering committee to review project 
performance and will also report project performance in workshops and events sponsored by 
other partners. 

82. ADB will conduct grant and loan review missions at least twice a year, including inspection 
of financial management and audit. ADB will conduct an inception mission within three months 
after project effectiveness. The midterm review mission will occur within 36 months of project 
implementation. Within six months after the physical completion of the project, the EA will submit 
to ADB a project completion report analyzing project implementation, project performance and 
achievements against the targets, and expected project impacts. 

83. Compliance monitoring. Compliance with legal, financial, economic, social, safeguards, 
and other covenants constrained in the grant and loan agreements will be monitored by the IPM 
and reported semi-annually to ADB via the IAs. The IAs will be required to advise the IPM of any 
circumstances that result, or will likely result, in noncompliance. ADB will monitor compliance 
through IPM reporting and through selective follow-up discussions or more details reviews during 
supervisory missions.  

84. Gender and social dimensions monitoring. Progress of the GAP will be included in all 
project progress, monitoring and evaluation reports. The capacity of the MOH and UNICEF to 
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deliver, monitor and report on the gender and social inclusion actions and impacts of the project 
will be strengthened where necessary. All project data will be sex disaggregated to the extent 
possible and analysis of disparities in immunization coverage by geographical area will be 
undertaken routinely. GAP targets will be integrated into the project monitoring and evaluation 
framework and reported semi-annually to ADB. 

85. To ensure that projects will continue to be both viable and sustainable, project accounts 
and the EA audited financial statement together with the associated auditor's report, should be 
adequately reviewed. 

B. Evaluation  
 
86. Project evaluation will be carried out in three phases: (i) Project inception (ii) Mid-term 
evaluation and (iii) End-of-Project evaluation and impact assessment after five years. The 
inception report, mid-term evaluation and project evaluation will be made available. Within six 
months of physical completion of the project, the EA will submit a project completion report 
prepared by the IA to ADB. ADB will organize the mid-term and end of project reviews.  

C. Stakeholder Communication Strategy 
 
87. Formative research and mapping of community structures and will be conducted with 
support by the IPM and inform the development of the MOH communication and community 
mobilization strategy and participation plan on vaccines. The communication and community 
mobilization strategy, interventions and materials will be developed with support from UNICEF 
and will integrate gender equality and social inclusion and be tailored to the cultural and social 
context in all domains of work including formative research, messaging, methodologies, 
monitoring and membership of technical and oversight committees (see draft in Appendix 7). 

88. Communication approaches that have been proven effective will be utilized, these include 
public awareness campaigns, community outreach, targeted group discussions, TV and radio 
spots, social media tools and thematic workshops at national and provincial levels. Reaching 
isolated communities on outer islands constitutes a challenge, but provinces and districts will use 
well-tested existing channels to reach them, such as grassroots networks and community 
structures. Innovative reflective and participatory community mobilization methodologies will be 
developed and implemented to generate demand. Where feasible and appropriate, 
communication materials and community mobilization interventions will include messages to 
promote male involvement in childcare and family health; balanced sharing of childcare 
responsibilities between men and women; and other essential public health messages. The 
community mobilization strategy and key interventions and activities will synergize with national 
resources and activities for health promotion and community mobilization.  

89. A variety of evidence-based methods will be used to generate demand and support from 
stakeholders including parents, students, community and church leaders, health service 
providers, government officials, and civil society partners. A partnership approach between MOH, 
other government agencies, community structures and organizations, churches and civil society 
will be utilized building on successful partnership models. 
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X. ANTICORRUPTION POLICY 
 
90. ADB reserves the right to investigate, directly or through its agents, any violations of the 
Anticorruption Policy relating to the project. 41  All contracts financed by ADB shall include 
provisions specifying the right of ADB to audit and examine the records and accounts of the 
executing agency and all project contractors, suppliers, consultants, and other service providers. 
Individuals and/or entities on ADB’s anticorruption debarment list are ineligible to participate in 
ADB-financed activity and may not be awarded any contracts under the project.42  

91. To support these efforts, relevant provisions are included in the loan agreements or grant 
agreement and the bidding document for the project.  

XI. ACCOUNTABILITY MECHANISM 
 
92. People who are, or may in the future be, adversely affected by the project may submit 
complaints to ADB’s Accountability Mechanism. The Accountability Mechanism provides an 
independent forum and process whereby people adversely affected by ADB-assisted projects can 
voice, and seek a resolution of their problems, as well as report alleged violations of ADB’s 
operational policies and procedures. Before submitting a complaint to the Accountability 
Mechanism, affected people should try in good faith to solve their problems by working with the 
concerned ADB operations department. Only after doing that, and if they are still dissatisfied, 
should they approach the Accountability Mechanism.43 

XII.      RECORD OF CHANGES TO THE PROJECT ADMINISTRATION MANUAL 
 
93. All revisions and/or updates during the course of implementation should be retained in this 
section to provide a chronological history of changes to implemented arrangements recorded in 
the PAM. 

 
 

                                                
41  Anticorruption Policy: http://www.adb.org/Documents/Policies/Anticorruption-Integrity/Policies-Strategies.pdf 
42  ADB's Integrity Office web site: http://www.adb.org/integrity/unit.asp 
43  Accountability Mechanism. http://www.adb.org/Accountability-Mechanism/default.asp.  

http://www.adb.org/Documents/Policies/Anticorruption-Integrity/Policies-Strategies.pdf
http://www.adb.org/integrity/unit.asp
http://www.adb.org/Accountability-Mechanism/default.asp
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Appendix 1: Country Profiles 

Samoa 

 
1. Overview. Samoa has a population of over 195,000 and spends approximately $300 
per capita on health, or 7% of the GDP. The health system is predominately publicly funded 
with over 90% of health expenditure publicly funded which makes up over 15% of the 
government’s expenditure. There are 20 health facilities across the two islands and two 
hospitals, the largest being the national hospital, Tupua Tamasese Meaole (TTM). Reported 
immunization coverage rates are low, between 55% (HepB3) to 68% (measles), however 
these are due inadequate coverage surveys, and the real coverage is estimated to be higher 
around 80 – 85%, but still below the 90% target. 
 
A. Burden of Disease 
1. Pneumonia and diarrheal: From 2005 to 2011, pneumonia was the leading cause for 
admission for children less than five years old at Tupua Tamasese Meaole (TTM) Hospital. 
Between January 2013 to November 2017, the median number of paediatric diarrhea 
admissions per year was 210 (IQR 165-228) and the median number of paediatric pneumonia 
admissions was 585 (IQR 521-626). The length of stay for diarrhea patients varied from two 
to seven days. During this period, infants comprised 54.6% of under five-year-old pneumonia 
admissions and 52.1% of diarrhea admissions.  
 
2. Cervical cancer: Samoa is in the early stages of registering cancers and surveillance is 
weak, as such the number of cervical cancer cases is likely to be underestimated. However, 
recent modelled estimates from 2012 show an age-adjusted cervical cancer incidence of 17.1 
per 100,000 women and an age-adjusted mortality of 6.9 per 100,000 women.44 Age-adjusted 
incidence and mortality estimates from 2010 are similar, 20.2 and 5.2 per 100,000 women, 
respectively.45 Over recent years an increasing number of women have been diagnosed with 
gynaecological cancers. Cervical, uteri and breast cancer have been the top three cancers 
affecting Samoan women. In 2011, 16 new cases of cervical cancer were registered.46 The 
National Health Service gynaecologist, estimates about 10 new advanced cervical cancer 
cases seen each year. Cervical cancer screening has been opportunistic. A total of 1,814 Pap 
smear results from 2000 to 2005 were recorded at TTM hospital laboratory. Few women (<2%) 
have ever been screened. From 2006, Pap smears were sent to the Victoria Cytology Service 
Inc. (VCS) in Melbourne, Australia for processing. According to the TTM hospital gynaecology 
clinic Pap smears register, VCS reported on 1,176 Pap smears from 2006 to 2012, with 6.2% 
having low grade lesions (CIN1) and 2.9% (CIN2, CIN3) had high grade lesions or cancer. 
 
3. Project design. Based on disease burden data and the health economic analysis (linked 
document) showing the introduction of HPV, PCV and RV vaccines are highly cost-effective, 
it is recommended that Samoa introduce HPV, PCV and RV vaccines.  The project will support 
HPV vaccine introduction targeting girls in grade 6 of primary school, and an HPV vaccine 
catch-up campaign for girls from grades 7-13. PCV will be introduced to the birth cohort, and 
a catch-up campaign to two years of age is proposed. RV vaccine will be introduced to the 
birth cohort, and a catch-up campaign is not recommended by the WHO.   
 
A. Project investments 
4. Government EPI budget line is increased incrementally across the life of the project, and 
thereby contributing to the sustainability of the financing of the vaccines post-project.  This 
equates to 20% in year 3, 40% in year 4, and 60% of vaccine costs by year 5 (Table 1). 

                                                
44  International Agency for Research on Cancer. 2012. GLOBOCAN 2012. http://globocan.iarc.fr/ 
45  WHO/ICO Information Centre on HPV and Cervical Cancer (HPV Information Centre) Human Papillomavirus 

and related cancers in Samoa.  
46  Government of Samoa, Ministry of Health, Patient Information System (PATIS) 2011. 

http://globocan.iarc.fr/
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Table 1: Summary of project costs and financing: vaccines and cold chain 

 Y1 (2019) 
(US$ million) 

Y2 (2020) 
(US$ million) 

Y3 (2021) 
(US$ million) 

Y4 (2022) 
(US$ million) 

Y5 (2023) 
(US$ million) 

Total 
(US$ million) 

A. Vaccines - 2.02 0.61 0.61 0.61 3.83 

ADB Financing - 2.02 0.48 0.36 0.24 3.11 

Samoa 
Financing 

- - 
0.12 

(20%) 
0.24 

(40%) 
0.36 

(60%) 
0.73 

B. Credit line 
to VII 

0.90 - - - - 0.90 

Cold chain 
equipment 

0.10 - - - - 0.10 

*Rounded numbers in this table may not sum. 

 
5. For HPV vaccine the target population will be girls in grade 6 in primary school. In Year 2 
of the project, there will be a catch-up campaign for girls in grades 7 – 13. Details are provided 
in Table 2.  
 

Table 2: Breakdown of HPV vaccine target population, ages,  
campaign and vaccine costs 

 Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5  

Target population 
(females) 

- 24,000  
 

3,000  
 

3,000  
 

3,000  
 

Dose(s) required  2 per child age <=14; 
3 per child age >14 

2 per child 

Age - Grade 6 + Grades 7 -
13 (catch-up) 

Grade 6 
 

Campaign - Routine + Catch up Routine 
 

Estimated vaccine cost  US$12 per dose  

Assumed wastage rate  5%  

Buffer stock for Y2  6 months  

Percentage of shipping 
and handling costs 

 
25%  

Estimated cost of AD 
syringes 

 
US$0.05 per AD syringe  

Syringe wastage rate  10%  

Estimated cost of 
safety boxes 

 
$0.75 per safety box  

Total Vaccine costs   $999,766   $96,514   $96,514   $96,514   $1,289,308  

Project (ADB) 
contribution 

- 
 $999,766   $77,211   $57,908   $38,606   $1,173,491  

Government 
contribution  

- 
$-  $19,303   $38,606   $57,908   $115,817  

(% of total vaccine 
cost) 

 
(0%) (20%) (40%) (60%)  

 
6. For PCV the target population will be all infants from the birth cohort. There will be a catch-
up campaign for children up to 24 months in year 2. Details are provided in Table 3.  
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Table 3: Breakdown of PCV target population, ages, campaign and vaccine costs 
 

Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5 
 

Target 
population 

- 12,200 6,100 6,100 6,100 

Dose(s) 
required 

 3 per child 

Scheduled 
dose(s) 

- 6w, 14w, 12m  
+ 24m (catch-up) 

6w, 14w, 12m 

Campaign - Routine + Catch-
up 

Routine 

Vaccine cost                                                                                                                 Total 

Estimated 
vaccine cost 

 
US$16 per dose  

Assumed 
wastage rate 

 
5%  

Buffer stock for 
Y2 

 
6 months - - -  

Percentage of 
shipping and 
handling costs 

 
25%  

Estimated cost 
of AD syringes 

 
US$0.05 per AD syringe  

Syringe 
wastage rate 

 
10%  

Estimated cost 
of safety boxes 

 
$0.75 per safety box  

Total Vaccine 
costs 

- 
 $837,314   $387,542   $387,542   $387,542   $1,999,941  

Project (ADB) 
contribution 

- 
 $837,314   $310,034   $232,525   $155,017   $1,534,890  

Government 
contribution 

- 
 $     -   $77,508   $155,017   $232,525   $465,051  

(% of total 
vaccine cost) 

 
(0%) (20%) (40%) (60%)  

 
7. For RV vaccine, the target population will be all infants in the birth cohort. Catch-up 
campaigns for RV vaccine is not recommended. Details are provided in Table 4.  
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Table 4: Breakdown of RV vaccine target population, ages, and vaccine costs 

 Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5 

 

Target population - 6,100 6,100 6,100 6,100 

Dose(s) required  2 per child 

Scheduled 
dose(s) 

- 6w, 14w 

Campaign - Routine 

Vaccine cost                                                                                                                     Total 

Estimated vaccine 
cost 

 
US$7.50 per dose  

Assumed wastage 
rate 

 
5%  

Buffer stock for Y2  
6 months - - -  

Percentage of 
shipping and 
handling costs 

 
25%  

Total Vaccine 
costs 

- 
 $180,000   $120,938   $120,938   $120,938   $542,813  

Project (ADB) 
contribution 

- 
 $180,000   $96,750   $72,563   $48,375   $397,688  

Government 
contribution 

- 
 $     -   $24,188   $48,375   $72,563   $145,125  

(% of total vaccine 
cost) 

 
(0%) (20%) (40%) (60%)  
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Table 5: Summary of system bottlenecks to be targeted by the project 

Output 1- Regional vaccines procurement strengthened 

Inadequate supply of new 
vaccines and CCE in health 
facilities 

 Procurement of new vaccines and CCE 
-Vaccines and cold chain procurement through VII  

 

Insufficient knowledge for 
management of vaccine 
stock and CCE 

 Capacity building for vaccine and CCE mgt. 
- VII capacity building in MOH including stock/ CCE 
inventory management and maintenance 

 

 

 

Output 2- Health systems strengthened 

Low service coverage  Service delivery strengthening 
-Update standard operating procedures and guidelines 
-Update micro-plans for routine outreach 
-Deliver mass HPV and PCV vaccine campaigns 

 

 

Insufficient supply of medical 
equipment 

 -Conduct Effective Vaccine Management assessments  
-Refurbish/ update cold chain equipment 

Low capacity for program 
and financial management 

 Leadership and governance support 
-Update EPI and cold chain policies  
-Participate in country-level health sector coordination 
mechanism 
-Capacity building in planning, budgeting, accounting and 
financial reports 
-Incorporate new vaccines into the annual health planning 
and budgeting process. 

 

 

 

 

Incomplete and low quality 
of health information and 
surveillance of VPDs 

 Health information systems strengthening 
-Review, update, and integrate EPI reporting forms and 
indicators into health information systems 
-Conduct National Immunization Coverage Surveys 

 

 

 

Insufficient health workforce 
availability and training 

 Investment in the health workforce 
-Immunization and public health training for health workers 
including vaccine delivery, routine reporting, adverse 
event notification, supply chain management and 
supportive supervision 

 

 

Output 3- Community awareness improved 

Insufficient community 
engagement and inequitable 
access to basic health 
services 

 Demand generation through communication and 
health promotion 
-Engage in community partnerships with existing 
structures 
-Develop integrated public health and gender sensitive 
communication material and implementation plan to 
generate demand 
-Partnership with NGO to implement community strategy 
and key interventions and activities, including 
communication materials in TV and radio spots, print 
media, job aids, and social media tools 
-Implement and monitor Gender Action Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Management  

  -Recruit implementation firm 
-Develop M&E framework 
-Extend country partnership agreements with UNICEF to 
include new vaccines  
-Support annual procurement contracts with UNICEF for 
vaccines 
-Prepare annual work plans  
-Prepare annual audits and project reports 
-Conduct gender awareness of project staff 
-Mid-term review 
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Figure 1: National immunization program structure and selected project investments
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Tonga 

 
8. Overview. Tonga has a population of over 107,000 and spends approximately $207 per 
capita on health, or 5.2% of GDP. The government is the main provider of health services in 
Tonga and 90% of health services are delivered from four hospitals in the country. The 
government is the main financer of the health system (47%), with considerable funding also from 
donors (38%). The immunization service is delivered as a public service, with no services being 
provided in the private sector.  It is estimated that 70% of immunization services are delivered 
through by fixed site services, 20% by outreach and 10% home to home services. Reported 
immunization coverage rates varies between 78% to 96% (DTP3), and 80%-91% (BCG). A 
representative immunization coverage survey is needed to quantify the true coverage. 
 
B. Burden of Disease 

9. Pneumonia and diarrheal: A Tongan study in 2017 found an incidence of invasive 

pneumococcal disease (pneumococcal meningitis and sepsis) of 113 per 100,000 in children 

under the age of two, with a case fatality rate of 25%.47 Diarrhea is estimated to cause 2% of child 

deaths under the age of five48 and it is estimated that RV kills 1.5 per 100,000 children.49 

10. Vaiola Hospital is a tertiary referral hospital and the only inpatient facility for children on 

Tongatapu. Pneumonia and acute gastroenteritis (AGE) admission data for children under five 

years of age were provided for 2012-2016. During this five-year period, a total of 188 pneumonia 

admissions and 590 diarrhea admissions occurred at Vaiola Hospital. Each year, there are 

approximately 32 admissions for pneumonia and 118 admissions for diarrhoea for children under 

five years old. 

11. For Tongatapu, the average annual incidence for hospitalised pneumonia was 408 (95% 

confidence interval: 303-513) per 100,000 children under five years of age. The highest annual 

incidence was 427 cases per 100,000 children, recorded in 2016. For Tongatapu, the average 

annual incidence for hospitalised AGE was 1,175 (95% confidence interval: 879-1,472) per 

100,000 children under five years of age. The highest annual incidence was 1,653 cases per 

100,000 children, recorded in 2014. The median length of hospital stay for childhood pneumonia 

admissions at Vaiola Hospital was 3 days (interquartile range 1 to 4 days) and the median hospital 

stay for childhood AGE was 2 days (interquartile range 1 to 3 days).   

12. Dr ‘Aho, paediatrician at the national Vaiola Hospital, published a paper on the burden of 

invasive pneumococcal disease and the need for PCV, and the study reviewed admission records 

from 2010 to 2013 and found an average annual incidence of invasive pneumococcal disease of 

113 per 100,000 children under two years of age and 50 per 100,000 children under five years of 

age.50 A total of 26 pneumococcal cases were identified in children with meningitis, sepsis and 

pneumonia. This is likely to be a vast underestimate as most pneumococcal pneumonia is not 

blood culture positive. In addition, the pneumococcal bacteria is very difficult to grow and needs 

optimal laboratory conditions. The case fatality rate among children under five years of age was 

                                                
47  F. Lutui et al. 2017. Invasive Pneumococcal Disease in Children in Tonga. The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal. 

36 no. 2. pp. 239–40.  
48  L. Liu et al. 2015. Global, Regional, and National Causes of Child Mortality in 2000–13, with Projections to Inform 

Post-2015 Priorities: An Updated Systematic Analysis. The Lancet. 385 (9965). pp. 430–40.  
49  World Health Organization. 2013. Child Rotavirus Deaths by Country 2000-2013. http://www.who.int/entity/ 

immunization/monitoring_surveillance/rotavirus_deaths_by_country_2000-2013.xlsx  
50  F. Lutui et al. 2017. Invasive Pneumococcal Disease in Children in Tonga. The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal. 

36 no. 2. pp. 239–40. 
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25%. In this paper, Dr Aho also highlighted the high likelihood of invasive pneumococcal disease 

being underreported. 

13. Cervical Cancer. Unpublished data from Vaiola Hospital shows an incidence of cervical 

cancer of 11.2 cases per 100,000 women, recorded in 2017. Mortality rate from cervical cancer 

is approximately 3.9 per 100,000 women, and there are approximately 5 new advanced cervical 

cancer cases seen each year. Similar to data for other diseases, this data is likely to be under 

represented due to lack of a nation-wide screening program, e.g. pap smear, and awareness 

amongst women to identify early danger signs for diagnosis, particularly at the sub-national levels. 

14. Mumps. A Mumps outbreak occurred in 2017, prompting the Tongan Ministry of Health to 

consider the introduction of mumps containing MMR vaccine. From unpublished hospital records 

from Vaiola Hospital, 21 new cases were recorded in 2017 for mumps orchitis, with or without 

complications. Due to a lack of accurate disease coding at the point of admission, diagnosis, and 

discharge, the recorded cases for mumps are severely underestimated, according to Dr. ‘Aho, 

the chief paediatrician, and Senior Sister Manafonu Tuitupou of the reproductive health nurses 

section. 

15. Project design. Based on this disease burden data and the health economic analysis (linked 

document) showing the introduction of HPV, PCV and RV vaccines are cost-effective, it is 

recommended that Tonga introduce the new vaccines. PCV will be introduced to the birth cohort, 

with an additional mass catch-up campaign of up to two years of age will be proposed.  For HPV 

vaccines, girls in class 4 of primary school (assumed 9 years of age) will receive HPV vaccines 

as part of the routine schedule, with an additional catch-up campaign proposed for girls in classes 

5 to 9. RV vaccines will be introduced to the birth cohort, but catch-up campaigns is not 

recommended by the WHO. MMR vaccine will be introduced to replace the existing MR vaccine. 

C. Project investments 

16. It is recommended the Government EPI budget line is increased incrementally across the life 

of the project, and thereby contributing to the sustainability of the financing of the vaccines post-

project.  This equates to 20% in year 3, 40% in year 4, and 60% of vaccine costs by year 5 (Table 

6). 
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Table 6: Summary of project costs and financing: vaccines and cold chain 

 Y1 (2019) 

(US$ M) 

Y2 (2020) 

(US$ M) 

Y3 (2021) 

(US$ M) 

Y4 (2022) 

(US$ M) 

Y5 (2023) 

(US$ M) 

Total 

(US$, M) 

A. Vaccines - 0.78 0.29 0.29 0.29 1.66 

  ADB Financing 
- 0.78 0.23 0.18 0.12 1.30 

 Tonga Financing 

- - 
0.06 

(20%) 

0.12 

(40%) 

0.18 

(60%) 
0.35 

B Credit line to 

VII 0.42 - - - - 0.42 

Cold chain 

equipment 0.23 
    

0.23 

*Rounded numbers in this table may not sum. 

 

17. For HPV vaccine the target population will be girls in class 4 of primary school. In Year 2 of 

the project, there will be a catch-up campaign for girls in classes 5 – 9. Details are provided in 

Table 7.  

 
Table 7: Breakdown if HPV vaccine target population, ages, campaign and vaccine costs 

 Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5  

Target population - 8,400  
(girls only) 

1,400  
(girls only) 

1,400  
(girls only) 

1,400  
(girls only) 

Dose(s) required  2 per child 

Age - Class 4 + 
Classes 5-9 
(catch-up) 

Class 4 
 

Campaign - Routine + Catch 
up 

Routine 
 

Vaccine cost                                                                                                                      Total 

Estimated vaccine 
cost 

 
US$12 per dose  

Assumed wastage 
rate 

 
5%  

Buffer stock for 
Y2 

 
6 months     

Percentage of 
shipping and 
handling costs 

 
25%  

Estimated cost of 
AD syringes 

 
US$0.05 per AD syringe  

Syringe wastage 
rate 

 
10%  

Estimated cost of 
safety boxes 

 
$0.75 per safety box  

Total Vaccine 
costs 

 
 $    288,053   $    43,747   $    43,747   $    43,747   $419,294  
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 Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5  

Target population - 8,400  
(girls only) 

1,400  
(girls only) 

1,400  
(girls only) 

1,400  
(girls only) 

Dose(s) required  2 per child 

Age - Class 4 + 
Classes 5-9 
(catch-up) 

Class 4 
 

Campaign - Routine + Catch 
up 

Routine 
 

Project (ADB) 
contribution 

- 
 $     288,053   $ 34,998   $    26,248   $    17,499   $366,798  

Government 
contribution 

- 
 $           -   $    8,749   $    17,499   $    26,248   $ 52,496  

(% of total vaccine 
cost) 

 
(0%) (20%) (40%) (60%)  

 

18. For PCV the target population will be all infants from the birth cohort. There will be a catch-

up campaign for children up to 24 months in year 2. Details are provided in Table 8.  

 
Table 8: Breakdown of PCV target population, ages, campaign and vaccine costs 

 
Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5 

 
Target population - 5,600 2,800 2,800 2,800 

Dose(s) required  3 per child 

Scheduled 
dose(s) 

- 6w, 14w, 12m  
+ 24m (catch-up) 

6w, 14w, 12m 

Campaign - Routine + Catch-
up 

Routine 

Vaccine cost                                                                                                                 Total 

Estimated 
vaccine cost 

 
US$16 per dose  

Assumed 
wastage rate 

 
5%  

Buffer stock for 
Y2 

 
6 months - - -  

Percentage of 
shipping and 
handling costs 

 
25%  

Estimated cost of 
AD syringes 

 
US$0.05 per AD syringe  

Syringe wastage 
rate 

 
10%  

Estimated cost of 
safety boxes 

 
$0.75 per safety box  

Total Vaccine 
costs 

- 
 $    383,523   $ 178,706   $ 178,706   $ 178,706   $919,642  

Project (ADB) 
contribution 

- 
 $     383,523   $142,965   $ 107,224   $    71,483   $705,195  

Government 
contribution 

- 
 $           -   $ 35,741   $    71,483   $ 107,224   $214,448  
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(% of total 
vaccine cost) 

 
(0%) (20%) (40%) (60%)  

 

19. For RV vaccine, the target population will be all infants in the birth cohort. Catch-up 

campaigns for RV vaccines is not recommended. Details are provided in Table 9.  

 
Table 9: Breakdown of RV vaccine target population, ages, and costs 

 Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5 

 

Target population - 2,800 2,800 2,800 2,800 

Dose(s) required  2 per child 

Scheduled 
dose(s) 

- 6w, 14w 

Campaign - Routine 

Vaccine cost                                                                                                                     Total 

Estimated vaccine 
cost 

 
US$7.50 per dose  

Assumed wastage 
rate 

 
5%  

Buffer stock for 
Y2 

 
6 months - - -  

Percentage of 
shipping and 
handling costs 

 
25%  

Total Vaccine 
costs 

- 
 $83,438   $    55,313   $    55,313   $    55,313   $249,375  

Project (ADB) 
contribution 

- 
 $ 83,438   $ 44,250   $    33,188   $    22,125   $183,000  

Government 
contribution 

- 
 $           -   $ 11,063   $    22,125   $    33,188   $ 66,375  

(% of total 
vaccine cost) 

 
(0%) (20%) (40%) (60%)  

 

20. MMR vaccine will replace the existing MR vaccine. The target population will be all infants in 

the birth cohort, and there will be no change to the immunization schedule. The project will finance 

the MMR vaccine in full during the project years. Details are provided in Table 5.  

 
Table 10: Breakdown of MMR vaccine target population, ages, and vaccine costs 

 Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5 

 

Target population - 2,800 2,800 2,800 2,800 

Dose(s) required  2 per child 

Scheduled 
dose(s) 

- 12m, 18m 

Campaign - Routine 

Vaccine cost                                                                                                                     Total 

Estimated vaccine 
cost 

 
US$1.45 per dose  

Assumed wastage 
rate 

 
30%  

Buffer stock for 
Y2 

 
6 months - - -  
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Percentage of 
shipping and 
handling costs 

 
25%  

Total Vaccine 
costs 

- 
 $21,750   $    14,500   $    14,500   $    14,500   $ 65,250  

Project (ADB) 
contribution 

- 
 $ 21,750   $ 11,600   $8,700   $      5,800   $ 47,850  

Government 
contribution 

- 
 $           -   $    2,900   $5,800   $      8,700   $ 17,400  

(% of total 
vaccine cost) 

 
(0%) (20%) (40%) (60%)  
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Table 11: Summary of system bottlenecks to be targeted by project 
Output 1- Regional vaccines procurement strengthened 

Inadequate supply of new 
vaccines and CCE in 
health facilities 

 Procurement of new vaccines and CCE 
-Vaccines and cold chain procurement through VII  

Insufficient knowledge for 
management of vaccine 
stock and CCE 

 Capacity building for vaccine and CCE mgt. 
- VII capacity building in MOH including stock/ CCE inventory 
management and maintenance 

 

 

 

Output 2- Health systems strengthened 

Low service coverage Service delivery strengthening 
-Update standard operating procedures and guidelines 

-Update micro-plans for routine outreach 

-Deliver mass HPV and PCV vaccine campaigns 

 

 

Insufficient supply of 
medical equipment 

 

-Conduct Effective Vaccine Management assessments  

-Refurbish/ update cold chain equipment 

Low capacity for program 
and financial management 

 Leadership and governance support 

-Update EPI and cold chain policies  

-Participate in country-level health sector coordination mechanism 

-Capacity building in planning, budgeting, accounting and financial 

reports 

-Incorporate new vaccines into the annual health planning and 

budgeting process. 

 

 

 

 

Incomplete and low 
quality of health 
information and 
surveillance of VPDs 

 Health information systems strengthening 
-Review, update, and integrate EPI reporting forms and indicators 
into health information systems 

-Conduct National Immunization Coverage Surveys 

 

 

Insufficient health 
workforce availability and 
training 

Investment in the health workforce 
-Immunization and public health training for health workers 
including vaccine delivery, routine reporting, adverse event 
notification, supply chain management and supportive supervision 

 

 

Output 3- Community awareness improved 

Insufficient community 
engagement and 
inequitable access to 
basic health services 

 Demand generation through communication and health 
promotion 
-Engage in community partnerships with existing structures 
-Develop integrated public health and gender sensitive 
communication material and implementation plan to generate 
demand 
-Partnership with church groups to implement community strategy 
and key interventions and activities, including communication 
materials in TV and radio spots, print media, job aids, and social 
media tools 
-Implement and monitor Gender Action Plan 

 

 

 

 

Project Management 

 
 

-Recruit implementation firm 
-Develop M&E framework 
-Extend country partnership agreements with UNICEF to include 
new vaccines  
-Annual procurement contracts with UNICEF for vaccines 
-Prepare annual work plans  
-Prepare annual audits and project reports 
-Conduct gender awareness of project staff 
-Mid-term review 
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Figure 2- National immunization program structure and selected project investments  
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Tuvalu 

21. Overview. Tuvalu has a population of over 11,000 dispersed across nine atolls, and 
spends approximately $633 per capita on health, or approximately 16.5% of its GDP51. Most 
health services are provided by the public health services, with the exception of family planning 
services delivered jointly with Tuvalu Family Planning Association. Tuvalu has one hospital on 
the main island, two health clinics, and eight health centres covering the outer islands. 
Reported immunization coverage rate is relatively high amongst Pacific DMCs, with 96% for 
measles first dose, and 94% for DTP3, with minimal variation from WHO/UNICEF estimates. 

Burden of Disease 

22. Pneumonia and diarrheal: In Tuvalu, from 2011 to 2014, the majority of general out-
patient and paediatric admissions were attributed to acute respiratory infections such as 
pneumonia.52 In 2014, diarrhea was the cause of 17.3% of admissions (n=358) under five 
years of age at Princes Margaret Hospital (PMH).29 PMH admission data for children under 
five years of age with pneumonia and diarrhea was provided from 2011 to 2012 and from 2014 
to 2016, and it showed 850 admissions to PMH for children under five years old, (median 156, 
IQR 154-212). Pneumonia admissions comprised 26.8% of all admissions at PMH among 
children under five years of age. Acute gastroenteritis (AGE, diarrhea) accounted for 10.5% 
of all admissions in this age group.  

23. For Funafuti, the annual incidence of hospitalized pneumonia was 1,414 per 100,000 

(95% confidence interval: 890-1,938) children under five years old. The highest annual 

incidence was 2,020 cases per 100,000 children under five years old in 2015.  

24. For Funafuti, the annual incidence of hospitalized AGE was 429 per 100,000 (95% 

confidence interval: 5-854) children under five years old. The highest annual incidence was 

884 cases per 100,000 children under five years old in 2012 and 2014. 

25. Cervical cancer: Tuvalu does not have a cancer registry. Data for cervical cancer 

inpatient hospitalization were requested instead, and there were six deaths due to cervical 

cancer from 2007 to 2016. Without an official cervical cancer registry, it is likely cases and 

deaths are underreported. The median age at death was 49 years of age (IQR 43- 58 years). 

26. Project design. Based on this disease burden data and the health economic analysis 

(linked document) showing the introduction of HPV, PCV and RV vaccines are cost-effective, 

it is recommended that Tuvalu introduce the new vaccines. A PCV catch up campaign to five 

years of age is recommended.  The project will support the introduction of HPV vaccine 

targeting girls in class 5 of primary school (assumed 10 years of age).  A catch-up campaign 

is supported for girls aged 11 to 14 years.  

 

  

                                                
51 World Health organization Service Delivery Profile- Tuvalu (2014) 
52 Government of Tuvalu, Ministry of Health, 2015. Health Report 2011-2014. 
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D. Project investments  

27. It is recommended the Government Immunization budget line is increased incrementally 

across the life of the project, and thereby contributing to the sustainability of the financing of 

the vaccines post-project.  This equates to 20% in year 3, 40% in year 4, and 60% of vaccine 

costs in year 5 (Table 1). 

 

Table 12: Summary of project financing 

 Y1 (2019) 

(US$ M) 

Y2 (2020) 

(US$ M) 

Y3 (2021) 

(US$ M) 

Y4 (2022) 

(US$ M) 

Y5 (2023) 

(US$ M) 

Total  

(US$, M) 

A. Vaccines - 0.12 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.22 

  ADB Financing - 0.12 0.03 0.02 0.01 0.18 

 Tuvalu 

Financing - - 
0.01 

(20%) 

0.01 

(40%) 

0.02 

(60%) 
0.04 

B Credit line to 

VII 
0.05 - - - - 0.05 

Cold chain 

equipment 
0.07 - - - - 0.07 

*Rounded numbers in this table may not sum 

28. For HPV vaccine the target population will be girls in class 5 of primary school (assumed 

10 years of age). In Year 2 of the project, there will be a catch-up campaign for girls between 

11 – 14 year old. Details are provided in Table . 

 

Table 13: Breakdown of HPV vaccine target population, ages, campaign and vaccine 
costs 

 Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5  

Target population - 3,150 
(girls only) 

150  
(girls only) 

150  
(girls only) 

150  
(girls only) 

Dose(s) required  2 per child age 
<=14 

2 per child 

Age - Class 5 + 11 to 
14 year olds 
(catch-up) 

Class 5 (10 year olds) 
 

Campaign - Routine + Catch 
up 

Routine 
 

Vaccine cost                                                                                                                      Total 

Estimated vaccine 
cost 

 
US$12 per dose  

Assumed wastage 
rate 

 
5%  

Buffer stock for Y2  6 months     

Percentage of 
shipping and 
handling costs 

 
25%  

Estimated cost of 
AD syringes 

 
US$0.05 per AD syringe  

Syringe wastage 
rate 

 
10%  

Estimated cost of 
safety boxes 

 
$0.75 per safety box  

Total Vaccine 
costs 

 
 $31,714   $5,322   $5,322   $5,322   $47,680  
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Project (ADB) 
contribution 

- 
 $     31,714   $ 4,258   $3,193   $    2,129   $41,293  

Government 
contribution 

- 
 $   -   $ 1,064   $2,129   $    3,193   $ 6,386  

(% of total vaccine 
cost) 

 
(0%) (20%) (40%) (60%)  

 

29. For PCV the target population will be all infants from the birth cohort. There will be a catch-

up campaign for children up to 60 months in year 2. Details are provided in Table . 

 
Table 14: Breakdown of PCV target population, ages, campaign and vaccine costs 

 
Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5 

 
Target population - 1,500 300 300 300 

Dose(s) required  3 per child 

Scheduled 
dose(s) 

- 6w, 14w, 12m  
+ 24, 36, 48, 60m 

(catch-up) 

6w, 14w, 12m 

Campaign - Routine + Catch-
up 

Routine 

Vaccine cost                                                                                                                 Total 

Estimated 
vaccine cost 

 
US$16 per dose  

Assumed 
wastage rate 

 
5%  

Buffer stock for 
Y2 

 
6 months - - -  

Percentage of 
shipping and 
handling costs 

 
25%  

Estimated cost of 
AD syringes 

 
US$0.05 per AD syringe  

Syringe wastage 
rate 

 
10%  

Estimated cost of 
safety boxes 

 
$0.75 per safety box  

Total Vaccine 
costs 

- 
 $80,345   $    20,116   $    20,116   $    20,116   $140,692  

Project (ADB) 
contribution 

- 
 $     80,345   $16,093   $    12,069   $    8,046   $    116,553  

Government 
contribution 

- 
 $   -   $ 4,023   $8,046   $ 12,069   $24,139  

(% of total vaccine 
cost) 

 
(0%) (20%) (40%) (60%)  

 

30. For RV vaccine, the target population will be all infants in the birth cohort. Catch-up 

campaigns for RV vaccine is not recommended. Details are provided in Table 15. 
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Table 15: Breakdown of RV vaccine target population, ages, and costs 

 Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5 

 

Target population - 300 300 300 300 

Dose(s) required  2 per child 

Scheduled 
dose(s) 

- 6w, 14w 

Campaign - Routine 

Vaccine cost                                                                                                                     Total 

Estimated vaccine 
cost 

 
US$7.50 per dose  

Assumed wastage 
rate 

 
5%  

Buffer stock for Y2  
6 months - - -  

Percentage of 
shipping and 
handling costs 

 
25%  

Total Vaccine 
costs 

- 
 $8,906   $6,094   $6,094   $6,094   $27,188  

Project (ADB) 
contribution 

- 
 $ 8,906   $ 4,875   $3,656   $    2,438   $19,875  

Government 
contribution 

- 
 $   -   $ 1,219   $2,438   $    3,656   $ 7,313  

(% of total vaccine 
cost) 

 
(0%) (20%) (40%) (60%)  
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Table 16: Summary of system bottlenecks to be targeted by the project 
Output 1- Regional vaccines procurement  strengthened 

Inadequate supply of new vaccines and 
CCE in health facilities 

 Procurement of new vaccines and CCE 
-Vaccines and cold chain procurement through VII  

Insufficient knowledge for management 
of vaccine stock and CCE 

 Capacity building for vaccine and CCE mgt. 
- VII capacity building in MOH including stock/ CCE 
inventory management and maintenance 

 

 

 

Output 2- Health systems strengthened 

Low service coverage Service delivery strengthening 
-Update standard operating procedures and 
guidelines 

-Update micro-plans for routine outreach 

-Deliver mass HPV and PCV vaccine campaigns 

 

 

Insufficient supply of medical 
equipment 

 

-Conduct Effective Vaccine Management 

assessments  

-Refurbish/ update cold chain equipment 

Low capacity for program and financial 
management 

 Leadership and governance support 

-Update EPI and cold chain policies  

-Participate in country-level health sector 

coordination mechanism 

-Capacity building in planning, budgeting, accounting 

and financial reports 

-Incorporate new vaccines into the annual health 

planning and budgeting process. 

 

 

 

 

Incomplete and low quality of health 
information and surveillance of VPDs 

 Health information systems strengthening 
-Review, update, and integrate EPI reporting forms 
and indicators into health information systems 

-Conduct National Immunization Coverage Surveys 

 

 

Insufficient health workforce availability 
and training 

Investment in the health workforce 
-Immunization and public health training for health 
workers including vaccine delivery, routine reporting, 
adverse event notification, supply chain management 
and supportive supervision 

 

 

Output 3- Community awanress improved 

Insufficient community engagement and 
inequitable access to basic health 
services 

 Demand generation through communication and 
health promotion 
-Engage in community partnerships with existing 
structures 
-Develop integrated public health and gender 
sensitive communication material and implementation 
plan to generate demand 
-Partnership with TFPA to implement community 
strategy and key interventions and activities, including 
communication materials in TV and radio spots, print 
media, job aids, and social media tools 
-Implement and monitor Gender Action Plan 

 

 

 

 

Project Management 

 
 

-Recruit implementation firm 
-Develop M&E framework 
-Extend country partnership agreements with UNICEF 
to include new vaccines  
-Support governments on annual procurement 
contracts with UNICEF for vaccines 
-Prepare annual work plans  
-Prepare annual audits and project reports 
-Conduct gender awareness of project staff 
-Procurement of ICT and comms equipment 
-Mid-term review 
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Figure 1- National immunization program structure and selected project investments 
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Vanuatu 

 
31. Overview. Vanuatu has a population of over 270,000 dispersed across 83 islands, and 
spends approximately $157.5 per capita on health, or approximately 5.0% of its GDP, which 
is the median range of countries in the Western Pacific Region53. The government is the main 
provider of health services, through a four-tier system including referral hospitals, health 
centres, dispensaries, and community support aid posts. Reported immunization coverage 
rates are low, with estimates of 64%-81% for DTP3 and 53%-84% for measles first dose. The 
significant variation in estimations calls for improved coverage surveys to be conducted to 
quantify the real coverage rate. 

 

A. Burden of Disease 

32. Pneumonia and diarrheal: In 2016, 7,601 children under five attended Vila Central 

Hospital’s outpatient department. The majority of these consultations were due to respiratory 

or cardiovascular causes. Of all the under-five year old attendances, 10.7% (n=814) were due 

to diarrhea and 3.7% (n=278) were due to pneumonia. 54  Mild and moderate respiratory 

infection also accounted for 21.6% and 8.7% of under-five attendances, respectively.  

33. During 2016, there were 973 paediatric admissions to Vila Central Hospital. Between 

January 2016 and August 2017, there were 1,660 admissions to the hospital’s paediatric ward, 

with 13.1% (n=218) being children under five years of age with pneumonia and 6.2% (n=103) 

with gastroenteritis (diarrhea). The median length of hospital stay for gastroenteritis cases 

under five years of age was three days [interquartile range, 2 – 6 days] and the median hospital 

stay for under five pneumonia cases was four days [interquartile range, 2 – 5 days]. The case 

fatality rate for pneumonia in children under five years of age was 3.2%.  

34. There is a diarrhea epidemic in most years, and on average, there are about two deaths 

at Vila Central Hospital during each epidemic, and recently there was a laboratory-confirmed 

RV diarrhoea outbreak in Santos in 2017.  

35. During 2016, 24 meningitis cases in children under five years of age were admitted to Vila 

Central Hospital, and a total of 36 children under five were admitted for meningitis from 

January 2016 to August 2017. The median duration of hospital stay for these cases was nine 

days [interquartile range 5.75 – 20 days]. Three cases under the age of five years died during 

this period (case fatality rate 8.3%).  

36. Cervical cancer: is the leading cause of cancer in Vanuatu women.55 Modelled estimates 

show a crude incidence rate of 15.4 per 100,000 women and an age-adjusted incidence rate 

of 19.2 per 100,000 women.56 According to model estimates, age-adjusted cervical cancer 

mortality is 9.8 per 100,000 women.57 However, as Vanuatu does not have a cancer registry 

and only an opportunistic screening service, these values are likely to be underestimated. One 

study in Vanuatu has found a prevalence of high-risk type HPV of 9.0% among healthy women 

aged 30 to 50 years.58 Screening conducted from 2011 to 2012 found that 21.7% of women 

                                                
53 World Health Organization Service Delivery Profile- Vanuatu (2014) 
54 Government of Vanuatu, Ministry of Health, 2017, 2016 Annual Report.  
55 Government of Vanuatu, Ministry of Health, Vanuatu Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn, Child & Adolescent 

Health Policy and Implementation Strategy 2017-2020. 
56 International Agency for Research on Cancer. 2012. GLOBOCAN 2012. http://globocan.iarc.fr/ 
57 Footnote 42.  
58 M. McAdam et al. 2010. Evaluation of a Cervical Cancer Screening Program Based on HPV Testing and LLETZ 

Excision in a Low Resource Setting. PLoS ONE 5. no. 10: 1–6. 
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in Vanuatu tested positive for high-risk type HPV and 28.4% tested positive for any type HPV. 

Furthermore, among women under 25 years of age, the prevalence of high-risk type HPV was 

31.7% and any genotype HPV was 41.8%.59  

37. Project design. Based on this disease burden data and the health economic analysis 

(linked document), showing the introduction of HPV, PCV and RV vaccines are cost-effective, 

it is recommended that Vanuatu introduce the new vaccines. A PCV catch up campaign to two 

years of age is recommended.  The project will support HPV vaccine introduction targeting 

girls 10 years of age.  An HPV vaccine catch-up campaign is supported for girls aged 10 to 14 

years.  

B. Project investments 

Government Immunization budget line is increased incrementally across the life of the project, 

and thereby contributing to the sustainability of the financing of the vaccines post-project.  This 

equates to 20% in year 3, 40% in year 4, and 60% of vaccine costs in year 5 (Table 12). 

Vanuatu will also receive a loan of USD 2,250,000 from the project. 

 
Table 17: Summary of project costs and financing: vaccines and cold chain 

 Y1 (2019) 

(US$ M) 

Y2 (2020) 

(US$ M) 

Y3 (2021) 

(US$ M) 

Y4 (2022) 

(US$ M) 

Y5 (2023) 

(US$ M) 

Total  

(US$, M) 

A. Vaccines - 2.15 0.85 0.85 0.85 4.70 

  ADB Financing - 2.15 0.68 0.51 0.34 3.68 

 Vanuatu 

Financing - - 
0.17 

(20%) 

0.34 

(40%) 

0.51 

(60%) 
1.02 

B Credit line to 

VII 
1.28 - - - - 1.28 

Cold chain 

equipment 
0.37 - - - - 0.37 

Cold chain 

equipment 

(potential future 

upgrades) 

0.25 - - - - 0.25 

*Rounded numbers in this table may not sum 

38. For HPV vaccine the target population will be girls at 10 years of age. In Year 2 of the 

project, there will be a catch-up campaign for girls between 11 – 14 years old. Details are 

provided in Table . 

 
Table 18: Breakdown of HPV vaccine target population, ages, campaign and vaccine 
costs 

 Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5  

Target population - 20,000  
(girls only) 

4,000  
(girls only) 

4,000  
(girls only) 

4,000  
(girls only) 

Dose(s) required  2 per child age 
<=14 

2 per child 

Age - 10 year olds + 
11-14 year olds 

(catch-up) 

10 year olds 
 

                                                
59 Government of Vanuatu, Ministry of Health, Vanuatu Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn, Child & Adolescent 

Health Policy and Implementation Strategy 2017-2020.  
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Campaign - Routine + Catch 
up 

Routine 
 

Vaccine cost                                                                                                                      Total 

Estimated vaccine 
cost 

 
US$12 per dose  

Assumed wastage 
rate 

 
5%  

Buffer stock for Y2  6 months  

Percentage of 
shipping and 
handling costs 

 
25%  

Estimated cost of 
AD syringes 

 
US$0.05 per AD syringe  

Syringe wastage 
rate 

 
10%  

Estimated cost of 
safety boxes 

 
$0.75 per safety box  

Total Vaccine 
costs 

 
 $    698,186   $ 126,681   $ 126,681   $ 126,681   $   1,078,230  

Project (ADB) 
contribution 

- 
 $     698,186   $101,345   $    76,009   $    50,673   $926,212  

Government 
contribution 

- 
 $           -   $ 25,336   $    50,673   $    76,009   $152,018  

(% of total vaccine 
cost) 

 
(0%) (20%) (40%) (60%)  

 

39. For PCV the target population will be all infants from the birth cohort. There will be a catch-

up campaign for children up to 24 months in year 2. Details are provided in Table . 

 

Table 19: Breakdown of PCV target population, ages, campaigns and vaccine costs 
 

Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5 
 

Target population - 17,400 8,700 8,700 8,700 

Dose(s) required  3 per child 

Scheduled 
dose(s) 

- 6w, 14w, 12m  
+ 24m (catch-up) 

6w, 14w, 12m 

Campaign - Routine + Catch-
up 

Routine 

Vaccine cost                                                                                                                 Total 

Estimated 
vaccine cost 

 
US$16 per dose  

Assumed 
wastage rate 

 
5%  

Buffer stock for 
Y2 

 
6 months - - -  

Percentage of 
shipping and 
handling costs 

 
25%  

Estimated cost of 
AD syringes 

 
US$0.05 per AD syringe  

Syringe wastage 
rate 

 
10%  

Estimated cost of 
safety boxes 

 
$0.75 per safety box  

Total Vaccine 
costs 

- 
 $ 1,194,709   $ 550,169   $ 550,169   $ 550,169   $   2,845,216  
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Project (ADB) 
contribution 

- 
 $ 1,194,709   $440,135   $ 330,101   $ 220,068   $   2,185,013  

Government 
contribution 

- 
 $           -   $110,034   $ 220,068   $ 330,101   $660,203  

(% of total vaccine 
cost) 

 
(0%) (20%) (40%) (60%)  

 

40. For RV vaccine, the target population will be all infants in the birth cohort. Catch-up 

campaigns for RV vaccine is not recommended. Details are provided in Table 20. 

 
Table 20: Breakdown of RV vaccine target population, ages, and vaccine costs 

 Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5 

 

Target population - 8,700 8,700 8,700 8,700 

Dose(s) required  2 per child 

Scheduled 
dose(s) 

- 6w, 14w 

Campaign - Routine 

Vaccine cost                                                                                                                     Total 

Estimated vaccine 
cost 

 
US$7.50 per dose  

Assumed wastage 
rate 

 
5%  

Buffer stock for Y2  
6 months - - -  

Percentage of 
shipping and 
handling costs 

 
25%  

Total Vaccine 
costs 

- 
 $    257,813   $ 171,563   $ 171,563   $ 171,563   $772,500  

Project (ADB) 
contribution 

- 
 $     257,813   $137,250   $ 102,938   $    68,625   $566,625  

Government 
contribution 

- 
 $           -   $ 34,313   $    68,625   $ 102,938   $205,875  

(% of total vaccine 
cost) 

 
(0%) (20%) (40%) (60%)  

 

  



Appendix 1 

 

97 
 

Table 21: Summary of system bottlenecks to be targeted by the project 
Output 1- Regional vaccines procurement strengthened 

Inadequate supply of new vaccines and 
CCE in health facilities 

 Procurement of new vaccines and CCE 
-Vaccines and cold chain procurement through VII  

Insufficient knowledge for management 
of vaccine stock and CCE 

 Capacity building for vaccine and CCE mgt. 
- VII capacity building in MOH including stock/ CCE 
inventory management and maintenance 

 

 

 

Output 2- Health systems strengthened 

Low service coverage Service delivery strengthening 
-Update standard operating procedures and 
guidelines 

-Update micro-plans for routine outreach 

-Deliver mass HPV and PCV vaccine campaigns 

 

 

Insufficient supply of medical 
equipment 

 

-Conduct Effective Vaccine Management 

assessments  

-Refurbish/ update cold chain equipment 

Low capacity for program and financial 
management 

 Leadership and governance support 

-Update EPI and cold chain policies  

-Participate in country-level health sector 

coordination mechanism 

-Capacity building in planning, budgeting, accounting 

and financial reports 

-Incorporate new vaccines into the annual health 

planning and budgeting process. 

 

 

 

 

Incomplete and low quality of health 
information and surveillance of VPDs 

 Health information systems strengthening 
-Review, update, and integrate EPI reporting forms 
and indicators into health information systems 

-Conduct National Immunization Coverage Surveys 

 

 

Insufficient health workforce availability 
and training 

Investment in the health workforce 
-Immunization and public health training for health 
workers including vaccine delivery, routine reporting, 
adverse event notification, supply chain management 
and supportive supervision 

 

 

Output 3- Community awareness increased 

Insufficient community engagement and 
inequitable access to basic health 
services 

 Demand generation through communication and 
health promotion 
-Engage in community partnerships with existing 
structures 
-Develop integrated public health and gender 
sensitive communication material and implementation 
plan to generate demand 
-Partnership with NGO, VHFA to implement 
community strategy and key interventions and 
activities, including communication materials in TV 
and radio spots, print media, job aids, and social 
media tools 
-Implement and monitor Gender Action Plan 

 

 

 

 

Project Management 

 
 

-Recruit implementation firm 
-Develop M&E framework 
-Extend country partnership agreements with 
UNICEF to include new vaccines  
-Support governments on annual procurement 
contracts with UNICEF for vaccines 
-Prepare annual work plans  
-Prepare annual audits and project reports 
-Conduct gender awareness of project staff 
-Support the procurement of assets, including 
boat engines, vehicles or medical supplies 
-Mid-term review 
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Figure 4- National immunization program structure and selected project investments 
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Appendix 2: New Vaccines Introduction Checklist 

WHO Template for a New Vaccine Introduction Plan 
 
A. Summary of key aspects of the introduction plan 
 
1. Justification, goals, and objectives (short-, intermediate- and long-term) of the new vaccine 

introduction, with reference to the National Health (or Immunization) Plan or the 
Comprehensive Multi-Year Plan, as well as expected impacts on the immunization program 
and health system  

2. The vaccine and presentation to be introduced, the specific target populations, phased or 
nation-wide implementation of introduction, and delivery strategies 

3. Coordination mechanisms and key partnerships for overseeing the introduction 
4. Opportunities provided by the new vaccine introduction to improve the immunization program 

and health system, e.g., key issues and weaknesses to be addressed by the vaccine 
introduction 

5. Major activities of the introduction, e.g., expanding health worker capacity, reaching the hard-
to-reach with social mobilization, improving the cold chain and logistics system, etc.   

6. Costs and financing of the short- and intermediate-term new vaccine introduction activities 
and the associated operational costs  

7. Sources of funding and the contribution of the Government 
 

 SAM TON TUV VAN 

1. Background and Country Context   

Brief background information about the country (e.g., geography, population 
size, health status of children)  
 

√ √ √ √ 

Brief background on the national immunization program, such as:     

Goals, plans and vaccines currently in the current immunization program.  √ √ √ √ 

Program performance and achievements (e.g., trends in coverage rates, 
accelerated disease control efforts) disaggregated by sex, geography and 
wealth quintile, to the extent possible. 

√ √ √ √ 

Past experience with new vaccine introductions and lessons learned, key 
findings from a recent EPI review, post-introduction evaluation, EVM 
assessment or other analyses and how identified issues and recommendations 
are being addressed by the immunization program 

√ √ √ √ 

Recent improvements made to the immunization program and health systems 
that will facilitate introduction of the new vaccine (e.g., increase in cold chain 
capacity) 

√ √ √ √ 

Burden of the targeted disease in the country (e.g., summary of local data or 
regional or global estimates of disease burden, estimates of the economic 
burden of the disease) 

√ √ √ √ 

Decision-making process regarding the new vaccine introduction such as the 
decision-making body involved (e.g., NITAG, special task force), types of 
evidence reviewed and rationale for the decision (e.g., contribution to national 
and/or global disease prevention and health goals; cost, affordability and cost-
effectiveness of the vaccination vs. other prevention and control measures), 
involvement of stakeholders and experts from different agencies and sectors of 

√ 
HPAC
60 

√ 
NHD
C60 

√ 
JPW
G60 

√ 
CDS
C60 

                                                
60  HPAC- Health Partners Advisory Committee, NHDC- National Health Development Committee, JPWG- Joint-

Partners Working Group, CDSC-Communicable Disease Steering Committee 
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society, government review and approval process (e.g., HSCC, ICC, other 
health departments) 
 

2. Goals, objectives and expected impact and challenges of the vaccine introduction 

Goals, objectives and targets (e.g., short-, intermediate- and long-term), and 
alignment with regional and/or global timelines (if applicable) 

√ √ √ √ 

Expected impact of the vaccine (e.g., on disease incidence and mortality, on 
equity related to gender, wealth and geography, among other factors on the 
overall immunization program and health system) 

√ √ √ √ 

Major challenges and risks of the new vaccine introduction (e.g., programmatic, 
financial, cultural/societal) and the country’s ability to address them.  An equity 
analysis (gender, wealth, geography) should be conducted that includes 
suggested actions to mitigate any equity-related barriers that are identified.  

√ √ √ √ 

3. Strategies and policies for introducing the vaccine into the national immunization program 

Choice of vaccine product to be introduced and rationale (including availability 
and acceptance of alternative presentations or products, if relevant)61  

√ √ √ √ 

Target ages and populations, eligibility for routine vaccination and for catch-up 
vaccination, if any; size and locations of the target population62  

√ √ √ √ 

Updated immunization schedule with the new vaccine (including booster doses, 
if relevant) and any schedule changes for the other routine vaccines63 

√ √ √ √ 

Delivery strategies to be used, including how to overcome barriers to reach new 
and hard-to-reach populations, the possible role of other sectors (e.g., 
education), etc.64 

√ √ √ √ 

Opportunities for integrating activities related to delivery of the new vaccine with 
other health interventions65  

√ √ √ √ 

Phased or nation-wide introduction and planned month of national introduction 
or time table for a phased introduction66  

√ √ √ √ 

4. Resources, costs, financing, and sustainability 

Overall trend of country immunization financing, including government funding, 
private sector, and donor funding, as applicable 

√ √ √ √ 

Identification of key immunization program and health system needs for new 
vaccine introduction such as human resources (e.g., addressing number, 
distribution, turnover, and skills of vaccinators, nurses, logisticians, supervisors, 
delivery truck drivers, etc.), equipment, systems, etc. 

√ √ √ √ 

Estimated cost of adding the new vaccine to the immunization program, 
including non-vaccine operational costs; plans for financing the additional costs 
of the new vaccine being introduced.  

√ √ √ √ 

Overview of plans highlighting any funding shortfalls and plans to address 
these, and potential impact on the new vaccine introduction 

√ 
Plans 
not 
availa
ble 

√ 
Plans 
not 
availa
ble 

√ 
Plans  
not 
availa
ble 

√ 
Plans 
not 
availa
ble 

5. Strategies and activities for the vaccine introduction, including opportunities to improve the 
immunization program and overall health system during the introduction 

Coordinating and monitoring the preparation and implementation of the vaccine 
introduction   

    

Groups that will coordinate and oversee the introduction, e.g., steering 
committee or ICC, technical sub-committees to plan and monitor different 
aspects of the introduction, and persons to be included on these committees 

√ 
HPAC 

√ 
NHD
C 

√ 
JPW
G 

√ 
CDS
C 

How the various committees will function, e.g., frequency of meetings, 
chairpersons and secretariat, to whom they report, etc. 

√ √ √ √ 

                                                
61 See Sections 2.3.1 and 3.3 of the WHO Principles and Consideration for Adding a Vaccine to a National Immunization 

Program (PCAVNIP) 
62 See Sections 3.2.3 and 3.2.4 of PCAVNIP. 
63 See Section 3.2.3 of PCAVNIP. 
64 See Section 3.2.5 of PCAVNIP. 
65 See Section 3.2.6 of PCAVNIP. 
66 See Section 3.2.1 of PCAVNIP. 
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Partnerships for the introduction, including sectors and types of organizations 
to be involved (e.g., education, civil society, medical associations) and how they 
will participate in the planning and implementation of the vaccine introduction 

√ √ √ √ 

Planning for procurement and distribution of vaccine67  
 

    

National licensure status of the selected vaccine or process and timeframe for 
licensure  

TBC TBC TBC TBC 

Forecasted vaccine needs, including estimated size of the target population by 
year and estimated number of doses and injection supplies required per year 
(considering any catch-up vaccinations in the first year of introduction, or in 
subsequent years) 

√ √ √ √ 

Procurement procedures such as likely source(s) of vaccine and procurement 
process  

√ 
UNIC
EF 
VII68 

√ 
UNIC
EF VII 

√ 
UNIC
EF VII 

√ 
UNIC
EF VII 

Shipping and distribution, including customs regulations and requirements that 
may affect timing of vaccine deliveries, and planned frequency of vaccine 
deliveries to regions, districts, and health facilities 

√ √ √ √ 

Expanding or upgrading cold chain, logistics, and vaccine management,       

Current cold chain capacity at different levels of the system and source of these 
data; additional requirements at various levels for cold storage, transportation, 
and equipment to accommodate the new vaccine; how any gaps will be filled  

√ √ √ √ 

Current status of vaccine stock management system, including recent 
assessments, key issues (e.g., freeze monitoring), and any planned 
improvements 

√ √ √ √ 

Plans to increase supervision for vaccine management as part of the vaccine 
introduction 

√ √ √ √ 

Planning for increased waste management and injection safety needs to 
accommodate the new vaccine 

    

Current waste management capacity and practices and injection safety 
practices and their adequacy; changes needed to accommodate additional 
volume of wastage due to new vaccine, and plans for upgrading the waste 
management system 

√ √ √ √ 

Revising health and immunization management information/data collection 
forms and systems 

    

Revisions to add the new vaccine and any additional or innovative 
improvements to be made to the forms or information systems, including Child 
Health or Vaccination Cards/Booklets, to improve data quality and to take 
advantage of the new vaccine introduction; coordination with the persons or 
departments responsible for revising, printing and distributing the various forms 
or improving the information system, and the estimated timeline 

√ √ √ √ 

Planning for the monitoring and evaluation of the new vaccine introduction     

Monitoring the vaccine introduction and program performance (e.g., plans for 
monitoring short-, intermediate-, and long-term targets and objectives); also, for 
monitoring the new vaccine coverage69  

√ √ √ √ 

Planning and implementing pre- and post-introduction evaluations using 
available tools, (e.g. Annex 4 to this document – “New Vaccine Introduction 
Checklist”, and WHO’s “New Vaccine Post-Introduction Evaluation (PIE) Tool”) 

√ 
M&E 
IPM 
firm 

√ 
M&E 
IPM 
firm 

√ 
M&E 
IPM 
firm 

√ 
M&E 
IPM 
firm 

Updating or enhancing AEFI surveillance and reporting (e.g., current national 
AEFI monitoring policy and practices and planned improvements)70 

√ √ √ √ 

Supportive supervision and pre- and post-introduction monitoring, including 
plans for supervision activities before, during and after the introduction of the 
new vaccine (e.g., pre-introduction visits to assess readiness for introduction; 

√ √ √ √ 

                                                
67 See Sections 3.4 and 3.5 of PCAVNIP. 
68 UNICEF VII- United Nations Children’s Fund, Vaccine Independence Initiative  
69 See Sections 3.1 and 4.1 of PCAVNIP. 
70 See Section 4.3 of PCAVNIP. 
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immediate post-introduction monitoring visits; post-introduction evaluation or 
EPI review, etc.)71 

Measuring the impact of the new vaccine, e.g., description of any current 
disease surveillance plans for monitoring vaccine impact and timeframe72 

√ √ √ √ 

Training of health workers (or other professionals involved in vaccination)73      

Types and numbers of personnel who provide or assist with vaccination and 
need to be trained, results of any recent assessments of health worker skills 
and knowledge  

√ √ √ √ 

Training plan with strategy (e.g., cascade training), numbers and types of 
people to be trained at national and district levels, duration and content of 
training at each level, materials to be developed, monitoring and evaluation of 
training, and timeline  

√ √ √ √ 

Updating or creation of training modules to be used to train the trainers and 
health workers 

√ √ √ √ 

Planning and conducting social mobilization, communications and advocacy 
activities74 

    

Considerations for handling and obtaining informed consent for vaccination, if 
required  

√ √ √ √ 

Description of any community assessments of Knowledge, Attitude, Practice 
and Behavior (KAPB), focus group discussions or formative research for the 
disease or vaccine that have or will take place and how the findings will inform 
the messages and strategies for information, education, communication, and 
training  

√ √ √ √ 

Advocacy plans to sensitize opinion leaders and the media at national, regional, 
and district levels regarding the introduction and benefits of the new vaccine 
and to obtain their active support 

√ √ √ √ 

Development of a communication strategy and a crisis communication plan √ √ √ √ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
71 See Sections 3.7.2 and 4.4 of PCAVNIP. 
72 See Section 4.2 of PCAVNIP. 
73 See Section 3.7 of PCAVNIP. 
74 See Section 3.8 of PCAVNIP. 
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Appendix 3: Draft Terms of Reference for provision of consulting services for project 
implementation 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

SAMOA, TONGA, TUVALU AND VANUATU 

REGIONAL SYSTEMS STRENGTHENING FOR EFFECTIVE COVERAGE OF NEW 

VACCINES IN THE PACIFIC 

Integrated Project Management  

INTRODUCTION  

The Asian Development Bank (ADB) will support the Governments of Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and 

Vanuatu to reduce the disease burden of three vaccine preventable diseases - human papilloma 

virus, rotavirus and pneumococcal disease and strengthening immunization programs through 

the Regional Systems Strengthening for Effective Coverage of New Vaccines in the Pacific 

(project). The project will be implemented over a five-year period. A consulting firm is being 

recruited to support project implementation. 

 

PROJECT BACKGROUND 

  
1. The Governments of Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu recognize the importance of 
completing their immunization programs with the addition of three new vaccines: HPV, PCV and 
RV and using the introduction of these vaccines to strengthen their health systems.  The project 
impact is aligned with Sustainable Development Goal 3: ensure healthy lives and promote well-
being for all at all ages and to reduce the incidence and prevalence of cervical cancer in the 
Pacific region. The outcome will be increased immunization coverage. 
 
3. The project will have three interlinked outputs: 
 
1. Output 1: Regional vaccine procurement strengthened. Support Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu 

and Vanuatu to procure vaccines (HPV, PCV and RV) through the UNICEF Vaccine 
Independence Initiative (VII) with a phased counterpart financing approach to ensure 
sustainability beyond the project. The output will also support the procurement of WHO and 
UNICEF Performance, Quality and Safety certified cold chain equipment and associated 
supplies through VII. The output will support microplanning and procurement forecasting for 
all vaccines including emergency preparedness planning to ensure a buffer stock is 
maintained at both regional and national levels. This will enable rapid responsiveness to 
outbreaks and will also compensate for wastages during new vaccine introduction. 
Procurement capacity building will contribute to the overall procurement planning and process 
for health commodities. 

 
2. Output 2: Health systems strengthened. Output 2 will support Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and 

Vanuatu to: (i) update immunization and cold chain policies, guidelines, and training materials; 
(ii) train health workers through workshops and on-the-job training in vaccine administration, 
routine and adverse event reporting, waste management, preventative maintenance and 
supportive supervision, and supply chain management; (iii) build the capacity of health system 
in evidence-based planning, bottom-up budgeting for routine integrated outreach with an 
equity focus; (iv) produce sex-disaggregated immunization reports and integrated within the 
broader health information system; and (v) evidence generation through nationwide 
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immunization coverage surveys and other surveys to assess the quality and equity of the 
vaccine management. 
 

3. Output 3: Community awareness improved. Support Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu 
in leveraging existing community structures through partnerships with Ministries of Health and 
other Ministries, non-government and civil society organizations, community and church 
leaders and other local community groups to improve public health knowledge, attitude and 
practice for better overall health seeking behavior and vaccine acceptance.  

 
4. The project will be executed by the Ministries of Finance (MOF) in Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu 
and Vanuatu, the executing agencies (EA), and implemented by the Ministries of Health (MOH) 
in Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu, the implementing agencies (IAs). The MOHs are 
responsible for the overall administration and financial management of the project and will be 
supported by an integrated project management (IPM) team. The IPM team will consist of national 
and international consultants to be contracted through a single firm, who work with counterpart 
staff at the respective MOHs and in close coordination with UNICEF, WHO, ADB and other 
partners, ensuring alignment of the project within the broader health sector development. The 
IPM team will also support the MOHs to develop a monitoring and evaluation framework, including 
establishing a baseline for the project, midline, and end-line evaluation. The IPM approach allows 
the use of regional experts, strengthening alignment with ADB implementation processes and 
supporting regionalism. Each country will pay its proportion of IPM person-months used through 
separate contracts.75 Each country EA or IA (as relevant) will negotiate and sign a separate 
contract with the consulting firm covering the activities of their country.  ADB has been delegated 
responsibility by each of the four EAs for the selection of the consulting firm.76   
 
5. In addition to the IPM, the MOHs will recruit additional consultants under the project as 
needed to (i) support a nationwide survey of immunization coverage in year 5 to determine 
whether the project has achieved its target outcome and outputs, including equity of coverage; 
and (ii) engage civil society for community mobilization, where necessary.  

 
6. The four Project Directors are the CEOs/Director General of Health in Samoa, Tonga, 
Tuvalu and Vanuatu. The project will use the existing health sector coordination mechanisms in 
each country—involving MOHs, MOFs, other government departments concerned, development 
partners, and civil society—to oversee project implementation and report to the MOFs and ADB.  
 
7. The IPM will closely coordinate with UNICEF. UNICEF will support the project through a 
combination of existing expertise in country, sub-regional and regional UNICEF offices across the 
Asia Pacific region and field additional experts when required to meet the deliverables. Under the 
project, UNICEF will have a dual role to: (i) provide the pooled procurement platform for vaccines 
and cold chain equipment through the VII and (ii) provide associated technical expertise to country 
immunization programs. Existing agreements between countries and UNICEF VII will be 
expanded to include HPV, PCV and RV, cold chain equipment and related services (include 
additional technical support for in-country vaccines procurement planning, supply chain 
management and delivery of safe and quality vaccination programs). At the regional level, the 

                                                
75 All four countries have requested ADB support to recruit a single firm. 
76 Consulting firm means any private or public entity with the capacity to provide consulting services. Such entities 
include international and national consulting firms, engineering firms, construction firms, management firms, 
procurement agents, inspection agents, auditors, United Nations (UN) agencies and other multilateral organizations, 
universities, research institutions, Government agencies, civil society organizations (CSO) and non-governmental 
organizations (NGOs), when such entities provide consulting services.  



Appendix 3 

105 
 

IPM firm project manager will ensure close coordination and communication with the UNICEF 
sub-regional office in Fiji.  
 

OBJECTIVE OF THE ASSIGNMENT AND SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 
8. The IPM firm will be responsible for supporting the MOH in Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu and 
Vanuatu to successfully introduce new vaccines and sustainably strengthen their immunization 
delivery systems by providing a team of international and national consultants to achieve the 
project outputs as effectively and efficiently as possible. This will entail forming strong 
relationships with Governments and in particular the MOHs and their national immunization 
programs and development partners.  As this is a regional project, subject experts are expected 
to work across all four countries where possible, to institutionalize key approaches to health 
system strengthening and share best practices. The IPM team will be responsible for supporting 
the IAs in achieving the project outputs and reporting requirements under the project including 
baseline, midline and endline reporting.  
 
9. The key personnel in the IPM team should have demonstrated experience and relevant 
skills in project management, health systems, immunization systems, financial management, 
gender mainstreaming and monitoring. The IPM firm will work closely with MOH staff, health 
workers, UNICEF and other development partners and should have experience of supporting 
national governments in the Asia Pacific region in strengthening health systems, management 
and programming. 
 
10. It is preferable that the consulting firm has an in-depth knowledge of ADB financial 
management and procurement procedures in order to be able to fully support each of the 
countries implement the project.  The key personnel will have knowledge of capacity building and 
supporting government ministries creating sustainable pathways for countries to sustain the gains 
beyond the project end.   
 

DURATION AND LOCATION 

 
8.  The contract period is from January 2019 to November 2023 for the provision of project 
management and technical expertise.  The IPM firm structure will be integrated within the 
Ministries of Health of the four countries. The national consultants will be based in country full 
time and the international consultants will divide their time across the four countries. It is expected 
that for the first two years the international consultants work full time for the project across the 
four countries, with a phased approach after midterm. The four Ministries of Health will provide 
office space for the national consultants. 
 

DETAILED OUTPUTS OF THE ASSIGNMENT 

 
9.   Reporting to the Project Directors through the IPM, the firm will perform the following in 

each of the project countries and with reference to the national laws, standards, and 
requirements, as relevant, where referenced below: 

 
I. Project management and administration. Development (in consultation with project 

coordination mechanisms and approval from the Project Directors) of country specific 
project work-plans and annual implementation plans. Timely preparation of monthly, 
quarterly and annual project progress reports, and project midline and completion reports 
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including reporting against project implementation, design monitoring framework, 
procurement plans, work plan progress, audits, gender action plan, project assets and 
compliance against covenants. All data in project reports will be sex-disaggregated to the 
extent possible. Participation in country level health sector mechanisms and complete 
related project management activities, as necessary to implement the project successfully 
and comply with ADB policies and guidelines.   

II. Health systems support: Monitor forecasting of all vaccine procurement and support the 
inclusion of vaccines into annual budgets and medium-term expenditure plans (or similar 
forward planning budgeting). Support the annual budgeting process at MOH to ensure 
counterpart financing of vaccines is made available throughout the project.  

III. Financial management: According to ADB and country requirements (i) establish and 
maintain project accounts; (ii) establish accounting systems, practices and procedures for 
the project; (iii) manage and administer all financial transactions under the project and 
prepare loan/grant withdrawal applications; (iv) generate project financial statements and 
prepare monthly and quarterly financial reports, and annual progress reports and a project 
completion report; (v) ensure supporting documents and records are retained and prepare 
project financial statements to be audited by the external auditor in a timely manner; (vi) 
support audit of cold chain inventory and other assets procured under the project at MOH; 
(vii) ensure all assets procured by the project are duly registered in the Government 
financial system; (viii) manage project cash flow and maintain project accounts; (ix) 
complete grant and loan financial records for auditing; (x) strengthen the internal audit 
function by involving internal audit unit in project planning; and (xi) develop the financial 
management capacity of counterparts by providing training on ADB procedures including 
but not limited to withdrawal and disbursement procedures, and financial management and 
reporting best practices. 

IV. Procurement. According to ADB policies (i) Conduct procurement training for the MOH 
staff on the use of standard bidding documents, requests for proposals, evaluation reports, 
contracts and procurement guidelines as required for this project according to ADB 
procedures on procurement; (ii) manage project procurement and tender processes; (iii) 
manage contracts and contractual arrangements cost effectively; (iv) refine the project 
procurement plan with periodic reviews in accordance to ADB and the government 
counterparts requirements (v) prepare physical progress and overall procurement activity 
reports quarterly, maintain coordination of project procurement activities and be 
responsible for the achievement of all project-related procurement targets.   

V. Gender.  Support the MOH to (i) map community structures to inform the development of 
the communication and community mobilization strategy; (ii) engage in community 
partnerships with existing structures to develop and implement the community strategy 
and key interventions and activities including testing communication materials in TV and 
radio, print media and job aids; (iii) implement gender action plans and gender 
mainstreaming across the project, (iv) reported semi-annually to ADB against gender 
action plan; (v) conduct gender awareness of MOH, ensure social inclusion and gender 
mainstreaming throughout all activities and align with the regional and national strategies 
of the governments of Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu, Vanuatu, ADB and the Pacific region; and 
(vi) monitor gender indicators in the design and monitoring framework.   

VI. Monitoring and evaluation.  (i) develop project monitoring and evaluation framework 
endorsed by Project Directors;  (ii) establish baselines; (iii) monitor project contributions 
to the achievement of stated impacts, outcomes and outputs detailed in the Design and 
Monitoring Frameworks (DMF) contained in the respective loan and grant agreements for 
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each country, (iv) prepare baseline, midline and end of project evaluation reports; (v) 
review of project work plans, appraisal of  overall project performance and progress, 
assess any changes in the operational and strategic environment, identifying emerging 
issues and providing recommendations;  (vi) support MOH to implement immunization 
coverage survey to inform whether the project has achieved its target outcome and 
outputs including equity of coverage, and (vii) capacity development in monitoring 
activities of MOH, data collection and analysis of key program indicators, and undertake 
and document a mid and end of term review.  The predominant approach will be qualitative 
and participatory with an emphasis on use of best practice in monitoring and evaluation of 
knowledge to policy. It is expected that M&E analysis will, where appropriate, identify 
factors that enhance or constrain the effectiveness of vaccine introduction policies and 
practices.  Project evaluation will be carried out in three phases: (i) project inception (ii) 
mid-term evaluation and (iii) end-of-project evaluation and impact assessment after five 
years.  

VII. Regionalism: Host a regional annual project meeting in 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023 
with the Project Directors and senior directors overseeing the immunization program. 

VIII. Prepare an exit plan starting in 2019 and report on it annually. Build sufficient capacity in 
the government to sustain program implementation post-project. 

 

KEY TIMELINES AND DELIVERABLES 

 
10. The firm will be contracted on time-based method with agreed milestones and deliverables 
(see Tables 1 and 2). These deliverables will need to be submitted to Project Directors and ADB 
for review and endorsement. Bidders are free to make additional deliverable inclusions as 
appropriate. The IPM firm will invoice separately for each country on the consultant time. Travel 
costs and regional meeting costs will be reimbursed based on receipts by each country.  
 
11. The firm will be responsible for assigning its team members to each tasks to produce the 
outputs as effectively and efficiently as possible.  
 
 
Table 1: Provisional Work Plan  

Work plan activities  
Dates 

Recruitment and fielding of all consultants Q1 2019 

Set-up financial and operational systems Q1 2019 

Preparation of monthly financial reports and submission of quarterly 
consolidated reports to ADB 

Starting on end of Q1 2019 

Develop operational guidelines in accordance to ADB rules and provide 
capacity building to MoH counterparts (finance and procurement) 

Q2 2019 

Preparation of M&E framework, in conjunction with MOH, UNICEF and other 
stakeholders – approved by MOH and ADB.  

Q2 2019 

Manage the tender process in accordance with ADB rules From Q2 2019 

Manage all contracts in accordance with ADB rules From Q2 2019 

Implementation and monitoring of Gender Action Plan From Q2 2019 

Prepare withdraw applications From Q2 2019 

Development and submission of the project review meeting Annually Q1 

Support MOH to include vaccines in annual health budgets Annually, timing as per 
countries financial year 
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Support MOH to plan and manage financing of National immunization 
survey  

Q3 2020 

Organize a project mid-term review  Q3 2020 

Final Project Report  Q4 2023 

 
Table 2: Reporting framework 

# Reporting – for all four countries 
Dates 

(estimates) 

1 Project annual workplan & inception report  Q1 2019 

2 Quarterly report  with GAP and financial summary Q2 2019 

3 Quarterly reports with GAP and financial summary Q3 2019 

4 (i) Project annual report including audit/financial reports, 
DMF, procurement, GAP, covenant etc.  

(ii) Workplan for the following year 

Q4 2019 

5 Regional meeting report Q1 2020 

6 Quarterly report  with GAP and financial summary Q2 2020 

7 Quarterly reports with GAP and financial summary Q3 2020 

8 (i) Project annual report including audit/financial reports, 
DMF, procurement, GAP, covenant etc. 

(ii) Workplan for the following year 

Q4 2020 

9 Regional meeting report Q1 2021 

10 Quarterly report  with GAP and financial summary Q2 2021 

11 Quarterly reports with GAP and financial summary Q3 2021 

 (i) Project annual report including audit/financial reports, 
DMF, procurement, GAP, covenant etc. 

(ii) Summary of project mid-year evaluation 
(iii) Workplan for the following year 

Q4 2021 

12 Regional meeting report Q1 2022  

13 Quarterly report  with GAP and financial summary Q2 2022 

14 Quarterly reports with GAP and financial summary Q3 2022 

15 (i) Project annual report including audit/financial reports, 
DMF, procurement, GAP, covenant etc. 

(ii) Workplan for the following year 

Q4 2022 

16 Regional meeting report Q1 2023 

17 Quarterly report  with GAP and financial summary Q2 2023 

18 Quarterly reports with GAP and financial summary Q3 2023 

19 Regional meeting and final project report Q4 2023 

 

TEAM COMPOSITION  

 
12.  While the IPM firm is free to select its team composition to best deliver the outputs 
required under this contract, it is expected that the technical team will require, as a minimum, the 
following four (4) key international key experts, (i) Project manager; (ii) Finance/procurement 
specialist; (iii) Gender specialist; (iv) Monitoring and evaluation expert. This will be in addition to  
other supporting resources to allow for flexibility to address ad-hoc issues e.g. public health 
emergencies or unexpected turnover of staff, and capacity development requirements as they 
arise at the national level.77 Evaluation of following four international and eight national consultant 
profiles will form a part of the tender evaluation:  

                                                
77 undefined expertise will be based on each countries’ requirements which could include: health public financial 

management specialist to provide capacity building in integrating vaccines into annual planning, budgeting, reporting 
and accounting in the health sector and information systems specialist to provide support to integrate EPI reporting 
into the health information system, particularly where opportunities exist for digital health information systems. 
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i. Project manager to coordinate all activities and outputs of the IPM with UNICEF and 

ensure the preparation of quality documents and reports. The project manager will report 
to the Project Directors, the EAs and ADB 

ii. Project finance/procurement specialist to support all project procurement and financial 
transactions to ensure they are according to ADB guidelines, the specialist will also 
oversee the national project finance/procurement officers at the IPM;  

iii. Gender specialist to support gender mainstreaming across the project and report against 
the Gender Action Plan; and  

iv. Monitoring and Evaluation expert to prepare the project monitoring framework and support 
IAs to report against it.  

 
National (for each country):  

i. Public Health officers to coordinate all in-country support and provide direct support to 
MOH 

ii. Finance/procurement officers to support all project procurement and financial transactions 
and activities. 

 
Table 3: Summary table for time based (person month) allocation by expert 

Country  Time    

 SAMOA TONGA TUVALU VANUATU Total 

Project Manager 13 7 5 19 44 

Finance and 
Procurement 
Specialist 

11 6 4 17 38 

Gender Specialist 8 4 3 11 26 

Monitoring and 
Evaluation expert 

7 3 2 10 22 

Public Health 
Officer 

40 40 40 40  

Finance and 
Procurement 
Officer 

20 20 20 20  

*Resource person 3 2 1 5  

*Resource person will be contracted upon request by the Project Directors during the project 
implementation. Or the person months can be reallocated to another expert. This will be included as a 
contingency under the contract.  

 
13. Project Manager (team leader)  

Objective/Purpose of the Assignment 
The Project manager will be responsible for the overall leadership, management and 
implementation of the regional project. The manager will oversee country specific workplan 
development and implementation of the IPM and coordinate with UNICEF on targeted technical 
support proposed under the project. The manager will report to the four Project Directors for each 
of the countries, ADB, and coordinate with UNICEF, WHO and other stakeholders at both regional 
and country-office levels. The manager will ensure gender sensitive and inclusive systems and 
procedures to deliver the outputs in the project design, including the monitoring framework (DMF), 
ensure gender mainstreaming and social inclusion throughout all activities, and align with the 
regional and national strategies of the governments of Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu, Vanuatu, ADB, 
and the Pacific region.   
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Scope of Work 

• Develop collegial working relationships with key stakeholders including the relevant 
Ministries of Health and Finance counterparts, key regional development partners e.g. 
WHO and UNICEF, and local NGOs/CSOs, church groups and community leaders; 

• Establish and implement project implementation reporting systems and procedures for 
management, monitoring, and responding to implementation challenges providing sex-
disaggregated data where possible; 

• Develop the overall country project  and annual workplans through a bottom-up approach; 

• Coordinate timely input and phasing of international and national specialists’ inputs as per 
project implementation plan; 

• Monitor the project’s socioeconomic impacts;  

• Anticipate, minimize and manage project risks; 

• Ensure the MOHs have effective operating procedures that are in line with ADB 
operational guidelines for all project activities, disbursements, reporting, and monitoring 
and evaluation to achieve results; 

• Ensure the project is implemented according to the report and recommendation of the 
President (RRP), Project Administration Manual (PAM) and any subsequent 
instructions/guidance from MOF and MOH and ADB; 

• Coordinate with ADB and the government to ensure smooth funding flow; 

• Underpin all activities with best practice leadership, management, organization and 
people development, and change management strategies, and ensure gender 
mainstreaming and social inclusion underpin all activities; 

• Lead and facilitate the project annual review meetings 

• Provide technical expertise to MOH as required to support immunization programs; 

• Engage in public communication activities to respond, promote and disseminate project 
information and progress reports;  

• Coordinate and support ADB and government counterparts in conducting regular and 
special review missions; 

• Provide leadership in responding to emergency or crisis management e.g. disease 
outbreaks or anti-vaccination campaigns; and 

• Develop the management capacity of counterparts. 
 
 

Minimum Qualifications 

• Medical or nursing degree, post-graduate qualifications in public health, or equivalent; 

• At least 15 years senior experience in public health leadership and management, at least 
five years as team leader and experience in working in the Asia-Pacific region; 

• Experience in the introduction of new vaccines and/or managing vaccination programs 
and/or public health programs; and 

• Ability to establish and maintain effective relationships with multiple stakeholders, with 
ADB and with partners. 

 

14. Finance/Procurement Specialist  

Objective/Purpose of the Assignment 
The specialist will provide oversight on procurement, finance, accounting and support 

management of the project. The specialist will ensure that the project team complies with ADB 

procurement policies and project reporting requirements. The consultant will also support 
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withdrawal applications, monitor contract disbursements progress and the financial performance 

of the project including supporting annual auditing process. 

 

Scope of work 

• Evaluation of national financial systems and operating procedures for asset registration 
and custody, accounting policies, internal financial control – including authorizations and 
transaction recording accuracy with the government internal control officer;   

• Be responsible for project financial management, ensuring compliance with ADB policies 
and procedures; 

• Ensure that annual budgets are prepared in advance of the financial year based on 
interaction with Ministries of Health; 

• Provide operational and professional supervision of the project accounting and 
procurement; 

• Liaise with project/government external auditors and internal auditors and be responsible 
for ensuring timely presentation of the project financial statements for audit;  

• Ensure that both internal and external annual audits are completed on the project in 
accordance with ADB requirements; 

• Manage and administer all financial transactions under the project, including cash-flow; 

• Seek approval for project expenditures and prepare withdrawal applications; 

• Prepare project progress reports and a project completion report; 

• Maintain project accounts, generate financial statements, and complete grant financial 
records for auditing; 

• Refine the project’s procurement plan and develop a detailed procurement plan, strategy, 
and manuals (if necessary) in accordance with ADB and the government counterparts; 

• Periodic procurement plan and methods updates and annual reports or as necessary; 

• Plan and conduct procurement training for the implementation agencies’ staff on the use 
of standard bidding documents, requests for proposals, evaluation reports, contracts and 
procurement guidelines as required for this project; 

• Intensive training of MOH staff in financial management including withdrawal and 
disbursement procedures, financial management, reporting best practices, anticorruption, 
auditing, and fraud prevention and detection. 

• Prepare and execute purchase orders and requisitions; 

• Maintain coordination of project procurement activities and be responsible for the 
achievement of all project-related procurement targets; 

• Manage the entire tender process from advertising process involved in procurement, 
procurement correspondence, bid receipt, and bid opening in strict accordance with the 
agreed upon procurement procedures and participate in contract negotiations and 
manage contracts. 

• Manage the project finance and procurement filing system in a systematic manner 
retaining documentation as per ADB policy in a safe location; 

• Prepare physical progress and overall procurement activity reports quarterly for the 
Project Manager; 

• Support and participate in joint review missions, and other relevant missions including for 
monitoring, evaluation, research, and formative analysis; 

• Assist MOH in project procurement logistics, including vaccine and cold-chain equipment 
arrival procedures, transportation logistics and storage, and synchronizing national 
inventory lists;  

• Coordinate and support UNICEF supply division on the annual forecasting and 
procurement plans for vaccines and associated supplies through VII; 
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Minimum qualifications 

• An advanced degree in procurement, accounting, engineering, economics or other  

relevant field; 

• At least five-years of experience working with Governments, preferably in health sector 

procurement; 

• Experience in working with multi-lateral agencies, and/or other international partners; 

• Experience in writing English language reports. 

 

15. Gender Specialist  

Objective/Purpose of the Assignment 

The specialist will support the implementation of the overall and national gender action plans, 
provide training to the country level experts and monitor the gender indicators in the design and 
monitoring framework. The specialist will report to the Project manager and work closely with the 
other specialists to ensure engendering of all relevant activities. The specialist will coordinate with 
the public health officer to ensure that there are gender sensitive designs and implementation 
plans for all community engagement activities. 
 
Scope of work 

• Provide technical advice and support relevant staff in the MOH and other government and 

civil society project partners on the implementation of the Gender Action Plan (GAP). This 

will include review of progress and constraints to implementation of the GAP, development 

of solutions and measures to address challenges. 

• Capacity development in gender mainstreaming in line with existing gender programs in 

the countries;  

• Ensure mainstreaming of the communications and community mobilization activities 
o Review evidence gathering protocols planned to inform the communication and 

community mobilization strategy and design of interventions to ensure they include 
attention to gender norms and relations, health care decision-making in the family 
and control over resources, division of labor between women and men, cultural 
and social norms that impact young people’s access to health information and 
services, and address the specific needs of socially excluded populations including 
people with disability, the geographically isolated and the poor; 

o Review and monitor the inclusion of gender equality and social inclusion into the 
communications and community mobilization strategy and interventions; provide 
advice to ensure GAP is promoted; 

o Monitor the extent and barriers to women’s participation and the participation of 
vulnerable populations in the partnership approach and provide advice on how this 
can be strengthened to the MOH; 

o Provide advice on membership of the communications and community 
mobilization partnership to ensure it includes representatives of community and 
faith-based organizations, government agencies and CSOs engaged in women’s 
empowerment and gender equality, agencies and CSOs representing the interests 
of excluded and vulnerable populations including youth, and people with disability; 
and 

o Assess the gender mainstreaming capacity of the partners engaged in 
communications and community mobilization activities and provide capacity 
development support in GAP as necessary and feasible. 

• Ensure mainstreaming of the health systems strengthening activities 
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o Support the microplanning at health facility levels to ensure gender equity in 
outreach and immunization activities 

o Support the MOH in gender mainstreaming 
o Support the MOH to identify challenges that professional women face in achieving 

senior leadership positions and support the Ministry to develop a women 
leadership development program;   

• Ensure monitoring of the gender action plan 
o Support the National Immunization program on the integration of disaggregated 

immunization data reporting  (sex and other equity stratifiers), including providing 
additional support to sub-national/ facility levels as necessary 

o Undertake regular visits to each country including outer islands and remote areas, 
monitor progress in implementation of the Gender Action Plan and produce bi-
annual GAP progress reports;  

o Ensure women’s, men’s and young people’s voices are included in project 
monitoring along with the views of male and female health staff, and civil society 
partners; and 

o Advise on integration of gender and social inclusion into the monitoring and 
evaluation of the project. 

 
Minimum qualifications 

• 10 years of experience in the analysis, integration and monitoring of gender action plans 
into health systems; 

• Master’s degree in a relevant discipline; 

• Previous experience of working with government agencies in the Pacific region; 

• Strong analytical skills, skilled process facilitator and strong programming experience; and 

• Fully competent in speaking and writing in English and fluency in local languages an 
added advantage. 

 

16. Monitoring and Evaluation expert  

Objective/Purpose of the Assignment 
 
The Monitoring and Evaluation expert will be responsible for the monitoring and evaluation of the 
project contributions to the achievement of impact, outcomes and outputs, documenting results 
and outcomes through the M&E process, review of project work plans, appraise overall project 
performance and progress, assess any changes in the operational and strategic environment, 
identifying emerging issues and providing recommendations, support MOH with capacity 
development activities and data collection and analysis of key program indicators and undertake 
and document a mid and end of term review.  The predominant approach will be qualitative and 
participatory with an emphasis on use of best practice in monitoring and evaluation of knowledge 
to policy. This will include interviews, surveys, focus group discussions and other methods, and 
will involve ongoing interactions with Ministry of Health, WHO, UNICEF, NGOs and other key 
stakeholders.  This will enable analysis of the success of vaccine introduction and system 
strengthening activities.  It is expected that M&E analysis will, where appropriate, identify factors 
that enhance or constrain the effectiveness of vaccine introduction policies and practices.  The 
specialist will report to the team leader. 
 
Scope of work 
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• Produce practical and time bound M&E work plans in close consultation with key MOH 
counterparts 

• Lead the implementation of M&E activities, including support to MOH on data collection at 
central and provincial/district levels including NGO data from community mobilization 
activities 

• Lead the preparation of expected products of M&E activities, including short 
reports/papers and case studies, as well as inputs to periodic project reports as required 

• Facilitate and prepare presentations on M&E indicators at capacity building and learning 
events 

• Gather feedback from key stakeholders on project performance and achievements, and 
develop necessary recommendations 

• Preparation of a mid-term and end of project evaluation review report with particular 

attention to (relevance, effectiveness, efficiency, sustainability, impact) and to visibility and 

sustainability of project activities 

• Review project risks and how to mitigate them to meet indicators and targets.   

• Provide support to team members and MOH officials on M&E and data management. 

• Review key project-related documents to inform the development of the evaluation design 
and methodology, especially against the indicators in the Design and Monitoring 
Framework (DMF). 

• Design the baseline, mid-term and end-line evaluation considering end-line evaluation 
parameters below. 

• For the baseline, develop framework to assess health systems performance related to 
immunization programs, capacity of country level experts, community knowledge, attitude 
and practice  

• Conduct baseline assessment and share findings. This could also be relevant for refining 
the project design at the national level. 

• Conduct mid-term assessment. This could inform change in scope or implementation 
arrangements if project is not on track. 

• Conduct end-line assessment  

• End-line Assessment- Evaluate the extent by which the projects have been 
a. Relevant – Has the over-all project design been responsive to strengthen health 

system for improved vaccination coverage and introduction of new vaccines? Have 
the project inputs, activities, and outputs been appropriate to countries’ needs and 
context, aligned to regional/country strategies and best practices? 

b. Effective – How was the progress made towards achieving the project outputs and 
outcomes, and the results achieved? Has the project been able to add value in 
terms of enhancing regionalism in the Pacific?  

c. Efficient - Have the timeliness of project implementation given country and ADB 
processes policies, rules and processes been adequate? Have the project 
resources been strategically used in terms of value addition of ADB, expanding 
ADB’s health sector portfolio and filling vaccination and health systems 
strengthening gaps in DMCs? Has the Project achieved synergies with other 
development partner policies and activities?  

d. Sustainable – Is the Projects sustainability pathway appropriate? Will the Project 
outcomes and benefits are likely to be sustained Project completion? 

e. Value added- Has the Project added value in terms of mobilizing additional 
financing vaccination and health system strengthening programs and in terms of 
addressing root causes of low immunization coverage, as well as positing ADB as 
partner for health regional cooperation in the Pacific? How has this project added 
value to the health security agenda? 
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Minimum qualifications 
 

• At least 10 years’ experience in monitoring and evaluation including quantitative and 

qualitative approaches in the health sector 

• Advanced university degree in Public Health, Statistics or other related fields 

• Knowledge and experience in the implementation of complex monitoring and evaluation 

systems (including qualitative and participatory techniques)  

• Strong analytical skills; and 

• Fully competent in speaking and writing in English and fluency in local languages an 
added advantage. 
 

17.  Resource Persons  

Resources persons will be recruited on short-term bases as needed by countries. This will allow 
for flexibility to address ad-hoc issues e.g. public health emergencies or unexpected turnover of 
staff, and capacity development requirements as they arise at the national level. 

 

18. Public Health Officer (national)  

 

Objective/Purpose of the Assignment 

The officer will implement the project at the national level and support the Ministry of Health under 

the supervision of the Project Director and Project manager. The officer will perform a variety of 

implementation, monitoring, technical and administrative services in support of program activities. 

The officer will lead the national level implementation after the international expert’s contract has 

ended.  

 

Detailed tasks 
1. Work with the government to develop Project workplans which align with MOH annual 

plans, using a participatory approach; 

2. Coordinate international experts support and ensure timeliness and appropriateness to 

the country context; 

3. Coordinate with UNICEF and support the government to facilitate the local logistics of 

vaccines, cold-chain, and other goods delivery to the point of service delivery; 

4. Coordinate in-country implementation; 

5. Inform all project implementation activities with the understanding of the local context; 

6. Monitor and implement Project activities according to the work plan;  

7. Assist in the training of staff for Project activities; 

8. Report on Project activities; 

9. Monitor the project’s socioeconomic impacts; 

10. Organize data and information, prepares and maintains records, documents and control 

plans for the monitoring of Project implementation; 

11. Contribute to the preparation of reports, Project documents and submissions to 

governments and ADB; 

12. Prepare background information for use in discussions with governments and other 

organizations; participates in the briefing and debriefing of Project personnel; and 
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13. Support public communication activities to respond, promote and disseminate project 

information, including translation and contextualization of public health messages. 

Minimum qualifications 
1. Medical, or nursing and/or public health degree. 

2. 5-8 years of experience working in a public health related field with a strong understanding 

of the maternal and child health and immunization programs; 

3. Experience in immunization is preferable; 

4. Fluent in English and capable of report writing. 

 
19. Finance and Procurement Officer (national)   

Objective/Purpose of the Assignment 
The officer will provide oversight on administrative, procurement, accounting and financial support 

to ensure the national-level implementation follows ADB’s policies and operating procedures and 

that the funds used in country are spent according to ADB rules and ensure the country has 

sufficient financial resources for the successful implementation of the project. The officer will 

report to the Finance/Procurement Specialist and Project manager.  

 

Scope of work 

• Evaluation of national financial systems and operating procedures for asset registration 
and custody, accounting policies, internal financial control – including authorizations and 
transaction recording accuracy with the government internal control officer.   

• Provide the necessary accounting services to ensure effective project administration; 

• Administer a financial management system for the project in accordance with the relevant 

ADB guidelines; 

• Initiate timely disbursement of project funds in accordance with ADB’s Loan Disbursement 

Handbook;  

• Consolidate financial reporting on a timely basis and follow up the subsequent 

replenishment from ADB and MOH; 

• Ensure all procurements are undertaken in accordance to ADB procurement rules and are 

carried out on time and on budget; 

• Establish project account for the project and maintain it according to the requirements of 

ADB and Government; 

• Execute all procurements in accordance to ADB guidelines; 

• Manage contracts; 

• Prepare withdrawal applications; 

• Prepare project progress reports and a project completion report; 

• Maintain project accounts and complete grant financial records for auditing 

• Develop the financial management capacity of counterparts; 

• Complete related project management activities, as necessary to implement the Project 
successfully and comply with ADB policies and guidelines; 

• Intensive training of MOH staff in financial management including anticorruption, auditing, 
and fraud prevention and detection; 

• Coordinate with the Auditor General’s Office and arrange annual auditing of the project 

account, ensuring the ADB’s requirements of audit are met; 

• Coordinate the government counterpart funds and record in-kind contribution. 
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Minimum qualifications 

• 3-5 years’ experience in donor funded project in procurement and financial management; 

• Recognized graduate level qualification (Bachelor or Master’s Degree in Accounting); 

• Good English language skills (both written and spoken); 

• Familiarity with working on ADB projects will be an advantage; and 

• Experience working with government departments. 

Appendix 3b. Other TORs  

Health Demographer and Statistician  

(Tonga: 5 person months; Tuvalu: 3 person months, Vanuatu: 6.5 person months) 

 
A Health Demographer and Statistician is required in Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu to support the 
Ministry of Health and the National Statics Office design and implement a national immunization 
survey and analyze and interpret data for health planning.  A national immunization coverage 
survey is planned under the project in 2022 and will provide the Ministry of Health with an accurate 
assessment of childhood immunization coverage rates as well as to identify barriers to 
immunization services and recommendations.  The national immunization coverage survey 
should be undertaken in accordance with WHO’s Vaccination Coverage Cluster Manual (2018), 
where is recommended the use of probability sampling methods the use of census data with lists 
of enumeration areas for the sampling frame.   
 
The successful candidate will work closely with the Central Statistical Office or equivalent and the 
Expanded Program for Immunization (EPI) who will oversee the survey.   
 
Detailed tasks 

1. Design an immunization coverage survey using the current recommended WHO 2018 

method, including sample size and site selection to evaluate immunization coverage 

among children 15 – 26 months of age and gender mainstreaming where possible 

2. Prepare necessary documents for obtaining ethical clearance to conduct an 

immunization coverage survey as required  

3. Design the coverage survey questionnaire in consultation with key MOH staff with sex 

disaggregated data 

4. In collaboration with the MOH, develop the operational budget to carry out the coverage  

5. Support the MOH in identifying and training survey supervisors and interviewers 

6. Once the methodology is approved by MOH conduct the immunization coverage survey 

within the allocated time frame and budget  

7. Identify barriers to access and use of the immunization health care system and provide 

recommendations to address coverage challenges   

8. Validate and analyze the results of routine EPI reports 

9. Prepare a report for MOH presenting the results of the immunization coverage survey. 

Minimum qualifications 
 

The successful candidate will have post graduate qualifications in public health, epidemiology or 

health statistics and be familiar with using census data, geographic information systems (GIS) 

and maps and have undertaken national surveys of this nature. A minimum of 10 years experience 

is desired. 
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Appendix 4: Procurement plans 

SAMOA Procurement Plan 

 

Basic Data 

Project Name: REG: Systems Strengthening for effective coverage of new vaccines in the Pacific 

Project Number: 50282-001 Approval Number: 

Country:  Samoa Executing Agency: Samoa Ministry of Finance 

Project Procurement Classification: A Implementing Agency:  Ministry of Health 

Procurement Risk: Substantial  

Project Financing Amount: $8,230,000 
   ADB Financing: $3,000,000 
Regional health security grant: $4,500,000 
   Co-financing (ADB Administered): 
   Non-ADB Financing: $730,000 

Project Closing Date: 

Date of First Procurement Plan 12 April 2018 Date of this Procurement Plan:  16 July 2018 

 
A. Methods, Thresholds, Review and 18-Month Procurement Plan 

 
1. Procurement and Consulting Methods and Thresholds 
 
Except as the Asian Development Bank (ADB) may otherwise agree, the following process 
thresholds shall apply to procurement of goods and works. 
 

 Procurement of Goods and Works 

Method Threshold Comments 

International Competitive Bidding (ICB) for Works Over $3,000,000 Prior Review 

International Competitive Bidding (ICB) for Goods Over $1,000,000 Prior Review 

National Competitive Bidding (NCB) for Works $300,000 up to 
$3,000,000 

First subject to prior review, post 
review thereafter 

National Competitive Bidding (NCB) for Goods $300,000 up to 
$1,000,000 

First subject to prior review, post 
review thereafter 

Shopping for Goods Less than $300,000 Post Review 

Shopping for Works Less than $300,000 Post Review 

Direct Contracting < $30,000 or other 
special 
circumstances 

Prior Review 
See PAI 3.06 and 3.07 

 
 

Consulting Services 

Method Comments 

Quality and Cost Based Selection (QCBS) QCBS 90/10 

Individual Consultants Selection (ICS)  

  
 



Appendix 4 

119 
 

2. Goods and Works Contracts Estimated to Cost $1 Million or More 
 
The following table lists goods and works contracts for which the procurement activity is either 
ongoing or expected to commence within the next 18 months. 

 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

($ million) 

Procurement 
Method 

Review 
[Prior / 

Post/Post 
(Sampling)] 

Bidding 
Procedure 

Advertisement 
Date 

(quarter/year) 
Comments 

S-G-01 Vaccines $3.11 
Direct 

contracting 
Prior 1S1E Q1 2020 

Procurement of 
Vaccines through 
UNICEF VII 

S-G-02 

Cold chain 
equipment 
and 
associated 
Services 

$1.30 
Direct 

contracting 
Prior 1S1E Q1 2019 

Procurement of 
cold chain 
equipment and 
associated 
services through 
UNICEF 

 
3. Consulting Services Contracts Estimated to Cost $100,000 or More 
 
The following table lists consulting services contracts for which the recruitment activity is either 
ongoing or expected to commence within the next 18 months. 
 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

($ million) 

Recruitment 
Method 

Review 
(Prior / 
Post) 

Advertisement 
Date 

(quarter/year) 

Type of 
Proposal 

Comments 

S-CS-01* 
Implementation 
Firm 

$1.10 QCBS Prior Q1 2019 FTP 

Assignment:  

Firm 

International 

S-CS-02 
Community 
Engagement 
Activities 

$0.10 QCBS Prior Q3 2019 STP  

* A single Implementation Firm will be contracted to provide services covering all countries under this regional project (Samoa, Tonga, 
Vanuatu, Tuvalu).  Therefore, the above indicated requirement for Samoa will be consolidated with the other three stated countries 
and released under a single RFP. 

 
 
4. Goods and Works Contracts Estimated to Cost Less than $1 Million and Consulting 

Services Contracts Less than $100,000 (Smaller Value Contracts) 
 
The following table groups smaller-value goods, works and consulting services contracts for which 
the activity is either ongoing or expected to commence within the next 18 months. 
 

Goods and Works 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

($ million) 

Number of 
Contracts 

Procurement 
Method 

Review 
[Prior / 

Post/Post 
(Sampling

)] 

Bidding 
Procedure 

Advertise
ment 
Date 

(quarter/ 
year) 

Comments 
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Consulting Services 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

($ million) 

Number 
of 

Contracts 

Recruitment 
Method 

Review 
(Prior / 
Post) 

Advertise
ment 
Date 

(quarter/ 
year) 

Type of 
Proposal 

Comments 

         
 

 
B. Indicative List of Packages Required Under the Project 
 
The following table provides an indicative list of goods, works and consulting services contracts 
over the life of the project, other than those mentioned in previous sections (i.e., those expected 
beyond the current period). 
 

Goods and Works 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

(cumulative) 
($ million) 

Estimated 
Number 

of 
Contracts 

Procurement 
Method 

Review 
[Prior / 

Post/Post 
(Sampling)] 

Bidding 
Procedure 

Comments 

        
 

Consulting Services 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

(cumulative) 
($ million) 

Estimated 
Number 

of 
Contracts 

Recruitment 
Method 

Review 
(Prior / 
Post) 

Type of 
Proposal 

Comments 

        

 
C. Non-ADB Financing 
The following table lists goods, works and consulting services contracts over the life of the project, 
financed by Non-ADB sources.  

Goods and Works 

General Description 
Estimated Value 

(cumulative) 
($ million) 

Estimated 
Number of 
Contracts 

Procurement 
Method 

Comments 

Vaccines (Government 
project contribution) 

$0.73 1 
National 

procedures 
Procured through UNICEF VII 
Scheme 

 

Consulting Services 

General Description 

Estimated 
Value  

($ million) 
(cumulative) 

Estimated 
Number of 
Contracts 

Recruitment 
Method 

Comments 
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TONGA Procurement Plan 

Basic Data 

Project Name: REG: Systems Strengthening for effective coverage of new vaccines in the Pacific 

Project Number: 50282-001 Approval Number: 

Country:   Tonga Executing Agency: Ministry of Finance and 
National Planning  

Project Procurement Classification: A Implementing Agency: Ministry of Health 

Procurement Risk: Substantial  

Project Financing Amount: $4,200,000  
   ADB Financing: $1,600,000 
   Regional health security grant: $2,250,000 
   Co-financing (ADB Administered): 
   Non-ADB Financing: $350,000 

Project Closing Date: 

Date of First Procurement Plan 18 April 2018 Date of this Procurement Plan: 16 July 2018 

 
A. Methods, Thresholds, Review and 18-Month Procurement Plan 

 
5. Procurement and Consulting Methods and Thresholds 
 
Except as the Asian Development Bank (ADB) may otherwise agree, the following process 
thresholds shall apply to procurement of goods and works.  
 

Procurement of Goods and Works 

Method Threshold Comments 

International Competitive Bidding (ICB) for 
Works 

Over $3,000,000 Prior Review 

International Competitive Bidding (ICB) for 
Goods 

Over $1,000,000 Prior Review 

National Competitive Bidding (NCB) for 
Works 

$300,000 up to $3,000,000 First subject to prior review, 
post review thereafter 

National Competitive Bidding (NCB) for 
Goods 

$300,000 up to $1,000,000 First subject to prior review, 
post review thereafter 

Shopping for Goods Less than $300,000 Post Review 

Shopping for Works Less than $300,000 Post Review 

Direct Contracting < $30,000 or other special 
circumstances 

Prior Review 
See PAI 3.06 and 3.07 

 

 
 

Consulting Services 

Method Comments 

Quality and Cost Based Selection (QCBS) QCBS 90/10 

Individual Consultants Selection  
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6. Goods and Works Contracts Estimated to Cost $1 Million or More 
 
The following table lists goods and works contracts for which the procurement activity is either 
ongoing or expected to commence within the next 18 months. 
 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

($ million) 

Procurement 
Method 

Review 
[Prior / 

Post/Post 
(Sampling)] 

Bidding 
Procedure 

Advertisement 
Date 

(quarter/year) 
Comments 

T-G-01 
Vaccines, 
(Years 2-5) 

$1.30 
Direct 

contracting 
Prior 1S1E Q1 2020 

Procurement of 
Vaccines through 
UNICEF VII 

T-G-02 

Cold chain 
equipment 
and 
associated 
Services 

$0.7 
Direct 

contracting 
Prior 1S1E Q1 2019 

Procurement of 
cold chain 
equipment and 
associated 
services through 
UNICEF 

 
7. Consulting Services Contracts Estimated to Cost $100,000 or More 
 
The following table lists consulting services contracts for which the recruitment activity is either 
ongoing or expected to commence within the next 18 months. 
 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

($ million) 

Recruitment 
Method 

Review 
(Prior / 
Post) 

Advertisement 
Date 

(quarter/year) 

Type of 
Proposal 

Comments 

T-CS-01* 
Implementation 
Firm  

$0.78 QCBS Prior Q1 2019 FTP 
Assignment: 
Firm 
International  

* A single Implementation Firm will be contracted to provide services covering all countries under this regional project (Samoa, Tonga, 
Vanuatu, Tuvalu).  Therefore, the above indicated requirement for Tonga will be consolidated with the other three stated countries 
and released under a single RFP. 
 

8. Goods and Works Contracts Estimated to Cost Less than $1 Million and Consulting 
Services Contracts Less than $100,000 (Smaller Value Contracts) 

 
The following table groups smaller-value goods, works and consulting services contracts for which 
the activity is either ongoing or expected to commence within the next 18 months. 
 

Goods and Works 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

($ million) 

Number 
of 

Contracts 

Procurement 
Method 

Review 
[Prior / 

Post/Post 
(Sampling)] 

Bidding 
Procedure 

Advertiseme
nt 

Date 
(quarter/ 

year) 

Comments 

T-G-03 
Medical 
Equipment 

$0.035 1 Shopping Post - Q4 2019  

 

Consulting Services 
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Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

($ million) 

Number 
of 

Contracts 

Recruitment 
Method 

Review 
(Prior / 
Post) 

Advertiseme
nt 

Date 
(quarter/ 

year) 

Type of 
Proposal 

Comments 

T-CS-02 
Community 
engagement  

$0.02 1 QCBS Prior Q3 2019 STP 
Assignment: 

NGO 

 
B. Indicative List of Packages Required Under the Project 
 
The following table provides an indicative list of goods, works and consulting services contracts 
over the life of the project, other than those mentioned in previous sections (i.e., those expected 
beyond the current period). 
 

Goods and Works 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

(cumulative) 
($ million) 

Estimated 
Number 

of 
Contracts 

Procurement 
Method 

Review 
[Prior / 

Post/Post 
(Sampling)] 

Bidding 
Procedure 

Comments 

        

        
 

 

Consulting Services 

Package 
Number 

General Description 

Estimated 
Value 

(cumulative) 
($ million) 

Estimated 
Number 

of 
Contracts 

Recruitment 
Method 

Review 
(Prior / 
Post) 

Type of 
Proposal 

Comments 

T-IC-01 
Health Demographer 
and Statistician 

$0.135 1 ICS Prior - 
Assignment: 

International 
 

D.  Non-ADB Financing 
 
The following table lists goods, works and consulting services contracts over the life of the project, 
financed by Non-ADB sources.  
 

Goods and Works 

General Description 

Estimated 
Value 

(cumulative) 
($ million) 

Estimated 
Number of 
Contracts 

Procurement 
Method 

Comments 

Vaccines (Government project 
contribution) 

$0.35 1 
National 

procedures 
Procured through UNICEF 

VII Scheme 

 

Consulting Services 

General Description 

Estimated 
Value 

(cumulative) 
($ million) 

Estimated 
Number of 
Contracts 

Recruitment 
Method 

Comments 

     

 



Appendix 4 

124 
 

TUVALU Procurement Plan 

Basic Data 

Project Name: REG: Systems Strengthening for effective coverage of new vaccines in the Pacific 

Project Number: 50282-001 Approval Number: 

Country:  Tuvalu Executing Agency: Ministry of Finance 

Project Procurement Classification: A Implementing Agency: Ministry of Health 

Procurement Risk: Substantial  

Project Financing Amount: $2,539,000 
   ADB Financing: $1,000,000 with an additional 
$1,500,000 for Regional health security grant. 
   Co-financing (ADB Administered):  
   Non-ADB Financing: $39,000 

Project Closing Date: 

Date of First Procurement Plan 9 May 2018 Date of this Procurement Plan:  16 July 2018 

 
A. Methods, Thresholds, Review and 18-Month Procurement Plan 

 
9. Procurement and Consulting Methods and Thresholds 
 
Except as the Asian Development Bank (ADB) may otherwise agree, the following process 
thresholds shall apply to procurement of goods and works. 
 

 Procurement of Goods and Works 

Method Threshold Comments 

International Competitive Bidding (ICB) for Works Over $3,000,000 Prior Review 

International Competitive Bidding (ICB) for Goods Over $1,000,000 Prior Review 

National Competitive Bidding (NCB) for Works $300,000 up to $3,000,000 First subject to prior 
review, post review 
thereafter 

National Competitive Bidding (NCB) for Goods $300,000 up to $1,000,000 First subject to prior 
review, post review 
thereafter 

Shopping for Goods Less than $300,000 Post Review 

Shopping for Works Less than $300,000 Post Review 

Direct Contracting < $30,000 or other special 
circumstances 

Prior Review 
See PAI 3.06 and 3.07 

 
 

Consulting Services 

Method Comments 

Quality and Cost Based Selection (QCBS) QCBS 90/10 

Individual Consultants Selection  
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10. Goods and Works Contracts Estimated to Cost $1 Million or More 

 
The following table lists goods and works contracts for which the procurement activity is either 
ongoing or expected to commence within the next 18 months. 

 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

($ million) 

Procurement 
Method 

Review 
[Prior / 

Post/Post 
(Sampling)] 

Bidding 
Procedure 

Advertisement 
Date 

(quarter/year) 
Comments 

        

        

 
11. Consulting Services Contracts Estimated to Cost $100,000 or More 
 
The following table lists consulting services contracts for which the recruitment activity is either 
ongoing or expected to commence within the next 18 months. 
 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

($ million) 

Recruitment 
Method 

Review 
(Prior / 
Post) 

Advertisement 
Date 

(quarter/year) 

Type of 
Proposal 

Comments 

TV-CS-01* 
Implementation 
Firm 

$0.67 QCBS 90/10 Prior Q1 2019 FTP 
Assignment: 
Firm 
International 

* A single Implementation Firm will be contracted to provide services covering all countries under this regional project (Samoa, Tonga, 
Vanuatu, Tuvalu).  Therefore, the above indicated requirement for Samoa will be consolidated with the other three stated countries 
and released under a single RFP. 

 
12. Goods and Works Contracts Estimated to Cost Less than $1 Million and Consulting 

Services Contracts Less than $100,000 (Smaller Value Contracts) 
 
The following table groups smaller-value goods, works and consulting services contracts for which 
the activity is either ongoing or expected to commence within the next 18 months. 
 

Goods and Works 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimate
d Value 

($ 
million) 

Number of 
Contracts 

Procurement 
Method 

Review 
[Prior / 

Post/Post 
(Sampling

)] 

Bidding 
Procedure 

Advertise
ment 
Date 

(quarter/ 
year) 

Comments 

TV-G-01 Vaccines $0.18 
Direct 

contracting 
Prior 1S1E Q1 2020 

Procurem
ent of 

Vaccines 
through 
UNICEF 

VII 

TV-G-01 

TV-G-02 
Cold chain 
equipment 
and 

$0.55 
Direct 

contracting 
Prior 1S1E Q1 2019 

Procurem
ent of cold 

chain 
equipment 

TV-G-02 
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associated 
Services 

and 
associate
d services 
through 
UNICEF 

TV-G-03 Motorbikes $0.025 1 Shopping Post - Q2 2019  

 

Consulting Services 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

($ million) 

Number 
of 

Contracts 

Recruitment 
Method 

Review 
(Prior / 
Post) 

Advertise
ment 
Date 

(quarter/ 
year) 

Type of 
Proposal 

Comments 

TV-CS-02 
Community 
engagement 

$0.05 1 QCBS Prior Q3 2019 STP 
Assignment: 

NGO 

 
B. Indicative List of Packages Required Under the Project 
 
The following table provides an indicative list of goods, works and consulting services contracts 
over the life of the project, other than those mentioned in previous sections (i.e., those expected 
beyond the current period). 
 

Goods and Works 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

(cumulative) 
($ million) 

Estimated 
Number 

of 
Contracts 

Procurement 
Method 

Review 
[Prior / 

Post/Post 
(Sampling)] 

Bidding 
Procedure 

Comments 

        
 

Consulting Services 

Package 
Number 

General Description 

Estimated 
Value 

(cumulative) 
($ million) 

Estimated 
Number of 
Contracts 

Recruitment 
Method 

Review 
(Prior / 
Post) 

Type of 
Proposal 

Comments 

TV-IC-01 
Health Demographer 
and Statistician 

$0.09 1 ICS Prior - 
Assignment: 

International 

 
C. Non-ADB Financing 
 
The following table lists goods, works and consulting services contracts over the life of the project, 
financed by Non-ADB sources.  
 

Goods and Works 

General Description 

Estimated 
Value 

(cumulative) 
($ million) 

Estimated 
Number of 
Contracts 

Procurement 
Method 

Comments 

Vaccines $0.04 1 
National 

Procedures 
Procured through UNICEF 
VII Scheme 
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Consulting Services 

General Description 

Estimated 
Value 

(cumulative) 
($ million) 

Estimated 
Number of 
Contracts 

Recruitment 
Method 

Comments 

     

 
 
 

Vanuatu Procurement Plan 

Basic Data 

Project Name: REG: Systems Strengthening for effective coverage of new vaccines in the Pacific 

Project Number: 50282-001 Approval Number: 

Country:   Vanuatu Executing Agency: Ministry of Finance  

Project Procurement Classification: A Implementing Agency: Ministry of Health 

Procurement Risk: Substantial  

Project Financing Amount: $12,270,000  
   ADB Financing: $2,250,000 
   Regional health security grant: $6,750,000 
   Co-financing (ADB Administered): $2,250,000 (Loan 
to the Government of Vanuatu) 
   Non-ADB Financing: $1,020,000 

Project Closing Date: 

Date of First Procurement Plan 20 April 2018 Date of this Procurement Plan: 16 July 2018 

 
A. Methods, Thresholds, Review and 18-Month Procurement Plan 

 
13. Procurement and Consulting Methods and Thresholds 
 
Except as the Asian Development Bank (ADB) may otherwise agree, the following process 
thresholds shall apply to procurement of goods and works.  

 

 

Procurement of Goods and Works 

Method Threshold Comments 

International Competitive Bidding (ICB) for Works Over $3,000,000 Prior Review 

International Competitive Bidding (ICB) for Goods Over $1,000,000 Prior Review 

National Competitive Bidding (NCB) for Works $300,000 up to $3,000,000 First subject to prior review, 
post review thereafter 

National Competitive Bidding (NCB) for Goods $300,000 up to $1,000,000 First subject to prior review, 
post review thereafter 

Shopping for Goods Less than $300,000 Post Review 

Shopping for Works Less than $300,000 Post Review 

Direct Contracting < $30,000 or other special 
circumstances 

Prior Review 
See PAI 3.06 and 3.07 

Consulting Services 

Method Comments 

Quality and Cost Based Selection (QCBS) QCBS 90/10 

Individual Consultants Selection  
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14. Goods and Works Contracts Estimated to Cost $1 Million or More 
 
The following table lists goods and works contracts for which the procurement activity is either 
ongoing or expected to commence within the next 18 months. 

 
 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

($ million) 

Procurement 
Method 

Review 
[Prior / 

Post/Post 
(Sampling)] 

Bidding 
Procedure 

Advertisement 
Date 

(quarter/year) 
Comments 

V-G-01 Vaccines $3.68 
Direct 

contracting 
Prior 1S1E Q1 2020 

Procurement of 
Vaccines through 
UNICEF VII 

V-G-02 

Cold chain 
equipment 
and 
associated 
Services 

$1.32 
Direct 

contracting 
Prior 1S1E Q1 2019 

Procurement of 
cold chain 
equipment and 
associated 
services through 
UNICEF 

 
15. Consulting Services Contracts Estimated to Cost $100,000 or More 
 
The following table lists consulting services contracts for which the recruitment activity is either 
ongoing or expected to commence within the next 18 months. 
 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

($ million) 

Recruitment 
Method 

Review 
(Prior / 
Post) 

Advertisement 
Date 

(quarter/year) 

Type of 
Proposal 

Comments 

V-CS-01* 
Implementation 
Firm  

$1.42 QCBS Prior Q1 2019 FTP 

Assignment: 

Firm 

International 

V-CS-02 
Community 
engagement 
activities 

$0.2 QCBS Prior Q3 2019 STP 
Assignment: 

NGO 

* A single Implementation Firm will be contracted to provide services covering all countries under this regional project (Samoa, Tonga, 
Vanuatu, Tuvalu).  Therefore, the above indicated requirement for Tonga will be consolidated with the other three stated countries 
and released under a single RFP. 

 
16. Goods and Works Contracts Estimated to Cost Less than $1 Million and Consulting 

Services Contracts Less than $100,000 (Smaller Value Contracts) 
 
The following table groups smaller-value goods, works and consulting services contracts for which 
the activity is either ongoing or expected to commence within the next 18 months. 
 

Goods and Works 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

($ million) 

Number 
of 

Contracts 

Procurement 
Method 

Review 
[Prior / 

Post/Post 
(Sampling)] 

Bidding 
Procedure 

Advertise
ment 
Date 

(quarter/ 
year) 

Comments 
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V-G-03 
Vehicle 
Leasing 

$0.33 1 Shopping Post - Q2 2019  

Consulting Services 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

($ million) 

Number 
of 

Contracts 

Recruitment 
Method 

Review 
(Prior / 
Post) 

Advertise
ment 
Date 

(quarter/ 
year) 

Type of 
Proposal 

Comments 

         

 
B. Indicative List of Packages Required Under the Project 
 
The following table provides an indicative list of goods, works and consulting services contracts 
over the life of the project, other than those mentioned in previous sections (i.e., those expected 
beyond the current period). 
 

Goods and Works 

Package 
Number 

General 
Description 

Estimated 
Value 

(cumulative) 
($ million) 

Estimated 
Number 

of 
Contracts 

Procurement 
Method 

Review 
[Prior / 

Post/Post 
(Sampling)] 

Bidding 
Procedure 

Comments 

V-G-04 
Cold Chain 
Equipment 

$0.25 1 
Direct 

Contracting 
Prior 1S1E 

Procurement 
through UNICEF 

 

Consulting Services 

Package 
Number 

General Description 

Estimated 
Value 

(cumulative) 
($ million) 

Estimated 
Number 

of 
Contracts 

Recruitment 
Method 

Review 
(Prior / 
Post) 

Type of 
Proposal 

Comments 

V-IC-01 
Health Demographer 
and Statistician 

$0.2 1 ICS Prior - 
Assignment: 

International 

 
C. Non-ADB Financing 

 
The following table lists goods, works and consulting services contracts over the life of the project, 
financed by Non-ADB sources.  
 

Goods and Works 

General Description 

Estimated 
Value 

(cumulative) 
($ million) 

Estimated 
Number of 
Contracts 

Procurement 
Method 

Comments 

Vaccines $1.02 1 
National 

Procedures 
Procured through UNICEF 
VII Scheme 

Consulting Services 

General Description 

Estimated 
Value 

(cumulative) 
($ million) 

Estimated 
Number of 
Contracts 

Recruitment 
Method 

Comments 
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Appendix 5: Gender Action Plan 

SAMOA 
 Activities and performance targets Responsibility  Timeframe 

Outcome: 
Number of 
women and 
girls 
benefitting 
from new 
vaccines 
improved 

• Number of women and girls 
vaccinated with new vaccines 
(HPV, PCV and RV) to reach 
6,000 in Samoa. 
(Baseline: 0) 

UNICEF and Ministry 
of Health (MOH) with 
support from the 
Gender Specialist from 
Integrated Project 
Management team. 

Q1 2019 –Q4 2022 
 

Output 1: 
Immunization 
coverage 
vaccines 
increased  

 
 
 

• Buffer stock created and 
maintained for HPV, PCV and RV 
vaccines each year from 2020-
2023 (equivalent to two months of 
doses for each country). 
Baseline: 0 

• Gender-responsive national 
micro-planning and procurement 
forecasting capacity building for 
PCV and RV vaccines developed 
(Baseline:0) 

UNICEF and Ministry 
of Health (MOH) with 
support from the 
Gender Specialist from 
Integrated Project 
Management team. 

Q3 2019 – Q1 2023 

Output 2: 
Health 
systems 
strengthened 

• National immunization, policies, 
guidelines and manuals updated 
with specific gender 
consideration and provisions78  
including reporting of adverse 
events for both sexes 
(Baseline:0)   

• Less than 10% national stock outs 
for HPV, PCV and RV (Baseline: 
0)  

• 90% of the national cold chain 
system is strengthened and 
meeting the WHO/UNICEF 
Performance, Quality and Safety 
(PQS) procurement 
recommendation (Baseline: 44%)  

• At least 90% of functioning health 
facilities with socially inclusive 
and gender-responsive micro-
plans that includes HPV, PCV 
and RV vaccines for routine 
outreach (Baseline: 0) 

• At least 50% health workers 
trained in vaccine introduction 
and management are female  
(Baseline:0) 

• In-service training related to the 
introduction HPV, PCV and RV 
includes a module on (i) 

UNICEF, MOH 
including EPI 
Coordinator; Chief 
Pharmacist; Child 
Health Program Officer 
(Health Systems 
Specialist); Director of 
Public Health; Child 
Health Program Officer 
(Health Systems 
Specialist); Ob/Gynae 
– NHS; Ministry of 
Women, Community 
and Social 
Development;  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Q4 2018 – Q4 2023 

                                                
78 According to Demographic Health Survey 2014, 53% national coverage on expanded program in immunization has 

no difference by sex but has geographical variation. 
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confidentiality and respectful care 
to assist in cultural acceptability 
of cervical cancer screening and 
(ii) communication skills and 
counselling including how to talk 
about reproductive health to 
women and men and how to 
encourage male involvement in 
family health (Baseline:0). 

• Report of sex-disaggregated 
immunization data in annual 
national reports by 2022 
(baseline: none). 

• Updates child health card for 
both male and female include 
PCV and RV by 2021 (Baseline: 
0) 

• Training of MOH on gender-
inclusive health awareness in 
SAM, TON, TUV and VAN by 
2021 (Baseline 2018: 0). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Health Information 
Systems Officer;  
District Hospitals; 
School of Nursing; 
Provincial Health Office   
 
 
Vaccinators Pediatric 
Department  
 
 

Output 3: 
Community 
awareness 
improved 

• The communication and 
community mobilization strategy 
embrace a partnership model 
including government agencies 
(MoH, Ministry of Education 
Sports and Culture and Ministry 
of Women, Community and 
Social Development), faith based 
organizations, civil society and 
community based 
organizations/representatives 
involved in gender equality, 
women’s empowerment and 
disability activities (e.g. Samoa 
Family Health Association, 
National Youth Council, Women 
in Business Development 
Incorporated) and the private 
sector. (Baseline: 0)  

• At least 2 health promotion 
dissemination activities with 
gender equity considerations on 
adolescent reproductive health 
and public heath completed with 
at least 50% women participation 
and disaggregated by type (radio, 
print, social media). Baseline =0 

• Context specific and gender and 
social inclusive communication 
strategies on the importance of 
vaccination in addition to other 

MOH with support from 
the Gender Specialist 
from Integrated Project 
Management team. 
Other key government 
agencies will also 
include: Ministry of 
Women, Community 
and Social 
Development; Ministry 
of Education, Sports 
and Culture and 
selected CSOs/NGOs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Q1 2019 –Q4 2022 
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essential health promotion 
messages. Baseline: 0 
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 TONGA 
 

 Activities and Performance 
Targets 

Responsibility Timeframe 
 

Outcome: 
Number of 
women and 
girls 
benefitting 
from new 
vaccines 
improved 

• Number of women and girls 
vaccinated with new 
vaccines (HPV, PCV and 
RV) to reach 2,800 in 
Tonga. 

• (Baseline: 0) 

 UNICEF and Ministry of 
Health (MOH) with 
support from the Gender 
Specialist from Integrated 
Project Management 
team. 

Q1 2019 –Q4 2022 
 

Output: 1 
Immunization 
coverage 
vaccines 
increased  
 
 
 

• Buffer stock created and 
maintained for HPV, PCV 
and RV vaccines each year 
from 2020-2023 (equivalent 
to two months of doses for 
each country). Baseline: 0 

• Gender-responsive national 
micro-planning and 
procurement forecasting 
capacity building for PCV 
and RV vaccines 
developed (Baseline:0)  

 UNICEF and Ministry of 
Health (MOH) with 
support from the Gender 
Specialist from Integrated 
Project Management 
team. 

Q3 2019 – Q1 2023 

Output 2: 
Health 
systems 
strengthened 
 
 

• National immunization, 
policies, guidelines and 
manuals updated with 
specific gender 
consideration and 
provisions79  including 
reporting of adverse 
events to both sexes 
(Baseline: 0). 

• Less than 10% national 
stock outs for HPV, PCV 
and RV (Baseline: 0)  

• 90% of the national cold 
chain system is 
strengthened and meeting 
the WHO/UNICEF 
Performance, Quality and 
Safety (PQS) procurement 
recommendation 
(Baseline: 57%) 

• At least 90% of functioning 
health facilities with 
socially inclusive and 
gender-responsive micro-
plans that includes HPV, 
PCV and RV vaccines for 
routine outreach (Baseline: 
0) 

Ministry of Health (MOH) 
with support from the 
Gender Specialist from 
Integrated Project 
Management and EPI 
Coordinator;  
Chief Pharmacist;  
Child Health Program 
Officer (Health Systems 
Specialist; Registered 
Nurses  
School of Nursing 
and Director of Health  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Q4 2018 – Q4 2023 

                                                
79 According to Demographic Health Survey in 2011, basic immunizations are higher for girls (49.5%) than boys (43.6%) 

in Tonga. 
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• At least 50% of health 
workers trained in vaccine 
introduction and 
management are female  
(Baseline:0) 

• In-service training related 
to the introduction HPV, 
PCV and RV includes a 
module on (i) 
confidentiality and 
respectful care to assist in 
cultural acceptability of 
cervical cancer screening 
and (ii) communication 
skills and counselling 
including how to talk about 
reproductive health to 
women and men and how 
to encourage male 
involvement in family 
health (baseline:0). 

 

• Report of sex-
disaggregated 
immunization data in 
annual national reports by 
2022 (baseline: none). 

 

• Updates child health card 
for both male and female 
include PCV and RV by 
2021 (Baseline: 0) 

 

• Training of MOH on 
gender-inclusive health 
awareness in SAM, TON, 
TUV and VAN by 2021 
(Baseline 2018: 0). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Health Information 
Systems Officer;  
District Hospitals; School 
of Nursing; Provincial 
Health Office   
 
 
Vaccinators Pediatric 
Department  
 

Output 3: 
Community 
awareness 
improved 

• The communication and 
community mobilization 
strategy embrace a 
partnership model including 
government agencies 
(MoH, Ministry of 
Education, Women’s 
Division), faith-based 
organizations, civil society 
and community-based 
organizations working on 
gender equality, women’s 
empowerment and 
disability (e.g. Tonga 
Family Health Association, 
Tonga National Center for 
Women and Children) and 

MOH with support from the 
Gender Specialist from 
Integrated Project 
Management team and 
Health Promotion Unit 
(MOH), Ministry of 
Education and Youth, 
Women’s Division and 
selected CSOs/NGOS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Q1 2019 – Q4 2023 
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the private sector. Baseline: 
0 

• At least 2 health promotion 
dissemination activities with 
gender equity 
considerations on 
adolescent reproductive 
health and public heath 
completed with at least 
50% women participation 
and disaggregated by type 
(radio, print, social media). 
Baseline =0 

• Context specific and 
gender and social inclusive 
communication strategies 
on the importance of 
vaccination in addition to 
other essential health 
promotion messages. 
Baseline: 0 
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 TUVALU 
 

 Activities and performance 
targets 

Responsibility Timeframe 

Outcome: 
Number of 
women and girls 
benefitting from 
new vaccines 
improved 

• Number of women and girls 
vaccinated with new 
vaccines (HPV, PCV and 
RV) to reach 300 in Tuvalu. 

• (Baseline: 0) 

UNICEF and Ministry of 
Health (MOH) with 
support from the 
Gender Specialist from 
Integrated Project 
Management team. 

Q1 2019 –Q4 2022 
 

Output 1: 
Immunization 
coverage 
vaccines 
increased  
 
 

• Buffer stock created and 
maintained for HPV, PCV 
and RV vaccines each year 
from 2020-2023 (equivalent 
to two months of doses for 
each country). Baseline: 0 

• Gender-responsive national 
micro-planning and 
procurement forecasting 
capacity building for PCV 
and RV vaccines developed 
(Baseline:0)  

UNICEF and Ministry of 
Health (MOH) with 
support from the 
Gender Specialist from 
Integrated Project 
Management team. 

Q3 2019 – Q1 2023 

Output 2: Health 
systems 
strengthened 

• National immunization, 
policies, guidelines and 
manuals updated with 
specific gender 
consideration and 
provisions80  including 
reporting of adverse events 
to both sexes (Baseline: 0). 

• Less than 10% national 
stock outs for HPV, PCV 
and RV (Baseline: 0)  

• 90% of the national cold 
chain system is 
strengthened and meeting 
the WHO/UNICEF 
Performance, Quality and 
Safety (PQS) procurement 
recommendation (Baseline 
=: 33%) 

• At least 90% of functioning 
health facilities with socially 
inclusive and gender-
responsive micro-plans that 
includes HPV, PCV and RV 
vaccines for routine 
outreach (Baseline: 0) 

• At least 50% of health 
workers trained in vaccine 
introduction and 
management are female  
(Baseline:0) 

Ministry of Health 
(MOH) with support 
from the Gender 
Specialist from 
Integrated Project 
Management team and 
EPI Coordinator; Chief 
Pharmacist;  
Child Health Program 
Officer (Health Systems 
Specialist); and 
Biomedical Technician; 
MOH Provincial Office 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Q4 2018 – Q4 2023 

                                                
80 According to Demographic Health Survey in 2007, basic immunizations are higher for boys than girls in Tuvalu. 
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• In-service training related to 
the introduction HPV, PCV 
and RV includes a module 
on (i) confidentiality and 
respectful care to assist in 
cultural acceptability of 
cervical cancer screening 
and (ii) communication 
skills and counselling 
including how to talk about 
reproductive health to 
women and men and how 
to encourage male 
involvement in family health 
(baseline:0). 

• Report of sex-
disaggregated 
immunization data in annual 
national reports by 2022 
(Baseline: none). 

• Updates child health card 
for both male and female 
include PCV and RV by 
2021 (Baseline: 0) 

• Training of MOH on gender-
inclusive health awareness 
in SAM, TON, TUV and 
VAN by 2021 (Baseline 
2018: 0). 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Health Information 
Systems Officer;  
District Hospitals; 
School of Nursing; 
Provincial Health Office   
 
 
Vaccinators Pediatric 
Department  
 
 
 
 

Output 3: 
Community 
awareness 
improved 

• The communication and 
community mobilization 
strategy embrace a 
partnership model including 
government agencies 
(Ministry of Health, Ministry 
of Education, Gender 
Affairs Division), faith-based 
organizations, local 
government (Falekaupele) 
civil society and community-
based organizations 
working on gender equality, 
women’s empowerment 
and social inclusion (e.g. 
Tuvalu Family Health 
Association, Red Cross, 
Tuvalu National Council of 
Women and Fusiolofa) and 
the private sector. Baseline: 
0 

• At least 2 health promotion 
dissemination activities with 
gender equity 
considerations on 

MOH with support from 
the Gender Specialist 
from Integrated Project 
Management team and 
Health Promotion Unit, 
MOH; Ministry of 
Education, Youth and 
Sports; Falekaupele 
and selected 
CSOs/NGOS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Q1 2019 – 
Q4 2023 
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adolescent reproductive 
health and public heath 
completed with at least 50% 
women participation and 
disaggregated by type 
(radio, print, social media). 
Baseline =0 

• Context specific and gender 
and social inclusive 
communication strategies 
on the importance of 
vaccination in addition to 
other essential health 
promotion messages. 
Baseline: 0 
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 VANUATU 
 

 Activities and performance targets Responsibility Timeframe 

Outcome: 
Number of 
women and 
girls benefitting 
from new 
vaccines 
improved 

• Number of women and girls 
vaccinated with new vaccines 
(HPV, PCV and RV) to reach 
8,350 in Vanuatu. 

• (Baseline: 0) 

UNICEF and Ministry 
of Health (MOH) with 
support from the 
Gender Specialist 
from Integrated 
Project Management 
team. 

Q1 2019 –Q4 2022 
 

Output 1:  
Immunization 
coverage 
vaccines 
increased  
 
 
 

• Buffer stock created and 
maintained for HPV, PCV and RV 
vaccines each year from 2020-
2023 (equivalent to two months of 
doses for each country). Baseline: 
0 

• Gender-responsive national micro-
planning and procurement 
forecasting capacity building for 
PCV and RV vaccines developed 
(Baseline:0) 

UNICEF and Ministry 
of Health (MOH) with 
support from the 
Gender Specialist 
from Integrated 
Project Management 
team. 

Q3 2019 – Q1 2023 

Output 2: Health 
systems 
strengthened 

• National immunization, policies, 
guidelines and manuals updated 
with specific gender consideration 
and provisions81  including 
reporting of adverse events to 
both sexes (Baseline:0) 

• Less than 10% national stock outs 
for HPV, PCV and RV (Baseline: 0)  

• 90% of the national cold chain 
system is strengthened and 
meeting the WHO/UNICEF 
Performance, Quality and Safety 
(PQS) procurement 
recommendation (Baseline: 78%) 

• At least 90% of functioning health 
facilities with socially inclusive and 
gender-responsive micro-plans 
that includes HPV, PCV and RV 
vaccines for routine outreach 
(Baseline:0) 

• At least 50% of health workers 
trained in vaccine introduction and 
management are female  
(Baseline:0) 

• In-service training related to the 
introduction HPV, PCV and RV 
includes a module on (i) 
confidentiality and respectful care 
to assist in cultural acceptability of 

Ministry of Health 
(MOH) with support 
from the Gender 
Specialist from 
Integrated Project 
Management team 
and EPI Co-ordinator; 
Chief Pharmacist;  
Child Health Program 
Officer (Health 
Systems Specialist); 
Chief Pharmacist; 
MOH, Provincial 
health office 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Q4 2018 – Q4 2023 

                                                
81 According to Demographic Health Survey in 2013, basic immunizations are higher for boys (35%) than girls (30%) 

in Vanuatu. 



Appendix 5 

140 
 

cervical cancer screening and (ii) 
communication skills and 
counselling including how to talk 
about reproductive health to 
women and men and how to 
encourage male involvement in 
family health (baseline:0). 

• Report of sex-disaggregated 
immunization data in annual 
national reports by 2022 (baseline: 
none). 

• Updates child health card for both 
male and female include PCV and 
RV by 2021 (Baseline: 0) 

• Training of MOH on gender-
inclusive health awareness in 
SAM, TON, TUV and VAN by 
2021 (Baseline 2018: 0). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Health Information 
Systems Officer;  
District Hospitals; 
School of Nursing; 
Provincial Health 
Office   
 
 
Vaccinators Pediatric 
Department  

Output 3: 
Community 
awareness 
improved 

• The communication and 
community mobilization strategy 
embrace a partnership model 
including government agencies 
(Ministry of Health, Ministry of 
Education, Women’s Affairs 
Division, Ministry of Justice), faith 
based organizations, local 
government, civil society and 
community based organizations  
working on gender equality, 
women’s empowerment and social 
inclusion (e.g. Vanuatu Family 
Heath Association, Wansmalbag, 
Vanuatu Women Council, Vanuatu 
Society for People with Disability), 
chiefs, and the private sector. 
Baseline: 0 

• At least 2 health promotion 
dissemination activities with 
gender equity considerations on 
adolescent reproductive health 
and public heath completed with 
at least 50% women participation 
and disaggregated by type (radio, 
print, social media). Baseline =0 

• Context specific and gender and 
social inclusive communication 
strategies on the importance of 
vaccination in addition to other 
essential health promotion 
messages. Baseline: 0 

Ministry of Health 
(MOH) with support 
from the Gender 
Specialist from 
Integrated Project 
Management team 
and Health Promotion 
Unit, MOH; Ministry of 
Education Women 
Affairs Division and 
selected CSOs/NGOs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Q1 2019 – 
Q4 2023 
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Appendix 6: Design and Monitoring Framework 

Impacts the Project is Aligned with 

Incidence and prevalence of cervical cancer in the Pacific region reduced (Healthy Islands Monitoring 
Framework), and healthy lives ensured and wellbeing for all ages promoted (Sustainable Development 
Goal 3).a 
 

Results 
Chain 

Performance Indicators with 
Targets and Baselines 

Data Sources 
and Reporting 
Mechanisms Risks 

Outcome 
Immunization 
coverage of 
vaccines 
increased 

90% coverage of HPV vaccine for 
females aged 9–14 years, and of PCV 
and rotavirus vaccine in birth cohorts 
of both sexes in Samoa, Tonga, 
Tuvalu, and Vanuatu, by 2022.b 
(2018 baseline: 0) 

 
MOHs’ 
administrative 
data 

 
Changes in MOHs’ 
priorities shift resources 
away from immunization. 

Outputs 

1. Regional 
vaccine 
procurement 
strengthened 

1a. Buffer stock created and 
maintained for HPV vaccine, PCV, 
and rotavirus vaccine for Samoa, 
Tonga, Tuvalu, and Vanuatu each 
year from 2020 to 2023 (equivalent to 
2 months of doses for each country) 
(2018 baseline: 0) 
 
1b. UNICEF VII country agreements 
updated to include HPV vaccine, 
PCV, and rotavirus vaccine in Samoa, 
Tonga, Tuvalu, and Vanuatu 
(2018 baseline: 0) 

1a. UNICEF 
Pacific vaccine 
stock records 

 

 
 
1b. MOHs and 
UNICEF 

Global vaccine shortage 
results in limited supplies 
available for 
procurement. 

 
2. Health 
systems 
strengthened 

Governance: 
2a. National immunization policy 
updated with gender consideration 
and provisions for reporting of 
adverse events for Samoa, Tonga, 
Tuvalu, and Vanuatu, by 2020. 
(Baseline: not applicable in Samoa 
and Tuvalu, and Tonga and Vanuatu) 
 
Medical equipment: 
2b. Less than 10% of national stock-
outs for HPV vaccine, PCV, and 
rotavirus vaccine by 2022 in Samoa, 
Tonga, Tuvalu, and Vanuatu 
(2018 baseline: 0) 
 
2c. 90% of national cold chain 
inventory in Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu, 
and Vanuatu meeting WHO and 
UNICEF performance, quality, and 
safety recommendations by 2021 
(2018 baseline: Samoa: 44%, Tonga: 
57%, Tuvalu: 33%, and Vanuatu: 
78%) 
 
Information systems: 

 
2a. MOHs’ 
websites 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2b. Project 
reports 
 
 
 
 
2c. Health 
information 
system reports 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Changes in MOH 
personnel lead to poor 
coordination. 
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Results 
Chain 

Performance Indicators with 
Targets and Baselines 

Data Sources 
and Reporting 
Mechanisms Risks 

2d. Sex-disaggregated immunization 
data in annual national reports by 
2022 in Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu, and 
Vanuatu (2018 baseline: none in 
Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu, and Vanuatu) 
 
2e. Updated child health cards (for 
females and males) to include PCV 
and rotavirus vaccine in Samoa, 
Tonga, Vanuatu, and Tuvalu by 2021 
(2018 baseline: 0) 
 
Service delivery: 
2f. At least 90% of functioning health 
facilities in Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu, 
and Vanuatu have socially inclusive 
and gender-responsive microplans 
that include HPV vaccine, PCV, and 
rotavirus  vaccine by 2022 (2018 
baseline: 0) 

 
2d. Project 
reports 
 
 
 
 
2e. Project 
reports 
 
 
 
 
 
2f. Project reports 

3. Community 
awareness 
improved 

Demand generation: 
 
3a. At least two health promotion 
activities with gender-equity 
considerations on adolescent 
reproductive health and public health 
in Samoa, Tonga, Tuvalu, and 
Vanuatu completed, with 50% women 
participation and disaggregated by 
type (radio, print, and social media), 
by 2020 (2018 baseline: 0) 

 
 
3a Project 
records 

Anti-vaccination 
campaigns increase. 

Key Activities with Milestones 

 
1. Regional vaccine procurement strengthened 
1.1   Extend country partnership agreements with UNICEF to include new vaccines by Q1 2019 
1.2   Credit-line payments to VII by Q3 2019 
1.3   Procure vaccines and cold chain equipment through VII in Q4 2019, 2020, 2021, and 2022 
1.3   Build VII capacity for MOHs, including stock and cold chain inventory management and 

maintenance by Q4 2020 
 
2. Health systems strengthened 
2.1   Update immunization and cold chain policies by Q4 2019 
2.2   Participate in country-level health sector coordination mechanism throughout the project 
2.3   Update standard operating procedures and guidelines by Q4 2019 
2.4   Microplan to deliver mass HPV vaccine and PCV campaigns by Q4 2019 
2.5   Deliver HPV vaccine and PCV campaigns by Q4 2020 
2.6   Conduct effective vaccine management assessments by Q3 2022 
2.7   Refurbish cold chain stores and upgrade health facilities as required by Q1 2020 
2.8   Build capacity for planning, budgeting, accounting, and financial reports by Q1 2020 
2.9   Incorporate new vaccines into the annual health planning and budgeting process by Q3 2019, 

2020, 2021, and 2022 
2.10    Review, update, and integrate vaccine reporting forms and indicators into health information 

systems by Q1 2020 
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Key Activities with Milestones 
2.11    Conduct national immunization coverage surveys by Q3 2023 

  

3.       Community awareness improved 
3.1      Implement and monitor gender action plan by Q2 2019 
3.2      Engage in community partnerships with existing structures by Q4 2019 
3.3      Develop integrated public health and gender-sensitive communication material and 

implementation plan to generate demand by Q2 2020 
3.4     Partner with civil society to implement community strategy and key interventions and activities by 

Q3 2020 
 
Project Management Activities 
 Recruit implementation firm by Q1 2019 
Develop monitoring and evaluation frameworks by Q3 2019 
Support governments on annual procurement contracts with UNICEF for vaccines by Q4 2019 
Prepare annual work plans by Q1 2020, 2021, 2022, and 2023 
Prepare annual audits and project reports by Q2 2020, 2021, 2022, and 2023 
Conduct gender awareness of project staff throughout the project 
Conduct midterm review by Q2 2022 

Inputs 
 
Asian Development Bank: 
$7.50 million grant (Samoa) 
$3.85 million grant (Tonga) 
$2.50 million grant (Tuvalu) 
$9.00 million grant (Vanuatu) 
$2.25 million concessional loan (Vanuatu) 
 
Governments: 
Government of Samoa  $0.73 million 
Government of Tonga  $0.35 million 
Government of Tuvalu  $0.04 million 
Government of Vanuatu  $1.02 million 

HPV = human papilloma virus, MOH = Ministry of Health, PCV = pneumococcal conjugate vaccine, Q = quarter, 
UNICEF = United Nations Children’s Fund, VII = vaccine independence initiative, WHO = World Health Organization. 
a Heads of Health Meeting. 2016. Healthy Islands Monitoring Framework. Suva, Fiji (draft). 
b 90% national vaccination coverage is aligned with WHO. 2013. Global Vaccine Action Plan 2011–2020. Geneva. 
Source: Asian Development Bank
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Appendix 7: Communication Strategy Matrix 

Communications Context: Successful uptake of HPV, PCV and RV vaccines will require effective evidence-based communication and 

community mobilisation methods to generate demand and support of parents, students, community and church leaders, health service 

providers, government officials, and civil society partners 

Strategic Elements Work Plan Elements 

Objective Risks Audience/ 
Stakeholders 

 
 

Current and 
Desired 

Attitudes/ 
Behaviours  

Messages/ 
Information 

Activity/ Channel Timing Responsibility Resources 
Needed 

Expected 
Outcomes 

Community is 
mobilized, and 
demand is 
generated for 
the new 
vaccines 
through 
implementation 
of a 
partnership 
model that 
promotes 
integrated 
public health,  
gender 
equality and 
social 
inclusion, and 
is delivered in 
synergy with 
other public 
health 
messages 

Limited 
capacity of 
MOH health 
promotion 
units 
 
Capacity 
gaps in 
MOH to lead 
the 
partnership 
approach 
 
Overstretche
d health staff 
lack the time 
to undertake 
community 
mobilization 
 
Limited 
capacity of 
CSOs and 
high demand 
for their 
involvement 
in other 
projects 
reduces their 
availability to 
engage 
(especially in 

Community 
members 
(including 
families with 
young 
children, 
young women, 
young men)  
 
Community 
structures (i.e. 
chiefs, village 
representative
s, local 
government, 
town officers, 
women’s 
groups/commit
tees)  
 
Health service 
providers at 
various health 
facilities 
 
Heath officials 
at national, 
provincial, 
district, 
municipal 
levels 
 

Increased 
demand for 
EPI resulting 
in increased 
health 
system 
interactions 
 
Increased 
coverage of 
EPI with 
reduction in 
equity gaps  
 
Local 
change 
agents 
including 
traditional 
and church 
leaders 
promote 
vaccines, 
women and 
family health 
in their 
communities  
 
Support and 
active 
participation 
in project 
implementati

Information 
on vaccine, 
safety, 
efficacy and 
benefits   
 
Information 
on where 
and when 
individuals 
can access 
new 
vaccines  
 
Information 
on health 
system 
strengthen 
activities (eg 
birth 
registration, 
service 
delivery) 
 
Information 
on basic 
public health 
and 
behavioural 
health (eg 
nutrition, 
sanitation) 
 

1. Mapping of 
community structures, 
stakeholders and 
CSOs to inform the 
development of 
community 
mobilization strategy 
and plan. 
 
2. National and 
provincial workshop 
to engage 
stakeholders on the 
development of a 
partnership approach 
to community 
mobilization - develop 
related 
implementation plan 
including 
responsibilities of 
partners and resource 
allocations. 
 
3. Development of a 
communication and 
community 
mobilization strategy 
and key interventions 
and activities. 
Synergize with 
national resources 
and activities for 

1. Q1 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Q1 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. Q2 & Q3 
2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MOH, MOE, 
MOW/ civil society 
partners, 
Community 
structures – 
chiefs, local 
government, town 
officers, women’s 
groups  
 
 
 
 
 

Government 
staff time 
 
Costs of 
implementation 
by civil society 
and community 
organisations 
including 
workshops, 
travel, per diems 
 
Community and 
management 
Meeting costs 
 
Publicity 
materials 
 
Communication 
materials 
 
Social media/ 
TV/radio/other 
media updates 
 
 
 
 

Increased and 
more equitable 
uptake of relevant 
health services by 
target 
beneficiaries (i.e. 
Screening, 
vaccines in EPI)  
 
Community 
mobilization 
mechanisms for 
health 
strengthened 
 
Partnerships 
between MOH 
and other 
stakeholders 
strengthened 
 
Government 
policy and budget 
support for project 
sustainability 
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Strategic Elements Work Plan Elements 

Objective Risks Audience/ 
Stakeholders 

 
 

Current and 
Desired 

Attitudes/ 
Behaviours  

Messages/ 
Information 

Activity/ Channel Timing Responsibility Resources 
Needed 

Expected 
Outcomes 

Tuvalu and 
Vanuatu) 
 
Parents, 
teachers and 
community 
gatekeepers 
challenge 
introduction 
on the 
grounds of 
promoting 
promiscuity 
 
Negative 
media and 
public 
backlash 
against new 
vaccines 
especially 
HPV 
 
Poor 
communicati
on and 
transport 
networks 
leaves 
remote and 
outer island 
populations 
less 
informed 
and 
mobilized 

MOE and 
MOW or 
equivalent 
 
UNICEF 
 
CSOs 
 
Faith based 
organisations 
 
School 
principals and 
teachers 
 
National and 
local media 

on and 
monitoring  
 
Openness to 
access new 
vaccines  
 
 

 
 
 

health promotion and 
community 
mobilization.  
 
4. Implement 
communication and 
community 
mobilization activities 
including media 
based, group based 
and interpersonal 
methods 
 
5. Provide enabling 
support to curriculum 
development process. 
 
6. Meetings with 
partners to review 
progress and plan, 
discuss and solve 
operational problems, 
coordinate activities 
and share 
achievements and 
good practices. 
 
7. Community 
research to 
understand barriers to 
immunization 
 
8. Develop and 
implement innovative 
reflective and 
participatory 
community 
mobilization 

 
 
 
 
4. Q3 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. Q1 2019 
 
 
 
6. Q1 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7. Q2 2019 
 
 
 
 
8. Q2 2019 
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Strategic Elements Work Plan Elements 

Objective Risks Audience/ 
Stakeholders 

 
 

Current and 
Desired 

Attitudes/ 
Behaviours  

Messages/ 
Information 

Activity/ Channel Timing Responsibility Resources 
Needed 

Expected 
Outcomes 

methodologies to 
generate demand 
 
9. Design, test and 
produce 
communication 
materials to support 
campaigns and 
community 
mobilization efforts in 
line with the 
communication 
strategy including TV 
and radio spots, print 
media, job aids, 
social media tools. 
 
10. Train health 
workers to facilitate 
communication and 
community 
mobilization events 
as appropriate in 
each country 
 
11. Support 
community, church 
and CSOs to deliver 
communication and 
community 
mobilization activities 
as per the plan 

 
 
9. Q2 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10. Q3 
2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
11. Q3 
2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

B = beneficiary, E = enabler, EPI = Expanded Program on Immunization, FLE = Family Life Education, HPV = human papillomavirus vaccine, IEC = information, 
education and communication, IMNCI = integrated management of neonatal and childhood illness, MOE = Ministry of Education, MOH = Ministry of Health, MOW/GAD 
= Ministry of Women / Gender and Development, Q = quarter, RMNCAH = reproductive, maternal, newborn, child and adolescent health, SRH = sexual and 
reproductive health, UNFPA = United Nations Population Fund, WHO = World Health Organization. 
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